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SAFE

SECURE

CLEAN

People & Operations

Ports & Ships

Seas & Waterways

Protecting people,
goods and NZ’s social
& economic interests

Playing our part in protecting
and preserving the marine
environment by minimising
harmful emissions and
discharges from ships

HE HAUMARU
Supporting physical, social &
economic wellbeing through
safe maritime operations

HE WHITA

Maritime NZ is the national maritime regulatory, compliance and response agency (Ko Rere
Moana Aotearoa te pokapū ā-motu ka whakature, ka aroturuki, ka urupare ki ngā take moana)
for the safety, security and environmental protection of New Zealand’s maritime environment.

We are guided by our principles
Evidence-based (E whai ana i ngā taunakitanga)
Intelligence-led (E ārahina ana e ngā mōhiohio)
Risk-focused (E aro ana ki ngā tūraru)

Maritime New Zealand
Nō te rere moana Aotearoa
Nō te rere moana Aotearoa accompanies te manaia – the guardian – in our logo.
Together, they reflect our role as the caretaker of New Zealand’s flowing waters. They underpin
our mandate to make life at sea safer; to protect the maritime environment from pollution and
safeguard it for future generations; to ensure New Zealand’s ports and ships are secure; and
to provide a search and rescue response service in one of the largest search and rescue areas
in the world.
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Abbreviations
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AC36

America’s Cup 2020/21

AoG

All-of-Government

AtoN

Aids to Navigation

ATBA

Area to be avoided, under Marine Protection Rules

BWM

Ballast water management

COVID-19

Coronavirus disease of 2019

EU

Enforceable Undertaking

G-Reg

Government Regulatory Practice Initiative

HSWA

Health and Safety at Work Act 2015

HSW

Health, safety and wellbeing

IALA

International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities

IMO

International Maritime Organisation

ISPS

International Ship and Port Facility Security

MARPOL

International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships

MFAT

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

MTA

Maritime Transport Act 1994

MOC

Maritime Operations Centre

MOSS

Maritime Operator Safety System

MoH

Ministry of Health

MoT

Ministry of Transport

MPRS

Marine Pollution Response Service

NZSBF

New Zealand Safer Boating Forum

PSC

Port State Control

PPE

Personal protective equipment

RCCNZ

Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand

SMS

Safety management system

SAR

Search and rescue

SWBNZ

Seafarers Welfare Board for New Zealand
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PART A

Our story
Tā Mātau Kōrero
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Our year in review…

a year of adapting and rebounding
Te āta tirotiro ki tā mātau tau…
he tau urutau me te tū pakari anō
Tēnā koutou
A safe, secure and clean maritime domain is vital to Aotearoa New Zealand’s
social and economic wellbeing. As kaitiaki (stewards) of this domain, Maritime NZ
responded quickly to the challenges that arose in 2020/21.
Responding to COVID-19

What we achieved

Since the COVID-19 pandemic first emerged, we have
adapted to the new realities of providing leadership and
oversight for the maritime domain. Our dedicated COVID-19
response and recovery team remains active in the Allof-Government (AoG) response, leading interactions to
improve seafarer welfare and providing guidance and
advice to the maritime sector and other agencies.

We are proud of our progress over the year across various
key focus areas, including how we have interacted with the
maritime sector.

Despite the fiscal challenges presented by the COVID-19
pandemic, it has not undermined the performance of
our core functions. It has, however, affected our ability to
undertake some planned development activity. This work
is now on track, but the delays imposed by COVID-19
mean we are not as advanced as we might have hoped.
The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the vital part
we play in the maritime domain. Notably, our international
influence has been enhanced, following our increased
presence in international forums through virtual meetings,
such with as the International Maritime Organization (IMO).
Not only is this improving our capacity to operate, and
represent Aotearoa New Zealand’s best interests on a
world stage, it also represents opportunities for us to
lead more regional programmes.

• Additional funding for recreational boating safety increased

our focus on working with the Safer Boating Forum to deliver
campaigns on improving safety outcomes for the 1.94 million
Kiwis who take to New Zealand’s waters each year.
• Our America’s Cup programme led to over 1,000

on-water interactions, which were well received by
boaties, with no serious safety or environmental incidents
occurring during the regatta.
• In our regulatory stewardship role, we’ve made good

progress on reforming New Zealand’s domestic vessel
design, construction and equipment standards (Part 40
series) and improving the safety and environmental outcomes
associated with small vessels travelling on polar waters
(Polar Code II). The passing of the Regulatory Systems
(Transport) Amendment Act in April 2021 has provided
helpful tools for developing future maritime regulation.
• MARPOL Annex VI is progressing well, and, in July 2021,

proposed changes were sent out for consultation.
We anticipate implementation over the coming year, which
will greatly reduce greenhouse gas emissions from ships.
• We have continued to progress the Port Health and Safety

Plan through a ‘tripartite’ (government agencies, unions
and the sector) approach to improving port safety, with
joint operations with WorkSafe New Zealand at our ports.
• Our Pacific Maritime Safety Programme, which is a

significant part of our international programme, will continue
to enhance safety in the region, following a funding
extension. More in-country activities are expected next year.
• The MNZ@Work flexi-work project shows how we are

taking our learnings from the COVID-19 pandemic and
adapting how we work and where we work, by giving
staff greater flexibility. Our staff engagement levels
are the highest they have been in a decade, reflecting
widespread support for our new ways of working.
4
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Our voyage ahead
We are making steady progress on building our capacity
and capability and being more efficient in how we operate.
This has seen a strong focus on building information
technology and intelligence capability to drive robust
decision-making, better organisational agility and responsive
futures thinking. While much is still to be done to maintain
the gains made to becoming a more modern outcomesdriven, anticipatory regulator, we have made significant
progress on this journey.
Overall, the effect of COVID-19 is likely to be with us for
some years. The challenges to our operating environment
will remain, but we will continue to focus on improving
our regulatory performance through efficient regulatory
stewardship and programmes of reform.

Much like last year, 2020/21 has continued to involve
adapting to challenges and change. This included a change
of chief executive and director when Keith Manch left the
organisation in January 2021 and Kirstie Hewlett joined
in May. We extend our thanks and appreciation for the
leadership Keith provided Maritime NZ and the maritime
industry over the past nine years.
We would like to acknowledge the commitment and
absolute dedication of the Maritime NZ team, and
the partnership and cooperation shown by the other
government agencies and those we work with in the wider
maritime sector. We know the work we are doing to keep
Aotearoa New Zealand safe, secure and clean is vital to
maintaining the safety and prosperity of everyone who calls
this country home.

Ngā mihi nui

Jo Brosnahan, QSO
Board Chair, Maritime NZ
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Kirstie Hewlett
Chief Executive and Director, Maritime NZ
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Our Board
The Minister of Transport is responsible to Parliament for overseeing and managing
the Crown’s interests in Maritime NZ.
The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s Board to set the
direction of the entity, achieve the government’s desired
results, as set out in the Maritime Transport Act 1994
(MTA) and in other legislation and policy, and manage any
maritime safety and security risks on behalf of the Crown.
Members act in accordance with applicable statutory
requirements (for example, the MTA and the Crown Entities
Act 2004), and in the interests of the role and functions of
maritime safety and security.

Board membership and composition
Maritime NZ’s Board comprises five members (can be
up to seven) appointed by the Governor-General on the
recommendation of the Minister of Transport. The Board
appoints the Director of Maritime NZ, who has independent
statutory powers under the MTA.
The Board is responsible and accountable for the
management and strategic direction of Maritime NZ.
For more on governance and accountability, see Appendix 3,
page 150.

Left to right: Roy Weaver, Denis O’Rourke, Jo Brosnahan QSO (Chair), Belinda Vernon (Deputy Chair, Chair of Audit and Risk
Committee), Danny Tuato’o

6

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Annual Report 2020/21

7

Despite COVID-19 challenges
we delivered our core roles effectively
Rescue coordination outcomes

51
199
301

Education and Information

8
97
77%

Information and
education campaigns
delivered

Lives
saved

Lives
rescued

Lives
assisted

Industry publications
and guidance
documents produced
Of New Zealanders
practise safer
recreational
boating behaviours

Marine Pollution Response

14

Maritime Incident
Response Team
exercises/workshops
completed

81%

(13 of 16) regions have
trained responders
at or above 80% of
recommended number

Maritime security

0

Significant
security
incidents

100%

New Zealand
trading ports
100% compliant
with ISPS code

Certification

3,365
8

Maritime or
marine protection
documents/
certificates/
permits issued

2,249

Of which were
for seafarers
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Compliance

84%
284
479

of prosecutions under the Health and Safety at
Work Act 2015 and/or Maritime Transport Act
1994 resulted in parties being held to account

Investigations
completed

Audits of active
MOSS operators/
HSWA assessments

30
144

Successful
prosecutions
concluded

PSC
inspections
completed

Our COVID-19 response activities

39
2,138
4

Times exemption advice to Ministry of Health on whether
a small craft should be allowed to enter NZ for refit and
repair, delivery to a business or humanitarian reasons

Crew changes
overseen
(1,140 on, 998 off)

Internal secondments into
MNZ’s COVID-19 response
team across the year
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55
3

Maritime guidance
documents and
publications to
industry published

Dedicated staff
in the COVID-19
response team
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WHY THE MARITIME DOMAIN
MATTERS TO NEW ZEALAND

COVID-19
has proven
safe and efficient ports,
with good international
links, play a vital role for
our country’s supply chains

Around

1,000 ships

and over

5,500 port
visits to NZ
(A ship can visit
multiple ports)

NZ marine economy contributed

7 billion

$

to New Zealands’s economy made up of

$3.8 billion directly and
$3.2 billion indirectly

in non-marine industries

33,000

About
people employed within
the marine economy earned a total of
10

$1.7 billion
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NZ EXPORTS

55.1
billion

$

NZ IMPORTS

47.2
billion
$

99.8 %

by volume

79.9 %
by value

IS CARRIED BY SEA

NZ’s Exclusive
Economic Zone is

15x

the size of
the country
not including Tokelau,
Niue, Cook Islands
and Ross Dependency
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Spanning

37 million km

2

New Zealand covers one of the
largest search and rescue areas
in the world
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About Maritime New Zealand
Mō Te Rere Moana Aotearoa

Who we are
Maritime NZ is the national maritime regulatory, compliance and response agency
for the safety, security and environmental protection of Aotearoa New Zealand’s
maritime environment.
Ko Rere Moana Aotearoa te pokapū ā-motu ka whakature, ka aroturuki,
ka urupare ki ngā take moana.
The maritime domain in New Zealand is complex
and diverse, and the maritime industry underpins the
international supply chains and freight that New Zealand’s
economy depends on. As the national maritime agency,
Maritime NZ promotes safe, secure and clean outcomes
for people who work and play on New Zealand waters.
This includes commercial cargo vessels, passenger
cruises, freight, coastal tankers and research vessels,
fishing vessels, charter boats, offshore mining installations,
tourism operators and recreational boaties.

Established in 1993, Maritime NZ is one of four Crown
entities monitored by the Ministry of Transport (MoT) and
is part of the wider transport sector ‘family’ of agencies.
We have a headcount of around 330 people. This number
includes fixed-term employees, temporary staff and
contractors based across 13 regional offices, our national
office in Wellington, the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand (RCCNZ) in Lower Hutt, and the Marine
Pollution Response Service (MPRS) in Te Atatu, Auckland.
Maritime NZ’s values of integrity, commitment and respect
underpin all that it does, along with its leadership charter.

Let us all row together (Kia kotahi tō tātou hoe i te waka)
Strength
Whirikoka

Unity
Kotahitanga

Direction
Ahu

Ka mahi te tawa, uho ki te riri
Well done, you whose courage is
like the heart of the tawa tree

Kia urupū tātou; kaua e
taukamekume
Let us be united, not pulling
against one another

A muri kia mau ki te kawau mā rō,
whanake ake, whanake ake
Hold to the spearhead formation
of the kawau

Our three core roles: Regulation, Compliance and Response
Regulation
He Waeture

Compliance
He Whakaū

Response
He Whakautu

We help to develop and maintain
the national safety, security and
environmental protection regulations
that govern maritime operations,
ports and offshore installations in
New Zealand waters through our
work domestically and internationally.

We support, encourage and require
operator compliance with those
regulations through our regulatory
regimes and compliance operating
model.

We provide a national land, sea and
air search and rescue coordination
service and manage national
maritime incident and marine
pollution response capability.

We take an evidence-based, intelligence-led and risk-focused approach to our work, to achieve our outcomes.
12
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Our outcomes: Safe, Secure and Clean
MARITIME NZ OUTCOMES

CONTRIBUTE TO THREE
TRANSPORT OUTCOMES

THROUGH THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES

Healthy and
safe people

Safe: People and Operations
He Haumaru: ngā tāngata
me ngā mahi

Supporting physical, social and
economic wellbeing through safe
maritime operations

Resilience
and security

Secure: Ports and Ships
He Whita: ngā wāpu me ngā
kaipuke

Protecting people, goods and
New Zealand’s social and economic
interests and resilience

Clean: Seas and Waterways
He Mā: ngā moana me ngā
awaawa

Playing our part in protecting and
preserving the marine environment
by minimising harmful emissions and
discharges from ships

Environmental
sustainability

Maritime NZ brings together three core roles to drive and achieve three key outcomes: Safe People and Operations; Secure
Ports and Ships; Clean Seas and Waterways. Maritime NZ is committed to operating as a modern and responsive regulatory,
compliance and response agency. It works to balance effective delivery of its current operations with longer term thinking,
capability building and sector leadership, to position the maritime sector well for a changing future.

Our strategic framework
In 2020, after the 2019 funding review came into effect, Maritime NZ revised and simplified its strategic framework to
align to the Transport Outcomes Framework and better reflect our changed operating environment. The process resulted
in a reduced number of impacts and indicators and the realignment of output classes to better demonstrate the work
of Maritime NZ. The changes enable more meaningful story telling of our performance and impact over time to achieve
our Safe, Secure, and Clean outcomes. It also removes the complexity and duplication the previous framework created.
Our strategic framework creates an easy-to-follow ‘map’ of what we are aiming to achieve for New Zealand, what
we expect to deliver, and how we know we are delivering it.
The framework is made up of the following:
• ‘outcomes’ (desired changes in societal state over the medium and long term)
• driven by ‘impacts’ (demonstration of positive effects in the short and medium term)
• achieved through ‘outputs’ (operational deliverables in the short term).

Our output classes reflect how we deliver our regulatory, compliance and response roles and span the breadth of work we
deliver on a daily basis. Our output classes are:

Regulation
He Waeture

Compliance
He Whakaū

Response
He Whakautu

Safety
infrastructure
Ngā Hanga
Whakahaumaru

Engagement
Whai Wāhitanga

The new framework was included in the 2020/21 Statement of Performance Expectations (SPE). While we intended to
develop a new Statement of Intent (SOI) in 2020, the significant impacts of COVID-19 on the organisation at the time and the
uncertainty of the pandemic on the maritime industry, and our activity, meant we delayed the development of the SOI until
2021. We signalled our intentions to report on the new strategic framework in the 2020/21 SPE and 2019/20 Annual Report.

Reporting against Maritime NZ’s strategic framework
This year’s annual report was prepared using the 2020/21 SPE, which outlines our revised impacts and indicators
also reflected in our more recently published 2021–2025 SOI. To be transparent and in order to meet Public Finance Act
1989 reporting requirements, we have included the table below to show how the impacts and indicators in the 2018–2022
SOI link to the new strategic framework. We have also included an assessment of measures related to the 2018–2022 SOI
(see pages 62).

Annual Report 2020/21
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TRENDS, INDICATORS AND TARGETS AS PER
2018–2022 STATEMENT OF INTENT

IMPACTS, INDICATORS AND DESIRED TRENDS AS PER
2020/21 STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS

DESIRED TREND

INDICATOR

TARGET

IMPACT

SAFE: The average
annual rate of
maritime fatalities
and serious injuries
consistently trends
downwards over time.

Annual rate of
maritime fatalities
and harms for each
maritime sector
per 100,000
NZ population.

Reduce maritime
sector fatalities and
serious harm injuries
by 25% by 2021.

Impact 1: New Zealand’s
maritime fatality and serious
harm rates reduce over time
(see page 28).

Annual fatality and
serious harm rate
per 100,000 of
population.

SECURE: The
New Zealand
maritime system
is recognised as
secure by key
trading partners.

Annual number
of security
incidents reported
in New Zealand
waters.

No security incidents
are reported in
New Zealand
waters.

Impact 4: New Zealand’s
maritime transport system
ensures that people and goods
are protected (see page 44).

Security incidents
reported.

CLEAN: The number
of pollution incidents
impacting on our
marine environment
reduces over time.

Annual number
of oil spill incidents
reported in
New Zealand
waters.

Reduce oil spill
incidents by 15%
by 2021.

Impact 5: The quality of
New Zealand’s marine
environment is improved
(see page 47).

International
convention
implementation
(MARPOL).

GOALS, IMPACTS AND INDICATORS AS PER
2018–2022 STATEMENT OF INTENT

INDICATOR (AND DESIRED TREND)

Oil spill incidents.

IMPACTS AND IMPACT INDICATORS AS PER
2020/21 STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS

GOAL: REGULATION THAT IS RELEVANT AND ROBUST
IMPACTS

INDICATORS

IMPACT AREAS

IMPACT INDICATORS

Our international engagement
ensures global regulation aligns
with New Zealand’s interests.

Prioritised contribution at
international meetings and
fora, where we can influence
international outcomes to reflect
New Zealand’s interests.

Impact 8: New Zealand’s
international influence increases,
and interests promoted,
for maritime regulatory and
response matters (see page 59).

Our policy advice ensures
maritime safety, security and
marine environmental protection
regulation is fit-for-purpose.

The transport regulatory
programme is appropriately
prioritised to ensure regulation
is fit-for-purpose.

Impact 7: New Zealand’s
regulatory regime is fit-forpurpose (see page 56).

There are no indicators for this
impact area as the nature of
our international engagement
work cuts across all impact
areas. We report on progress,
achievements and challenges
for Impact 8.

Government initiatives are
informed by an awareness of
maritime safety, security and
marine environmental protection
interests.

Our engagement and policy
advice improves external
stakeholders’ understanding
of safety, security and
environmental protection
interests.

Impact 5: The quality of
New Zealand’s marine
environment is improved
(see page 47).

We continually assess our
performance to inform and
improve regulation and
compliance practice that
meets regulatory stewardship
expectations.

By applying good regulatory
stewardship, the effectiveness
and efficiency of rules and
regulations will improve
over time.

Impact 7: New Zealand’s
regulatory regime is fit-forpurpose (see page 56).
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As per the 2020/21 SPE we
report our performance under
output class 1: Regulation
(1.2 International obligations
and relations – see page 83).
International convention
implementation (MARPOL).

Impact 7: New Zealand’s
regulatory regime is fit-forpurpose (see page 56).
There are no indicators for this
impact area as the nature of our
regulatory stewardship work
cuts across all impact areas.
We report on our progress,
achievements and challenges
for Impact 7.
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GOALS, IMPACTS AND INDICATORS AS PER
2018–2022 STATEMENT OF INTENT

IMPACTS AND IMPACT INDICATORS AS PER
2020/21 STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS

GOAL: RISK-FOCUSED, RESPONSIVE COMPLIANCE PRACTICES THAT REDUCE HARM IN THE MARITIME SYSTEM
IMPACTS

INDICATORS

IMPACT AREAS

IMPACT INDICATORS

Our compliance strategies and
campaigns support, encourage
and require commercial
operators to take responsibility
for the safety of their maritime
operations.

A reducing risk profile across
commercial operators and
vessels over time.

Impact 2: Maritime operators
and recreational boating users’
safety culture and behaviour
increases over time
(see page 35).

Commercial operators risk
profile.

Our national and local
recreational boating campaigns
promote a safety culture that
leads to a positive behavioural
change.

Safety equipment is increasingly
carried and used appropriately
by recreational boaties over
time.

Impact 2: Maritime operators
and recreational boating users
safety culture and behaviour
increases over time
(see page 35).

Recreational boating behaviours
and attitudes (through survey
and observation).

An increasing proportion of
survey respondents report
positive attitudes and changes
in behaviour as a result of safety
messages.

Impact 1: New Zealand’s
maritime fatality and serious
harm rates reduce over time
(see page 28).

We identify risk themes within
specific maritime sectors
to better target compliance
interventions.

A reducing number of reported
incidents within specific maritime
sectors over time.

Impact 1: New Zealand’s
maritime fatality and serious
harm rates reduce over time
(see page 28).

Annual fatality and serious harm
rate per 100,000 of population.

Competent capable people are
working in the maritime industry.

All commercial vessels are
crewed by people holding the
appropriate certification.

Impact 3: New Zealand has
competent and capable people
working in the maritime industry
(see page 41).

Commercial vessels crewed
by people holding appropriate
certification.

GOAL: RESPONSE CAPABILITY THAT IS WELL-PREPARED, INTEGRATED AND EFFECTIVELY DEPOLYED TO RESOLVE
EMERGENCY INCIDENTS
IMPACTS

INDICATORS

IMPACT AREAS

IMPACT INDICATORS

Our fit-for-purpose integrated
maritime incident response
system provides effective
readiness and response services
for national maritime incidents,
minimising social, environmental
and economic harm.

The Maritime Incident Response
Team element of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix (set
out in Appendix 4) is reported
as amber or better with any
remedial action plans in place.

Impact 6: New Zealand is
prepared to respond to maritime
incidents (includes Search and
Rescue coordination for sea,
air and land) (see page 52).

Maritime NZ response capability
assessed against directed
levels.

We operate an efficient and
effective national search and
rescue coordination service
within an integrated search
and rescue system (jointly
with NZSAR Secretariat
and NZ Police) which takes
full advantage of modern
technology to save lives.

The Search and Rescue element
of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported
as amber or better with any
remedial action plans in place.

Impact 6: New Zealand is
prepared to respond to maritime
incidents (includes Search and
Rescue coordination for sea,
air and land) (see page 52).

Maritime NZ response capability
assessed against directed
levels.

We have a comprehensive
pollution preparedness and
response service that minimises
the environmental and economic
impact of any oil spill.

The Marine Pollution Response
Service element of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix is
reported as amber or better
with any remedial action plans
in place.

Impact 6: New Zealand is
prepared to respond to maritime
incidents (includes Search and
Rescue coordination for sea,
air and land) (see page 52).

Maritime NZ response capability
assessed against directed
levels.

Annual Report 2020/21

Oil spill incidents.
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GOALS, IMPACTS AND INDICATORS AS PER
2018–2022 STATEMENT OF INTENT

IMPACTS AND IMPACT INDICATORS AS PER
2020/21 STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS

IMPACTS

INDICATORS

IMPACT AREAS

IMPACT INDICATORS

We have an internationally
linked, intelligence-led security
system that assures protection
for all in New Zealand’s maritime
area of responsibility to manage
threats before they eventuate.

The Security element of
Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported
as amber or better with any
remedial action plans in place.

Impact 6: New Zealand is
prepared to respond to maritime
incidents (includes Search and
Rescue coordination for sea,
air and land) (see page 52).

Maritime NZ response capability
assessed against directed
levels.
Security incidents reported.

Impact 4: New Zealand’s
maritime transport system
ensures that people and goods
are protected (see page 44).

GOAL: A RESULTS-DRIVEN AND RESILIENT ORGANISATION, WORKING COLLABORATIVELY FOR SUCCESS
IMPACTS

INDICATORS

IMPACT AREAS

We have an integrated
information base that supports
quality decision making.

Internal access, use and
integration of core information
holdings to support decision
making increases over time.

Organisational health and
capability: Building our
information and intelligence
capability (see page 77).

We are a resilient, healthy,
capable organisation, with
people who are valued
and enabled to sustainably
deliver high quality regulatory,
compliance and response
services.

We compare favourably to the
wider public sector for staff
engagement and staff retention.

Organisational health and
capability (see pages 68–73).

IMPACT INDICATORS

Workforce metrics: FTE,
Ethnicity, Age, Occupation.
Our people by the numbers:
employee engagement,
length of service, average
age, turnover, promotions and
secondments, learning hours,
health and safety notifications,
near misses, average days lost.
Being a good employer
elements.
Papa Pounamu.

We collaborate with other
agencies to share resources and
build capability that improves
government services.

Maritime NZ is regarded as a
valued partner acting proactively
and collaboratively in its
cross agency/sector/all-ofgovernment participation efforts/
engagements.

Organisational health and
capability: Building our
information and intelligence
capability (see page 77).

Our business processes drive
better service making use
of technology to minimise
regulatory burden.

An increasing proportion
of sector stakeholders rate
the timeliness and ease of
interactions with Maritime NZ
as very good or excellent.

Organisational health and
capability: Building our
information and intelligence
capability (see page 77).

We increasingly make use of
technology and information
internally to deliver services.
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Transport Outcomes Framework
The Transport Outcomes Framework shapes Aotearoa New Zealand’s transport
system and how Maritime NZ operates
Transport is essential to the lives of all New Zealanders.
It lets us access economic and social opportunities within
New Zealand and to connect globally.

important clarity exists about what they are, why they are
important and how the different parts of New Zealand’s
wider transport system will work together to achieve them.

For New Zealanders to flourish, an effective, healthy and
safe domestic transport system is needed with strong links
to the rest of the world.

Mode neutrality – making sure all land, water and air modes
of travel are considered and evaluated to find the best
solution and smart transport choices are incentivised –
is an important guiding principle.

The Transport Outcomes Framework, developed by MoT,
gives direction to the transport system on the contribution it
makes to achieving broader social and economic outcomes
(figure 1). Because these outcomes are interrelated, it is

Figure 1: Transport Outcomes Framework
Inclusive access

Healthy and safe people

Enabling all people to participate in
society through access to social and
economic opportunities, such as
work, education and healthcare.

Protecting people from transportrelated injuries and harmful
pollution, and making active
travel an attractive option.

Economic prosperity
Supporting economic activity via
local, regional and international
connections, with efficient
movements of people and products.
Resilience and security
Minimising and managing the risks from
natural and human-made hazards,
anticipating and adapting to emerging
threats, and recovering effectively from
disruptive events.

A transport
system that
improves
wellbeing and
liveability

Environmental sustainability
Transitioning to net zero carbon
dioxide emissions, and maintaining
or improving biodiversity, water
quality and air quality.

Source: Ministry of Transport
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OUR STRATEGIC
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STRATEGIC
ACTIONS

REGULATION
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INTEGRITY
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RESPECT
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SAFE
SAFE

SECURE
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CLEAN

Supporting physical, social &
People
& wellbeing
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through
Supporting
physical,
social &
safe maritime operations
economic wellbeing through
safe maritime operations
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Ports
Ships
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NZ’s social &
Protecting
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& Operations
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Ports
& Ships
HE
WHITA

Seas
HE
MĀ& Waterways
Keeping our marine environment

Seas
clean &
by Waterways
minimising harmful

Playing
our part
in protecting
emissions
& discharges
from ships
and preserving the marine
environment by minimising
harmful emissions and
discharges from ships
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Our COVID-19
response continues
Ka haere tonu tā mātau urupare ki te KOWHEORI-19
It has been nearly 18 months since New Zealand’s COVID-19 response started,
and 2021 has continued to present new and unexpected challenges, both locally
and internationally.
Impact on core functions and
longer-term maturity
Over the past year, our staff have adapted to new ways of
working, particularly through alert level challenges. These
have ranged from limitations on the ability of our frontline
staff to undertake Port State Control (PSC) inspections of
higher risk ships to restrictions on delivering staff learning
and development courses in person. Financial constraints,
resulting from a reduction in income from cruise vessel
visits, have placed us under further pressure, yet we have
largely delivered on our core functions effectively.
Responding to COVID-19 has affected our longer term
work programme that emerged from our 2018/19 funding
review (see our Maturity Journey, page 22). We delayed
increasing our workforce to undertake planned initiatives but
are now progressing as originally anticipated, though at a
slower speed.
While our focus has remained on response activities, our
thoughts have turned to recovery. With no end in sight
to the pandemic, maintaining New Zealand’s COVID-19
response, while reconnecting New Zealanders to the world,
will require balanced and pragmatic decision-making for us
over the next year.

Key aspects of our COVID-19 response
Working with the Ministry of Transport
We have worked closely with MoT since the beginning of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Our membership of MoT’s Transport
Response Team has helped to keep the supply chain open,
despite ongoing media and public interest in COVID-19
entering through the ports. During the year, no cases came
into the country through this border. Working with MoT, we
supported various resurgence responses where alert levels
3 and 2 in Auckland and Wellington occurred in the first half
of 2021. Significant effort was devoted to developing the
resurgence plan and resulting stakeholder communications,
meaning little active management is now required when
changes in alert levels take place.
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Working with the Ministry of Health
While our secondment within the Ministry of Health (MoH)
has ended, our presence was beneficial in formulating policy
and advice in several areas. Crew change and shore leave
provisions was one such area, where we worked with MoH
and other partners to ensure New Zealand continues to be one
of the few countries in the world to allow both to take place.
Other contributions to MoH-led initiatives include continued
updates and advice on personal protective equipment
(PPE) guidance in ports, the vaccination roll-out for high
risk border workers, and the implementation of, first, nasal
testing and, more recently, saliva testing for border workers.
This work has highlighted our dedicated engagement and
communications efforts to the COVID-19 response.

Our All-of-Government contribution
Feedback on our contribution to the AoG COVID-19
response from government partners and stakeholders
has been encouraging. Our membership across multiple
government workstreams and work groups is an indication
of how partner agencies see us as integral to the
overall response.
A continued presence in Ministry of Business, Innovation
and Employment Managed Isolation and Quarantine
has helped us support seafarers and improved our
understanding of the challenges New Zealand seafarers
experience on returning home.

Showing leadership in the maritime domain
The ability to engage directly with ports, unions, Persons
Controlling a Business or Undertaking under the Health and
Safety at Work Act 2015 (HSWA), port associations, district
health boards and public health units has been invaluable
in providing direct feedback on planned initiatives, resulting
in workable solutions for all. Our consultative approach with
stakeholders has contributed to developing PPE guidelines,
a practical approach to vaccinations of port workers, and
the implementation of surveillance testing.
The Maritime Industry Update, which is sent out weekly to
stakeholders in the maritime industry and port supply chain,
has helped build awareness of important events and share
information affecting the sector. With the endorsement of
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partner agencies, we developed marketing contributions
in the form of brochures and posters, to support the PPE,
vaccination and testing programmes, while helping to keep
COVID-19 precautions at ports front of mind.
Our partnership with the Seafarers Welfare Board for
New Zealand (SWBNZ) has continued to flourish, due to
our shared interest in crew welfare and financial support of
SWBNZ’s activities. Shore leave, crew changes, and the
provision of health and welfare services have benefited the
entire maritime system, and SWBNZ has been quick to
share good-news stories to pass onto the wider sector.

Put the brakes on COVID

Vaccination FAQs
How was the
Are there some
vaccine approved people who
so fast?
shouldn’t take
the vaccine?
There’s never been this level

Jack, are you gonna
get vaccinated?

of working together amongst
scientists and governments
around the world in vaccine
development – and that
has improved the speed
of development and the
launch of safety trials
around the world.

Yup. The scientists
say it’s safe.
After the
vaccination,
do I need to
self-isolate?
No. After you have left
the vaccine centre you
can continue to go about
your usual routine.

Cleaning

crew (that is within
ger) is to be avoided

hip’s crew cannot
contact should be
ate PPE (mask and
ace meetings are required.

ies

HYGIENE
Bro, scientists
ON CRANES

design
the
brakes
in
aeroplanes.
Crane operators must ensure
that the crane cabin’s contact
surfaces are cleaned/wipeed down
before and after use to a standard that
would destroy any pathogens.
If wearing gloves in work areas such as crane cabs,
work areas still need to be cleaned and disinfected.

You’ll probably just
get aSURFACES
sore arm.
OTHER

Work Gloves

ously
tightly controlled.

– it is also the home of the
expected that New Zealand
d crew the same respect
ve upon entering any other

Non-disposable PPE such as work
gloves (cloth or leather) must be
disinfected after use in high-traffic
areas aboard the ship where crew
are known to transit.

The vaccine can’t give youthe
disease. It does not contain
the virus or anything that can
affect your DNA.

Once vaccinated,
do I still need to
take precautions?
Yes. If you are a frontline
worker, you will still need
to wear PPE and undergo
regular testing and stay
home if you’re unwell.
Countries who have been
using the vaccine for
3 months say it is showing
signs of reducing the chances
of the virus being passed
from one person to another,
although this is still awaiting
the outcome of robust
clinical trials.

Do I need to pay
for the vaccine?
No. The vaccine is free for
everyone in New Zealand.

COVID-19
True?
These risk minimisation principles including
avoiding contact where practicable,
physical distancing, reducing contact time,
the use of PPE, reporting non-compliance,
and good hygiene practices must be
developed, implemented and enforced by
the PCBU’s managers and supervisors.

Sounds safe.
Zealand PCBUs must develop safe
I’ll get New
vaccinated.

Other interior and exterior (indoor and outdoor) contact
surfaces may be contaminated. They should be cleaned
regularly by the ship’s crew and should be avoided as an
additional measure.

2m

The Pfizer vaccine works
through a process known as
messenger RNA where the
cells are taught to recognise
the COVID-19 virus.

Serious allergic reactions
are rare but as a safeguard,
those who have just been
vaccinated are asked to
wait at least 20 minutes
before leaving. If you have
doubts you should talk about
this to your GP.

Dunno

LOSE CONTACT

ely

We will build on the gains made in the shift to a modern
outcomes-driven, anticipatory regulator. We are now more
effective at identifying regulatory risks, vulnerabilities and
gaps in coverage. Our challenge is to preserve these
gains and continue to address identified risks, emerging
pain points and increased demand for our input into
cross-government priorities.

It has been a busy 12 months for our COVID-19 Response
Team and the next 12 promise to be much the same.
Appreciation must be given to all of our staff for supporting
this work.

ing

ers

Maintaining momentum

work practices, which must also be
effectively communicated to workers
Gettingatthe
right
and followed
all times.

information matters.

Sanitise and protect your hands

For more information, you can contact

0800 358 5453. You can
WearHealthline
a face on
mask
get accurate and trusted information

at www.covid19.govt.nz
Maintain
your distance and

www.health.govt.nz/covid-vaccine
or talk with
doctor
nurse.
Minimise
the your
timefamily
spent
onorthe
ship

COVID-19
Advice for
Stevedores

Maritime New Zealand is the health and safety regulator for
the maritime industry. Matters of health and safety in the
workplace must be reported to Maritime NZ or WorkSafe.

25/05/21 8:59 AM
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Our maturity journey
Te ara whakapakeke i a mātau

Becoming a modern outcomes-driven,
anticipatory regulator
We’ve made sustained progress as a best-practice regulator but risks and
challenges remain.
We’ve come a long way since we were formed as a Crown
Authority in 1993. The Maritime NZ of 2021 bears little
resemblance to what it was in the early 1990s. Since
then, we’ve been affected and influenced by the broader
government operating environment and growing knowledge
of what makes for effective regulators. Lessons learnt
from regulatory failures like Pike River have prompted an
increasing focus on a risk-based, adaptive approach to
regulation and on the regulatory stewardship expectations
placed on regulators.

Funding review – 2018/19

Early 2010s

• design and guidance capacity and capability (one large

In the early 2010s, we were a narrowly focused regulator,
with limited resources, lacking some of the core
organisational capabilities of an effective regulator. In many
areas, we operated at arm’s-length from the sector, relying
significantly on a form of self-regulation and out-sourcing.
Over the 2010s, we adopted a more sophisticated
compliance strategy and have increased our systems-based
approach, while building the capability of our workforce and
key organisational regulatory functions.

Mid-2010s
Over the past decade, we have implemented significant
regulatory system changes. These include the Maritime
Operator Safety System (MOSS), Seafarer Certification,
HSWA changes, implementation of the Maritime Labour
Convention and a refresh of the Port and Harbour Maritime
Safety Code. In addition, we were given new or increased
responsibilities in relation to Pacific maritime safety, ballast
water management and recreational boating. Further
resourcing came with these functions. In some areas,
however, the new funding was insufficient to implement
changes, or was based on a fees model (for example,
MOSS), which made it difficult to allocate the true cost of
implementation. This resulted in reprioritisation of some
frontline activity, for example, PSC activity moved to focus
solely on high-risk operators.
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The 2018/19 funding review was critical in supporting our
move towards becoming a professional, modern regulator.
It provided more transparent cost allocation and, most
importantly, the capacity to develop the organisational
regulatory capabilities to support a modern, outcomesdriven regulator. In particular, it funded:
• international engagement
• operational policy

and two small regulatory changes resourced per year)
• intelligence
• large corporate functions (for example, IT systems,

property, finance).
Progress on implementing these new capabilities was
delayed by the COVID-19 pandemic, where decisions
were made to limit spending and recruitment. This delay,
however, could only be maintained for a short time without
having significant effects on the organisation and regulatory
outcomes, and progress has now resumed.

Our focus on emerging risks
We have identified emerging risks in some of our regulatory
frontline areas, and we are working to see if these can be
addressed within baseline and levy adjustment in 2022/23,
or whether more funding is needed.
One change made over the past few years has been
to set up an internal assurance function to assess the
performance of elements of our regulatory role. Between
this assurance function, data we hold and stakeholder and
staff engagement, we have identified areas of risk, where
capacity may be insufficient and we do not have the right
systems and processes in place to manage the regulatory
risk. This includes PSC, some third-party monitoring,
certification, and other frontline areas. We are conscious of
not addressing these by simply reprioritising resources from
other frontline areas and creating a different regulatory risk.
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Strengthening our engagement and
education activity
We have made gains in our engagement, prevention
and education activity but further focus is needed.
Our engagement approach has gradually moved from
being mainly transactional to more proactive and systems
focused. We intend to build on the progress made in
our COVID-19 response, in terms of strengthening our
relationships with the maritime sector and other government
agencies, and to evolve our education and engagement
approach towards partnership and co-design.

We also anticipate increased movement of fuel around
New Zealand’s coasts. Large safety infrastructure contracts
finish over the next three years (such as lighthouse and
beacon replacements) and Crown maritime incident
response money finishes in 2023. Decisions will be needed
on how to fund these. Demand on Maritime NZ is also
increasing, as the main source of expertise on the maritime
system, to support government priorities. We are more
involved in delivery of emissions reduction policies and
new areas like the review of the Resource Management
Act 1991. As activity grows in this area, we will need to
consider how and where it is appropriately funded.

Short-term challenges

Maintaining momentum

The number and range of activities we undertake are
increasing, despite the lack of funding from cruise vessels
during the COVID-19 pandemic. Commercial international
shipping has been maintained at largely pre-COVID-19
levels, but, given pressures in the supply chain, safety and
other challenges have been increasing. Recreational boating
participation has increased significantly, as have numbers
of new, inexperienced skippers. Over the next two years,
challenges will increase as ships and boats that have been
out of action because of COVID-19 come back on line.

We will build on the gains made in the shift to a modern
outcomes-driven, anticipatory regulator. We are now more
effective at identifying regulatory risks, vulnerabilities and
gaps in coverage. Our challenge is to preserve these
gains and continue to address identified risks, emerging
pain points and increased demand for our input into
cross-government priorities.

Our maturity story as a regulator
Early 2010s

Mid 2010s

2018–2020

Now and onwards

Narrow regulator
focus, lacking in
resource, missing
some capabilities.

Significant system
change and increasing
professionalism
as a regulator.

Building
organisational
regulatory
capabilities.

Mitigate regulatory frontline
risks from emerging. Better
scoping, prioritisation and
resourcing of work. More
effective operation model.

157

FTEs

199

FTEs

253

FTEs

274

FTEs

= 20 people
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System level performance:
Our impacts
Whakatutukitanga taumata pūnaha: ā mātau pānga

Showing what we’re delivering is important
We are committed to leading, driving and supporting work
to ensure the New Zealand maritime community works and
plays safely and securely on clean waters. To understand
our success as New Zealand’s maritime regulatory,
compliance and response agency, we monitor our level of
performance through system level impacts and impact
indicators, and operational level output measures (as
described in the Statement of Performance Expectations).

Our six impact areas, with associated indicators and two
cross-cutting impact areas are used to monitor our progress
over time and drive our interventions.
The following page describes how our outcomes, impact
areas, associated impact indicators and related outputs
connect. This is followed by an assessment of each impact
and associated indicators with supporting commentary
around our progress, achievements and challenges.

Our impacts and impact indicators align to our outcomes of
Safe people and operations; Secure ports and ships;
and Clean seas and waterways.
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Impact 1
New Zealand’s maritime fatality and serious
harm rates reduce over time
A significant focus of our efforts is ensuring the safety of people working on
and using New Zealand waters in both the recreational and commercial sectors.
We aspire for everyone to return home safely.
We work closely with various stakeholders, including the
port sector, commercial operators, seafarers, recreational
boaties and others to inform, educate and influence them
to act safely. This involves developing, promoting and
implementing integrated behavioural change programmes
and ensuring compliance with maritime rules and
regulations.
OUTCOME

Safe

IMPACT
INDICATOR

DESIRED
INDICATOR TREND

Annual fatality
and serious harm1
rate per 100,000
population

Our work also involves collaborating with boating safety
organisations, regional regulators, employers and unions to
develop and implement an ongoing work programme that
delivers safer boating outcomes, including communications
campaigns and targeted enforcement.

ASSESSMENT OF
ACHIEVEMENT

Trend
•

Over the past seven years, recreational boating fatalities have
fluctuated over time, therefore it is difficult to determine a
downward trend. Fatalities peaked at 32 in 2014/15, with a low
of 11 in 2017/18 and 15 in 2020/21. What is promising is that
over the last four years there has been a significant (10 percent)
increase in recreational boating participation, including new and
novice participants while the numbers remain fairly static (see
Figures 1 and 2 page 29)

•

Over the past seven years, commercial sector fatalities have been
declining (four in 2014/15, peaking at 11 in 2016/17 and down to
4 in 2020/21)

•

The notified commercial serious harm rate is the lowest since
2014/15, however we cannot yet confirm a downward trend as the
number of serious harm incidents fluctuates year on year (between
55 at its highest in 2019/20 to 22 at its lowest in 2020/21)

•

A reducing number of reported incidents in 2020/21 with 611
section 31 notifications received, compared with 730 in 2019/20
and 1,138 in 2018/19 (see Figure 3, page 30). This reduction is
likely due to reduced activity as a result of pandemic alert level
restrictions.

He Haumaru

2020/21 results

Our outputs that support Impact 1

1
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•

15 recreational fatalities at a rate of 0.29 per 100,000 of population

•

four commercial fatalities at a rate of 0.078 per 100,000 population

•

22 notified serious harm injuries at a rate of 0.43 per 100,000 of
population.
2.3

Inspection and audit

Page 86

2.4

Investigation and enforcement

Page 86

5.1

Information, education and engagement

Page 90

Due to under reporting in the recreational sector consistent with previous years, we do not report recreational serious harm data here. The reported
commercial serious harm data includes events that are notified to Maritime NZ as a requirement under section 31 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
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Impact indicators further explained

Number of Fatalities

Figure 1: Number and rate per 100,000 of NZ
population of fatalities in the commercial
and recreational sectors
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Figures 1 and 2 present the number of commercial
and recreational fatalities and notified serious harm
injuries in the commercial sector over the past seven
years, by number and per 100,000 population.2
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Figure 2: Number and rate per 100,000
of NZ population of notified commercial
serious harm injuries
Number of serious
harm notifications

The inherent risks of many commercial and recreational
activities make it unrealistic to expect to eliminate all
accidents, however, Maritime NZ continues to drive
and enable improvements in the maritime sector’s
accident record. Maritime NZ interventions are leading
to improvement (in relative terms) across maritime safety
areas. Our safety focus not only covers regulation and
compliance activities but lives saved through search and
rescue (SAR) coordination for New Zealand (see page 54
for further information).
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Serious harm reporting
Due to under reporting in the recreational sector
consistent with previous years, we do not report
recreational serious harm data here. The reported
commercial serious harm data includes events that are
notified to Maritime NZ as a requirement under section 31
of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. We are aware that
not all serious harm events are reported to Maritime NZ
through section 31 notifications. However, to identify
serious harm events which have not been disclosed
via section 31 notifications, Maritime NZ does consider
events reported in the media and events identified by
the Rescue Coordination Centre, Maritime NZ staff and
third parties. Over the last two financial years, these
procedures have identified one serious harm event
per year which had not been reported through section
31 notifications. Maritime NZ staff ensure the sector
is aware of reporting obligations through its education
and compliance activities and make it easy for involved
parties to notify via the Maritime NZ website. Changes
year on year in reporting behaviours also influence the
trend, including that seen during COVID-19 alert level
restrictions. Maritime NZ is undertaking work to improve
the efficacy of section 31 notifications.

Rate per 100,000 of
NZ population

Financial year

Section 31 notifications

1.2

Maritime NZ received 611 section 31 notifications3 in 2020/21,
a decline of 119 from the previous year. This is attributable
largely to a decline in activity within the international and
domestic commercial sectors, starting with the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic.

0.8
0.4
0.0
2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Financial year

2019/20

2020/21

Conversely, COVID-19 and its impact on international
travel saw a greater number of New Zealanders engage
in recreational boating. Section 31 notifications from the
recreational sector increased by 15 percent in 2020/21
from the previous year.

2

The denominator used for these calculations is per 100,000 of New Zealand’s estimated population (March years) sourced from Statistics NZ. This year, we
recalculated the rates of fatalities and serious harm dating back to 2014/15. This means there are slight differences between the rates presented here and
those previously published in earlier Annual Reports.

3

A notified event is defined as an incident, accident or mishap involving a New Zealand vessel or a vessel in New Zealand waters, including complaints,
concerns or allegations of illegal or unsafe behaviour. These must be reported to Maritime NZ under section 31 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994. An
incident means any occurrence, other than an accident, that is associated with the operation of a ship and affects or could affect the safety of operation.
An accident means an occurrence that involves a ship and in which a person is seriously harmed. The seriousness of harm suffered by the person is
categorised according to WorkSafe NZ’s criteria of notifiable events.

Annual Report 2020/21

29

Data on section 31 notifications helps inform our understanding of the nature of accidents, incidents and mishaps
that occur to people and vessels operating in New Zealand waters. This data is used to identify trends, guide policy
decisions, compliance interventions and shape the design and delivery of future government services to reduce harm
and improve safety.

Figure 3: Notifications by month from 2019/20 onwards
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Injuries represented the most common incident type being reported, with most (78 percent) occurring within the domestic
commercial sector.

Figure 4: Top five event-type notifications 2020/21
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Notified injuries

In 2020/21, Maritime NZ received reports through
section 31 notifications of injuries to 55 individuals in the
recreational sector, an increase of 22 (+67 percent) from
the previous year. A possible cause is the number of new
and inexperienced boaties in New Zealand waters. An Ipsos
survey of recreational boaties indicated that one-third of
those surveyed had started boating, or boating in a different
way, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The number of section 31 notifications reporting injuries
declined across the domestic and international sectors
in 2020/21. Maritime NZ was advised through section 31
notifications of injuries to 167 individuals, a decline of 42
(-20 percent) from the previous year. This decline occurred
across the domestic (-27 percent) and international
(-70 percent) sectors, although an increase was registered
within the recreational boating sector.

Injuries within the recreational sector also follow a highly
seasonal pattern, with 58 percent occurring in the months
November to February.

3-
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Figure 5: Notified injuries by month, 2019/20 onwards
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Our progress, achievements
and challenges
Recreational boating sector
In 2021, research estimates 1.94 million people participated
in recreational boating.4 The increased popularity of
activities involving kayaks, large power boats, dinghies, jet
skis, canoes and stand-up paddleboards, often by people
new to the water with low recreational safety skills and
awareness, remains a challenge.
In response, Maritime NZ, together with regional councils,
works actively to promote safety through its rules and
by supporting programmes that interact directly with
boaties to promote safety to save lives. Maritime NZ’s
main intervention tool is outreach. This includes national
and regional safety awareness and common compliance
campaigns, information and guidance, and frontline
engagement with recreational boaties.
We are working closely with member agencies of the
New Zealand Safer Boating Forum (NZSBF) on activities,
such as the national recreational boating safety campaign,
to coincide with Safer Boating Week (the week before
Labour Day weekend when boaties typically begin getting
ready to head out on the water). The campaign focuses on
boaties being prepared and making ‘good plans’ before
taking to the water. It will continue to evolve, with marketing
and communications activity targeting the most at risk
water craft users.
Our research team hosted a ‘bring the outside in’ activity,
which included research presentations and discussions with
Professor Mark Orams (Auckland University of Technology)
on recreational boating trends and issues, and Professor
Jonathon Webber (University of Auckland) on marine
fatalities and body recovery. This is an example of a new
and innovative approach to broaden our understanding of
how best to work with the sector.
Notably, we made an evidence-based case to the Minister
of Transport in support of considering mandatory wearing
of life jackets on recreational vessels of up to 6 metres. The
Minister agreed that, as a first step, this potential policy
setting would be canvassed with key stakeholders, as
part of a broader consideration of options to improve the
maritime rules for recreational navigation safety.

4
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Commercial sector
The Port Health and Safety Plan continues to be a major
priority, to reduce fatalities and serious harm in the ports.
The Minister of Transport initiated the project to ensure the
future of New Zealand’s port environment is productive, safe
and fit for the future. Maritime NZ and WorkSafe NZ have
been the project’s main sponsors.
The plan has brought together representatives from
across New Zealand’s port ecosystem (port operators
and supporting companies, comprising the employer, port
workers and union representatives, and the government
agencies involved in enabling and regulating the sector,
WorkSafe NZ and ourselves), in what we call a ‘tripartite
approach’, to work on continuously improving port worker
health and safety.
We delivered a project called ‘human versus machine’,
which reviewed possible technologies that could be applied
in ports, to better manage the risks of people interacting
with plant and machinery. The project will deliver a tool
to improve decision-making on the adoption of new
technologies and risk controls.
Our focus now is developing a sustainable future delivery
approach as part of the wider programme for safety in
the ports.

America’s Cup 36
Maritime NZ worked across government, with industry and
race organisers to contribute to an America’s Cup that
was safe, secure and clean. In particular, we successfully
implemented the largest-ever single event safety campaign
for America’s Cup 36, engaging with more than 1,000
recreational boaties and commercial operators to ensure
they were safe and lawful. Our engagement across
government, with industry participants and race organisers
enhanced our reputation, and we received a lot of positive
feedback on our willingness to engage positively, be helpful
and solution focused. No significant safety-related or
environmental incidents occurred.

Ipsos research for Maritime NZ: https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/recreational/safety-campaigns/recreational-research.asp.
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Working together to promote safe boating
The 36th America’s Cup
Maritime NZ played a vital role in ensuring the smooth running of one of
New Zealand’s most significant and high-profile sporting events, the 36th
America’s Cup (AC36). Our involvement was crucial in ensuring the safety
of both spectators and commercial operators.
AC36 was our largest-ever single
event safety campaign. During the
event, we engaged with more than
1,000 recreational boaties to ensure
they were safe and following the
rules. Life jacket carriage amongst
these was over 98 per cent. Our
frontline staff engaged with nearly 200
commercial operators and followed
up reported issues with another 25
commercial vessels.
Kelly Garmonsway, AC36 Programme
Manager, says the successful event
shows the value in taking a modern
approach to regulation.
“By working across government, and
with industry, with race organisers and
with racing syndicates, we contributed
to an America’s Cup that was safe,
secure and clean. Taking an agile
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approach to the challenges posed by
COVID-19, and working collaboratively
with other organisations, was central
to our successful approach.
“Throughout the Cup, our engagement
with key stakeholders has helped to
reinforce our reputation as an agile,
solutions-focused organisation.
“We worked extensively with the
harbourmaster’s team to make sure
Cup participants followed the rules –
and understood the consequences
if they did not.
“We designed and rolled out a flag
for the paying public to identify lawful
commercial operators. Steering paying
passengers toward lawful operators
was also used as a means to limit
the supply of passengers to unlawful

operators – this was well received
by industry and other government
agencies with 111 flags issued to
bona fide commercial operators.
This was supported by a ‘Look for
the Flag’ advertising and media
campaign, which helped ensure
spectators were travelling with
licenced commercial operators.
This social media campaign alone
reached more than 820,000 people.
“But perhaps our biggest success
was the fact that there were no
significant environmental or safetyrelated incidents during the event,
something we can all be proud of
as Kiwis,” Kelly says.
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Safer boating
Our grants funding programme
Last year, as part of our drive to reduce recreational boating fatalities and injuries,
we distributed a record $844,249 in grants to more than 20 grass-roots boating
safety initiatives around the country.
These grants, which are drawn from
the Fuel Excise Duty boaties pay on
petrol, provide crucial funding for
the many organisations essential
to building a safer boating culture
in New Zealand. Aimed at reducing
recreational boating fatalities and
injuries, these grants represent a
significant part of the wider safer
boating campaign.
“Making life safer for all recreational
boaties is the central focus of the
campaign, and the grants will go a
long way toward achieving this,” says
Maritime NZ Director Kirstie Hewlett.
“Funding a range of safer boating
programmes, in a number of regions,
with different partners, ensures we
can educate and reach a range of
communities and make an impact
to behaviours before people get
on to boats as well as on the water.”
Successful applicants this year
included innovative approaches
to promoting safety on the water,
such as a drone that spreads safety

34

messages from up high, and the
expansion of the community ‘life
jacket hub’ programme, where people
can borrow a life jacket for a gold
coin donation.
Funding from Fuel Excise Duty
grants also helps support community
training programmes throughout
New Zealand, such as the Coastguard
Boating Education’s ground-breaking
Folau Malu programme, which helps
those in the Pasifika community to
complete a Coastguard New Zealand
Day Skipper course.
Other training courses include Waka
Ama NZ’s online safety workshop.
This course is available to all waka
ama paddlers who are affiliated with
one of the 90 Waka Ama NZ clubs.
The course is also available to nonaffiliated paddlers, including schools
and other organisations, such as
marae and iwi.
The increase in funding also helped
ramp up last summer’s ‘Old4New’
campaign, which saw an extra van

go on the road to cover the South
and North islands. This campaign
offers heavily discounted life jackets
to people wanting to upgrade their old
or damaged life jackets. The 2020/21
summer campaign saw 2,790 life
jackets upgraded across 61 locations
across the country.
Funding of $80,000 was also allocated
to the on-water ‘No Excuses’ campaign,
which 18 regional councils took part in.
This is a joint Maritime NZ and regional
council programme for on-water activity,
to encourage good safety practices in
recreational boating. It is run annually
through the summer period (see
page 37 for further information about
No Excuses).
Other aspects of the increased
investment included a greater
on-water presence and support for
the collaborative work Maritime NZ
is doing with the New Zealand Safer
Boating Forum.
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Impact 2
Maritime operators and recreational boating users’
safety culture and behaviour improves over time
Improving operator and recreational boaties’ safety culture and behaviour means
we must influence through education, information and compliance activities.
To monitor change over time, we undertake regular surveys and
gather intelligence and insights that inform our marketing and
on-water campaigns. We work with partner agencies to support
delivery of grass-roots initiatives, communication channels and
programmes that improve safer boating behaviour.
OUTCOMES

Safe

IMPACT
INDICATOR

Recreational
boating behaviours
and attitudes
(through survey and
observation)

He Haumaru

DESIRED
INDICATOR TREND

Compliance is also a major part of our efforts to improve
safety culture and behaviour, and an important way of
monitoring the commercial sector is through audits,
inspections and investigations of New Zealand’s domestic
operators and international ships.
ASSESSMENT OF
ACHIEVEMENT

Trend

Survey and observation results provide evidence that some
recreational boating behaviours and attitudes are improving over time.
The results of the Ipsos Recreational Boating Participation Survey
over the last five years shows that overall safety behaviours have
varied but remain fairly static. We note however:
•

A positive trend between 2016/17 and 2020/21 in the percentage
of surveyed boaties checking the weather before going out (from
72 percent to 86 percent)

•

The number of boaties wearing life jackets is showing some
improvement from 76 percent in 2016/17 increasing to 80 percent
for the last two years.

Clean
He Mā

See Figure 6 page 36 for survey results over the last five years.
An analysis of the ‘No Excuses’ campaign findings over the past five
years shows that:

Commercial
operators’ risk
profile5

•

The overall rate of vessels that had enough life jackets on board
has remained high and consistent, ranging between 95 percent
and 97 percent (which is higher than the 2021 Ipsos survey results)

•

However, life jackets being worn when legally required declined
from 89 percent to 80 percent from the previous year, with
operators of all vessel types apart from dinghies (77 percent to
81 percent) recording a drop in compliance rates

•

Participants carrying at least one form of communication device
(93 percent), as well as those carrying multiple devices (61 percent),
has increased over time but remained steady from the previous year

•

11 percent of surveyed vessels were involved in a speed law or
bylaw breach which has increased steadily over the last five years.
Of these, 62 percent involved a powerboat and jet skis were
involved in a further 31 percent of incidents. Enforcement action
of some kind was applied in 25 percent of interactions.

Trend and 2020/21 results

MOSS6 risk-profile scores are improving over time:
•

Since 2015, we have seen a steady decline in the average
combined risk profile score (while seeing an increase in the
number of operators coming into MOSS), from a risk profile
score of 27.0 in 2015/16 to 22.6 in 2020/21

•

There is an increase in the number of operators with low risk
profile scores year on year (see Figure 7 page 37).

5

The desired trend is to increase as relates to improvements in operator risk-profile scores characterised by a reduction in the average risk score.

6

The Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS) is one of New Zealand’s primary regulatory frameworks for enabling safe people and operations. Operators
require a Maritime Transport Operator Certificate and must prepare a Maritime Transport Operator Plan. MOSS audits are undertaken to assess performance
against the MOSS framework.
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Our outputs that support Impact 2

2.3

Inspection and audit

Page 86

2.4

Investigation and enforcement

Page 86

5.1

Information, education and engagement

Page 90

Impact indicators further explained
Recreational Boating Participation Survey
The 2021 Recreational Boating Participation Research conducted for Maritime NZ and NZSBF by Ipsos, sampled around
2,000 adults to understand recreational boating behaviour. This has moved to a quarterly survey of around 1,000 people
from a survey panel. Two quarterly surveys were completed in 2020/21.7
The 2021 survey results show an average of 76.6 percent comply with safe recreational boating behaviours (see output
5.1.3 page 90). This represents a slight increase over the past three years, and is slightly above the 76 percent in 2019/20.
Over the last five years, the 2021 Ipsos Recreational Boating Participation Survey results8 for the four recommended safety
behaviours promoted by Maritime NZ and the NZSBF show that, every time and most of the time boat users go out:
• 83 percent say they carry life jackets – the same as in 2016/17
• 80 percent say they wear life jackets – an increase of 5.3% from 2016/17
• 86 percent say they check the marine or mountain forecast – an increase of 19.4 percent from 2016/17
• 57 percent say they carry at least two forms of communication – an increase of 7.5 percent from 2016/17
• 77 percent say they avoid alcohol – which is 2.5 percent lower than 2016/17.

Figure 6: Ipsos survey results on safer boating behaviours9
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Survey results and on-water observation suggest boating behaviour is being maintained or improving – however opportunities for
improvement remain. To do this, we will continue to use data and observation to evolve our strategies and behavioural change campaigns
to influence behaviour.

7

During the financial year 2020/21, Maritime NZ tendered for a supplier to provide a tracking survey about recreational boating participation and safety and
Ipsos was selected as the provider. The transition from annual surveys to quarterly surveys began in the latter half of the year. The financial year was thus
covered by the first two quarterly surveys, the first of which looked back over a longer period of time. Future annual reports will be able to draw on a full year
of quarterly reports.

8

The minimum sample per quarter is 1,000 and in the 2020/21 financial year two quarters of fieldwork were undertaken. The maximum margin of error, at
the 95% confidence interval, for each quarterly sample of n=1000 is 3.1% and for the two quarters combined it is 2.2%. Response rate data is not available
because the survey was promoted through a survey panel system, which adjusts target audiences based on demographic criteria.

9

Survey results include responses of “every time” and “most of the time” combined, shown as a percentage. This method differs from those in earlier Annual
Reports, where one or both of these responses were used. For consistency, we’ve reproduced the results from 2016/17 onwards using both counts
combined in Figure 6.
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‘No excuses’ on-water observation
The ‘No excuses’ on-water education and compliance
campaign is a joint Maritime NZ and regional council
programme for on-water activity. It encourages good
safety practices in recreational boating and is run annually
through summer.
In support of the ‘No Excuses’ campaign, a mobile tabletbased ‘On-water Survey’ has been used to capture details
of the interaction between recreational vessel skippers and
No Excuses participants. These participants include regional
and district council staff, Maritime NZ staff and Maritime
Police. The use of observation, rather than self-reported
safety behaviour, provides a valuable dataset for analysing
the effectiveness of boating safety messaging and overall
compliance with the Boating Safety Code, Maritime Rules
Part 91 and regional safety bylaws.
We share the survey data with members of the NZSBF,
where it is used to help guide safety strategy and
messaging. We also share the data with participating
councils, where it is used to evaluate the effectiveness of
past campaigns and influence the direction of future ‘No
Excuses’ campaigns.
Over a five-year period, over 15,000 interactions have
occurred with skippers. Analysis of the findings over the
past five years is described above as part of the overall
trend in recreational boating behaviours and attitudes.
Through our survey and observation activity, a slight decline
is evident in the number of recreational boaties carrying and
wearing life jackets when legally required to do so. This is
likely because of several factors, including the increase in

participants, particularly new and novice participants, and
the increase in adventure vessel craft, such as jet skis and
stand up paddle boards. We also know the main purpose of
boating trips is for fun, socialisation and relaxation, so a link
may be associated with safer boating practices and calm
weather conditions.
It is worth noting the ‘No Excuses’ campaign over recent
years has strengthened its focus on targeting noncompliance, such as not wearing life jackets.
Maritime NZ continues to focus on life jacket wearing
through its advertising campaigns and recognises the
importance of safer boating messages reaching audiences
everywhere. We know wearing a life jacket saves lives, and
we have made an evidence-based case to the Minister of
Transport to support mandatory wearing of life jackets on
recreational vessels of up to 6 metres.

Maritime Operator Safety System risk profile
MOSS is one of New Zealand’s primary regulatory
frameworks for enabling safe people and operations. One of
New Zealand’s primary regulatory frameworks for enabling
safe people and operations, is MOSS. New Zealand’s
domestic commercial sector ranges from large multiindustry companies to small family owned businesses.
Since 2014, MOSS has grown to include
over 1,500 operators who are subject to regular audits
by Maritime NZ.
MOSS risk profile scores are a mechanism to rate the risk
level of a new operator.10 The risk profile score sets the audit
frequency and is updated each time an operator is audited
under the MTA and assessed under the HSWA. Higher risk

Figure 7: Count of Maritime Operator Safety System operators11 and their risk profile scores, 2013/14
to 2020/21
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10 In figure 7, the high, standard and low risk ranges for operator counts are based on our internal risk ranges. High more than 62.5; Standard between
25–62.5; Low less than 25. This differs from the risk range used for our Statement of Performance Expectations measure 2.3.2, which uses a risk profile
of over 25 to determine high-risk operators who should be audited.
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operators are audited more regularly, to encourage and
ensure improvements to their safety systems.11
Since 2015, we have seen a steady decline in the average
combined risk profile score for MOSS operators. This
positive trend continues, despite the increase in MOSS
operator numbers. We have also seen an increase in the
number of operators with low risk profile scores year on
year. We have taken this declining average risk profile and
increase in low risk profile operators as a promising sign
that MOSS has had a positive impact on safety in maritime
transport systems.

Our progress, achievements
and challenges
Maritime Operator Safety System activities and
its evaluation
The COVID-19 pandemic continued to present challenges
to our audit programme. Taking a risk-based approach,
over the past year, we prioritised audits for higher risk
MOSS operators, with 92.86 percent of higher risk
operators being audited.
COVID-19 lockdown restrictions in 2020 prevented maritime
officers from completing MOSS audits in person, as per
usual practice. We implemented a self-audit approach with
lower risk operators, which allowed us to explore new ways
of supporting operator compliance and safety, despite alert
levels. The self-audit approach will be evaluated over the
next year.
An independent evaluation of MOSS was undertaken to
assess its ongoing effectiveness and to seek opportunities
for improvement. The evaluation showed that MOSS
is contributing to safety outcomes on New Zealand
commercial vessels. Early indications suggest an improved
safety culture is developing, and MOSS has heightened
operators’ awareness of hazards and safety procedures.
The evaluation also found barriers to compliance exist and
that MOSS could be simplified to be more fit for purpose for
smaller operators. It also recommended we consider how
to better support surveyors, identify options for improving
how the risk profiling tool works now and assess whether
the tool appears to be providing credible results, as well
as develop proactive monitoring systems to support
intelligence-led decision-making.
We have taken this advice on board and are considering the
recommendations. We are in the early stages of developing
a dynamic predictive risk model. This will consolidate data
from various systems and external sources, providing a
cross-system view of risk and trend, and will enable analysis
through machine learning and artificial intelligence.

Advertising and education campaigns
We conducted eight significant education campaigns this
year, including:
• HSWA confined spaces campaign, focusing on educating

the commercial sector on the dangers of working in
confined spaces on vessels
• ‘Make memories, not the 6pm news’ a joint SAR distress

beacon campaign
• ‘Put the brakes on COVID-19’ vaccination campaign
• PPE guidance and collateral for stevedores
• Appreciation advertising and social media campaign for

port workers around the country
• ‘What’s your plan?’ recreational safety campaign,

focusing on ensuring boaties have a safety plan before
taking to the water
• ‘Look for the flag’ advertising and media campaign for the

America’s Cup, to ensure spectators were travelling with
licenced commercial operators.

Last trip survey
A ‘Last trip survey’ was implemented in January 2021
and captures data on safer boating behaviour based
on a boaties most recent trip out on the water. The last
trip survey data is gathered through NZSBF member
organisations. The data is analysed by Ipsos along with
quarterly survey data, to provide insights into the profiles,
behaviour, knowledge and attitudes of recreational boaties.

Compliance and enforcement activities
In the past year, we completed 144 PSC ship inspections.
Access and availability issues hindered our ability to
inspect all higher risk ships entering New Zealand waters.
COVID-19 border controls and nationwide lockdowns
reduced access to ships. The 14-day quarantine
requirements for ships entering New Zealand waters often
meant ships arrived and departed before they were cleared
for boarding and we were able to inspect them. In addition,
maritime officers trained to conduct PSC inspections were
diverted to livestock carrier inspections, which reduced our
availability and capacity to inspect higher risk ships (see
Output 2.3.1 on page 86). However, we also recognise
that there are resource pressures that have contributed to
this result and we have a begun a programme of work that
looks at how we can improve in this area.
To promote safety, we hold participants to account through
our investigations and related enforcement activities,
which allow us to promote compliance more widely to the
maritime sector. Over the year, 84.2 percent of prosecutions
brought under the MTA and/or HSWA resulted in the
relevant parties being held to account (see Output 2.4.2
on page 86).

11 This trend information includes MOSS operators where their Operating status is “Closed” or “Not Operating”. There are currently 135 MOSS operators
recorded where their status is “closed” out of a total of 1,566 total operators.
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Working with the maritime sector to drive health
and safety improvements
The KiwiRail Enforceable Undertaking
Maritime NZ’s acceptance of an Enforceable Undertaking (EU) from KiwiRail will
bring many benefits to the wider community in the Marlborough Sounds, including
the roll-out of a free real-time monitoring system that will help local boaties and
commercial operators track tides, currents and water depths.
Maritime NZ accepted the EU
following an investigation into an
incident on the Kaiarahi Interislander
ferry in April 2019, where a crew
member slipped, breaking the main
bone in one of his legs in two places,
and forcing him off work for 15 weeks.
Maritime NZ found that KiwiRail
failed to identify, control and monitor
slip hazards on board the ferry.
To immediately address this public
safety concern, KiwiRail was issued
with an improvement notice that saw
it undertake major work to improve
deck surfaces for its entire fleet.
The EU and improvement notice
highlight how Maritime NZ is working
with the sector to improve workplace
health and safety culture and behaviour.
Michael-Paul (MP) Abbott, Maritime NZ’s
Central Region Compliance Manager,
explains EUs are a legally binding
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alternative to prosecution that can
be used to not only improve safety
outcomes across the wider industry
but provide financial redress to the
affected worker and their family. This
EU is the second that Maritime NZ
has accepted under Health and Safety
at Work Act 2015.
“We took into account KiwiRail’s
support for the family, improvements
across all its ferries and terminals,
funding to Marlborough District
Council to improve safety for all
commercial and recreational users
of the Sounds, and engagement
with the worker’s union.”
As part of the EU, KiwiRail must
provide $250,000 to the Marlborough
District Council to implement a
Sounds-wide system that will allow
real-time monitoring of tides, currents
and water depths that all commercial
shipping, fishing and aquaculture

operators, and recreational boaties
will be able to use free of charge.
The council had been looking to
introduce such a system because
of the dangers posed in the Sounds
by sudden weather changes and
fast tides and currents.
Michael-Paul reinforced that, as well
as the contribution to Marlborough
District Council, several other
conditions had been included in the
terms of the EU: developing and
distributing a framework for friction
testing on ships; continuing to
carry out friction tests on ships and
terminals; continually reviewing and
prioritising resurfacing and repairs;
and developing friction testing policy
and procedures.
“These all have wider benefits for
workers and the public,” he says.
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The Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code
A tripartite approach to driving safety improvements in Aotearoa
New Zealand’s ports and harbours
The Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code (the Code) is a tripartite approach that
encourages and facilitates 15 port operators, 17 regional councils and Maritime NZ
to work together to achieve a national standard in port and harbour marine safety
management systems (SMS) to ensure the safety of all those who use these
vital facilities.
Chair of the Code’s Steering Group
and Maritime NZ Director Kirstie
Hewlett says a joined-up approach
has been key to the Code’s growing
success over the past five years.
“The wider economy relies on ports
and harbours to function safely,
and there’s no doubt that ports and
harbours around New Zealand are
busy, high-risk environments where
ships need to be able to enter, leave
and navigate safely.
“Because the Code works
collaboratively on critical issues like
marine safety, and we represent
the views of so many regional
councils and port operators, we
have the mandate to drive real
change and make meaningful
safety improvements.”
The Code is an example of coregulation, with Maritime NZ as the
regulator, working alongside the
maritime sector to achieve consistent
levels of compliance and continuous
improvement. This unique selfmanagement approach makes it a
model of good regulatory stewardship.
Each port and harbour is subject to a
review of their SMS by a Code panel
every three-to-four years.
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In the course of an SMS review, the
panel will assess how well the SMS
is functioning and identify unique or
good marine safety practices to share
more widely with the Code members.
These are shared through the Code
newsletters and annual Code forum.
This year’s Code forum had a ‘Risk
management – the COVID-19 edition’
theme and was delivered for the first
time by webinar, over two half days.
During the review, the panel looks
for evidence to satisfy that the
arrangements, measures, operating
procedures and processes in the SMS
for the port and harbour are sufficiently
robust, credible and effective to
manage the regional maritime risks
and are underscored by effective
working relationships.
Over the past five years, Maritime NZ
has undertaken 19 reviews of port
and harbour SMS, and each year
ports and harbours have completed
a joint self-assessment of their SMS
and reported on it. Peer review is
an important part of the approach.
In the years between reviews,
Code members are required to do an
annual self-assessment of their SMS.
This encourages them to examine the
internal systems that manage

and control their specific marine risks
and to identify any issues for action
and improvement. This is an important
step to ensure SMS are regularly
reviewed and improved.
“It’s pleasing that despite the
challenges posed by COVID-19,
in the past year five SMS reviews
were planned and all but one was
completed.” That delay was at
the request of the port that was
undergoing a complete SMS review
at the time, which required
additional time.
“Over time, there has been increased
confidence in the partnership
approach by members, and real
improvements to SMS and risk
management techniques across all
ports and harbours.
“Over the last year, good practice
guidelines were reviewed and
updated, and a high-level review of the
2016 version of the Code confirmed
that the Code was fit for purpose.
“The Code is proof that industry selfmanagement works when there is a
common cause, there is genuine and
equal investment of time and effort,
and relationships are built on mutual
trust,” Kirstie says.
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Impact 3
New Zealand has competent and capable
people working in the maritime industry
We are also committed to understanding the needs
and challenges of maritime participants in fulfilling their
obligations by providing advice and help where possible.

Competent and capable maritime
participants are the foundation of
a safe, secure and clean maritime
industry. This means, as a modern
regulator, we ensure participants in the
maritime system meet the appropriate
standards and have the relevant
knowledge and experience required
of them.

Our activities in this area include:
• entry and exit controls through our certification and

registration regime
• monitoring compliance through our audit and inspection

work (of domestic and international vessels and maritime
schools)
• enforcement through our investigations and prosecutions
• education through our published guidance and

engagement efforts and strengthening our regulatory
capability and performance through our training
programmes and internal development projects.
OUTCOMES

Safe

IMPACT
INDICATOR

DESIRED
INDICATOR TREND

Commercial vessels
crewed by people
holding appropriate
certification

ASSESSMENT OF
ACHIEVEMENT

Trend

Through our certification and compliance activities we continue to
ensure competent and capable people are working in the industry:
•

Since 2016/17 to 2020/21, we have seen an increase of
17.6 percent in the number of seafarer certificate applications
and renewals received

•

Our entry controls prevent applicants that do not meet the
requirements from entering the maritime system. Each year a
number of seafarer certificate applications are declined, mostly
due to the applicant not meeting the criteria of the certificate
they are applying for. In 2020/21, we declined 142 applications

•

The reduction in MOSS operators’ risk profile scores since
2015/16 (see Figure 7 page 37) also indicates increasing
competent and capable people.
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2020/21 results

Our outputs that support Impact 3
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•

Issued 3,365 certificates of which 2,249 were seafarer certificates

•

Fit and Proper Person assessments were carried out on all
seafarers as part of the application process

•

Auditing and inspections on operations assess compliance
of in-charge crew holding the appropriate certification

•

We have increased our industry engagement, particularly
with the maritime schools to support seafarer awareness and
understanding of the certificate requirements

•

We are strengthening our entry controls as part of the work we are
doing in the Certification Transformation Project, e.g. by building
quality controls into processes for all applications to ensure the
correct evidence is provided to prove compliance with criteria.

2.2

Certification and registration

Page 85

2.3

Inspection and audit

Page 86

5.1

Information, education and engagement

Page 90
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Our progress, achievements
and challenges

existing courses or certificates, or where a new training
provider or new courses are established.

Entry and exit controls

Monitoring and enforcement

To enter and stay in the New Zealand maritime system,
both seafarers and operators must meet entry and renewal
requirements.
For seafarers, this includes an assessment of their
competencies and relevant experience, along with a
determination of whether they are fit and proper. To determine
whether an applicant is fit and proper, we consider several
factors, including the degree and nature of the applicant’s
proposed involvement in maritime activities, the applicant’s
compliance history with transport regulatory requirements,
relevant experience and knowledge, history of physical or
mental health, and convictions for certain offences.12
These fit and proper assessments use historical factors to
consider how the applicant will conduct themselves in the
future. A seafarer must remain fit and proper for the lifetime
of their participation in the maritime system or risk losing
their maritime document(s).
For operators in New Zealand, this includes assessing
applications for Minimum Safe Crewing Documents,
to ensure vessels are crewed by the appropriate number
of seafarers who hold the required certification for the
safe operation of the vessel. In addition, all commercial
operators in New Zealand are required to enter one of
our operator safety systems, such as MOSS.
This year, we processed 3,365 maritime documents,
statutory certificates (including 2,249 seafarer certificates)
and permits to those in the maritime domain. The
percentage of applications processed within 20 working
days was not as high as we would have liked (see Output
2.2.1 on page 85). This was due to resourcing constraints,
staff turnover and recruitment challenges in filling roles,
as well as improvements required in our systems and
processes that we have identified. We continue to make
improvements to address these challenges.
The COVID-19 pandemic created several challenges for
New Zealand certificate holders being able to maintain their
ongoing competency requirements. This was because many
of the maritime schools closed or were inaccessible due to
travel restrictions. To let these seafarers continue to earn a
living safely, we allowed exemptions. This situation should
now normalise as vaccines become available globally.

Maritime schools
To provide maritime ancillary13 courses that are recognised
by Maritime NZ, maritime training institutes in New Zealand
must seek approval from Maritime NZ for each course
they intend to provide. We must be satisfied the training
programme for each course meets specific requirements.
Over the past 12 months, 69 courses were processed
and approved across the five training providers. Course
approvals are renewed every five years, so in the next four
years we expect to process and approve amendments to

Our audit and inspection work provides assurance to the
maritime domain that seafarers and operators continue to
meet their obligations once they have entered the system.
We audit domestic maritime operations, to ensure they
are operating safely and meet statutory requirements.
This includes a requirement for employing properly certified
crew members. If seafarers and operators do not meet
their obligations, we will use enforcement to hold them
to account.
A risk-based inspection regime also applies to conventionsized vessels, as part of the Tokyo Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU). This includes prioritised, targeted
inspections of these vessels and their operations, a
component of which is ensuring they are appropriately
crewed.
If, during an audit or inspection, we determine a vessel is
not appropriately crewed, we have the ability to prevent the
vessel from operating until it has the required certified crew
members on board.

Education and engagement
To help participants in the maritime system meet the
appropriate standards, and understand the relevant
knowledge and experience required, we have:
• ensured the entry control process is supported by easily

accessible and publicly available guidance materials
• provided advice and help to applicants by phone, email

and web enquiry form
• published four updates on application forms and

guidance relating to seafarer certification, vessel status,
applications for authorised persons and surveyor
performance requirements
• listened to stakeholder concerns and ideas, and

provided guidance and help through forums such as the
Surveyor Seminar, Examiners Forum, Commercial Fishing
Federation Conference and Auckland Maritime School.

Strengthening our regulatory capability and
performance
Certification Transformation Project
We are aware our seafarer certificate processing time
has not always met our performance target. In response,
we have started a programme of work to improve our
systems and processes that will also make it easier for
applicants and our staff to undertake this important function
(see the case study on page 43, for further information).

12 Section 50 of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
13 Ancillary courses are courses that provide seafarers with proficiency in skills additional to the core theory training courses they are required to complete to
gain their certificate to work on ships. Seafarers are required to refresh ancillary training five yearly.
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CASE STUDY

Improving how we operate and respond to the sector
The Certification Transformation Project
Maritime NZ’s Certification Transformation Project is a good example of how we
are working not only to ensure the maritime domain is staffed by competent and
capable people but also becomes more efficient and responsive to sector needs.
The Certification Team is an integral
part of Maritime NZ and is responsible
for the safe and timely entry and
exit control of people, products,
operators and vessels into and out
of the maritime system. In 2020/21,
the team issued 3,365 maritime
or marine protection documents,
certificates and permits, of which
2,249 were for seafarers.
An internal audit highlighted several
areas for improvement across our
certification system. These included
filling gaps in process documentation,
adding quality controls, and clarifying
roles and responsibilities.
Maritime NZ recognised this as an
important organisational priority and,
in mid-2020, established a project
team to map the current system
and find avenues for improvement.
The project’s vision is to transform
the certification area into an entry
control function that embodies
decision-making excellence and
shows responsive and continuous
improvement.
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Paul Craven, Maritime NZ’s Manager –
Certification, says “we want to improve
the efficiency and effectiveness of our
processes and systems, while still
delivering robust regulatory decisions
which ensure we play our part in
keeping New Zealand’s waters safe,
secure and clean.”
From an applicant’s perspective, we
want to ensure it is easier for them to
find the information they need and to
engage easily with our team, leading
to a smooth entry process.
“As a start, we are looking to build
additional capacity into our team to
allow us to reduce the backlog of
seafarer certificate applications and
recommence the printing of physical
certificates which had been on hold
since March 2020.
“We also plan to set up user-groups
to get a better understanding of the
application experience and to trial
changes to processes.

more in-depth feedback on specific
pain points.”
The first phase of the project, between
October 2020 and May 2021, focused
on evaluating our processes and
defining our needs. Quick wins were
achieved, including building quality
controls into our IT workflow system
and improving some processes.
The project is highlighting how
well many parts of Maritime NZ
are working together, and will help
shape our approach to future projects
combining process improvement and
ICT systems integration.
“We are currently focused on
standardising our approach. The final
phase of the project will see us engage
with the sector to work towards
identifying areas for improvement;
it’s important that our new system
will address our applicants’ need for
a more efficient end-to-end process,
and we will work closely with the sector
to publicise changes,” says Paul.

“In the coming months, we’ll reach out
to different parts of the industry to get
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Impact 4
New Zealand’s maritime transport system
ensures that people and goods are protected
New Zealand faces growing pressure across its maritime
domain. This includes:

Protecting people and goods means
we provide maritime security and
intelligence advice and expertise
that minimise security threats to
New Zealand’s maritime interests.

• increasing challenges to New Zealand’s border and

resource protection effort, in particular, the escalation in
threat of seaborne illicit drug importation and increased
pressure on maritime resources
• the need to step up maritime security efforts in New Zealand’s

We are also charged with implementing the International
Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance
with the Maritime Security Act 2004. Cooperating with
other enforcement agencies, including intelligence
exchange, is also an important function of ours.
OUTCOME

IMPACT
INDICATOR

DESIRED INDICATOR
TREND15

Security incidents
reported16

Secure
He Whita

Our outputs that support Impact 4
Our progress, achievements
and challenges
The impact of COVID-19 has not negatively affected port
security operations. All ports continue to be compliant
with the ISPS Code and Maritime Security Act 2004.
All ports that come under the ISPS Code have undergone
an assessment this year. These assessments involve
checking against the ISPS guidelines, the Maritime Security
Act 2004 and New Zealand national security settings.
There have been no significant port security incidents,
defined as reported incidents that meet the threshold
that requires the Maritime NZ Director to consider raising

maritime waters, as signalled in the Strategic Defence
Policy Statement 2018 and the Pacific Reset
• a more demanding geopolitical environment
• the impacts of climate change.14
ASSESSMENT OF
ACHIEVEMENT

Trend
•

The trend of zero significant security incidents has continued

•

Port security capability overall maintains a positive trend, ensuring
all ports are able to quickly respond to any heightened security risk.

2020/21 results
•

All ports that come under the ISPS Code have undergone an
assessment and are compliant

•

No security incidents were reported that required raising port
security levels

•

Our intelligence-led approach means we are able to closely
monitor any potential security threats and respond appropriately,
if required.

2.1

Maritime security

Page 85

the security levels for ports. Ports continue to report to
Maritime NZ as appropriate when security incidents occur,
and all reports have been of a minor nature (such as staff
forgetting IDs).
Ports are able to respond effectively, have measures
in place appropriate for national security risk levels and
have the necessary leadership capability.
Maritime NZ remains well connected to the New Zealand
intelligence community and is actively engaged in
the New Zealand National Security Framework for
readiness and response requirements, should a terrorism
situation escalate.

14 Maritime Security Strategy 2020: https://www.transport.govt.nz//assets/Uploads/Report/MaritimeSecurityStrategy.pdf
15 The impact indicator trend is to maintain no significant security incidents that raise the security levels for ports rather than increased reporting of a minor
nature as per the Statement of Intent 2021–2025.
16 Maritime NZ operates within the New Zealand National Security Framework and this provides situational advice and warning to assess security for
New Zealand’s ports. Having access to reliable information enables us to have good situational awareness and the ability for ports to react in a timely manner.
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Improved port security capability
Port security capability overall maintains a positive trend,
and port security leadership is robust and committed.
Ports are innovative and introduce new technologies to
enhance security capability.
All ports conducted security exercises over the year, which
showed each port has effective means to increase security
levels, if necessary, should security risks increase.
Building and maintaining strong relationships is critical to
port security. Our relationships with port security leadership
continue to be effective, and a partnership approach is
well embedded. We led a maritime security conference
that proved to be an effective opportunity for further
engagement and education. Our interactions across
government continue to develop and grow, including
intelligence sharing.
We also introduced more robust checking processes of port
security plans and scoped additional security guidance to
help port staff.
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CASE STUDY

Working together to keep our maritime transport
system secure
The Maritime Security Team has a crucial role in ensuring people and goods
are protected within the maritime transport system.
“Keeping our trading ports safe and
protecting the vital flow of goods
into and out of New Zealand is at
the heart of Maritime NZ’s contribution
to maritime security,” says Nigel
Clifford, Deputy Director, Safety
and Response Systems.
This is done in partnership with
multiple parties, including other
government agencies, our ports
and with international partners,
all working together.
In New Zealand, these parties work
with the ports to implement the
Maritime Security Act 2004 and its
regulations, with strong relationships
vital for maintaining our high standard
of responding to actual and potential
maritime security threats.
To maintain this standard across
New Zealand, our team continuously
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pursues and shares best practice to
ensure all actions taken by us as the
regulator, and ports, as the operators,
are effective and efficient.
The Maritime Security Team also takes
a collaborative, All-of-Government
approach with other agencies
that have an interest in ensuring
international ships and port facilities
continue to play their part in securing
New Zealand’s maritime domain.
Internationally, the team works with
partners, such as the International
Maritime Organization’s Maritime
Security Division, the US Coast Guard
and UK Department for Transport
Maritime Security, to build capacity
and share best practice in port
security throughout the Pacific
and the rest of the world.

In line with our focus of being
intelligence-led, we make maximum
use of information and intelligence
to ensure all aspects of the security
system are at a high state of readiness
and that day-to-day security is
delivered efficiently and effectively.
Underpinning all of our work is
the Maritime Security Strategy,
which provides direction for
New Zealand’s maritime security
sector through its pillars of
understanding, engaging, preventing
and responding to maritime security
threats through a comprehensive
multi-agency approach.
“Working hard every day in a
comprehensive, strong and dynamic
system with all of our many partners is
the key to success for overall maritime
security,” says Nigel.
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Impact 5
The quality of New Zealand’s marine
environment is improved
To improve the quality of New Zealand’s marine environment, we continue our
regulation of environmental protection responsibilities for ships. Specifically,
we are addressing marine pollution by implementing MARPOL Annex VI to
reduce the effects of air pollution and greenhouse gases from ships.
We are also working to achieve reductions in the number and impacts of marine oil spills in New Zealand. Our other
environmentally focused work includes seeking ways to develop our regulatory systems, such as MOSS, to improve
protection of the marine environment.
OUTCOME

IMPACT
INDICATOR

DESIRED
INDICATOR TREND

Oil spill incidents17

ASSESSMENT OF
ACHIEVEMENT

Trend
•

Clean
He Mā

Oil spill incidents have been trending downward slightly over the
last three years following an increase in 2018/19. There were
ninety-five oil spills in 2020/21, down from the 110 reported in
2019/20, but well below the 130 reported in 2018/19 (See Figure
8 on page 49).18

2020/21 results

International
convention
implementation
(MARPOL)

•

53 Tier 1 oil spills (industry or offshore spills that are handled by
the operation)

•

42 Tier 2 oil spills (at regional level spill, where the regional council
coordinates and responds)

•

No national level response events occurred (Tier 3).

Trend
•

Expectations are increasing internationally and domestically to
reduce the environmental impacts of shipping. We are increasingly
working closely with stakeholders to ensure we play our part and
take a leadership role.

2020/21 results

Our outputs that support Impact 5

•

We continue to regulate against the International Convention
for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) Annexes
I, II, III and V that aim to prevent pollution from ships caused by
operational or accidental causes

•

We have been working to implement Marine Protection Rule
MARPOL Annex VI (expected to accede early 2022)

•

We are participating in an experience-building phase to monitor
the implementation of the International Convention for the Control
and Management of Ships’ Ballast Water and Sediments

•

We made changes to MOSS audits to provide a more
comprehensive assessment of the approach of operators to
compliance with the marine protection rules.

2.3

Inspection and audit

Page 86

3.1

Maritime incident readiness and response

Page 87

3.2

Marine pollution readiness and response

Page 87

17 Marine oil spill incidents are reported on for information purposes as part of our marine oil spill readiness and response capability.
18 Changed reporting practices occurred in 2015, when oil spill reporting went online. With previous data entered into our system, following a lag in many
cases, this year we revised our oil spill time series, so these results differ from those reported in previous Annual Reports. We now have a richer data
set to work with, and redefined what an oil spill is for reporting purposes as follows: only capturing oil spills entering the water; and occurring offshore
in New Zealand waters as well as within NZ.
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Our progress, achievements
and challenges
MARPOL and ballast water management
New Zealand is party to the International Convention for
the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) Annexes
I, II, III and V that aim to prevent pollution of the sea from
ships caused by operational or accidental causes. MARPOL
Annex VI, to which New Zealand is not yet a party, seeks to
address the impact of air pollution from shipping activities
on human health and environments in and around port
communities. It also focuses on the impacts of emissions
from shipping activities on climate change and ozone layer
depletion (for further information, see the case study on
page 51).
Pests and diseases are sometimes introduced to
New Zealand in the ballast of foreign ships and transported
by ships domestically from region to region. To protect the
marine environment from the spread of these stowaways,
Maritime NZ regulates the management of ballast water
under Part 300 of its Marine Protection Rules. Vessels in
New Zealand waters are also subject to each region’s (and
marina’s) requirements.
New Zealand is currently participating in an experiencebuilding phase to monitor the implementation of the
International Convention for the Control and Management
of Ships’ Ballast Water and Sediments, and to determine
whether the agreed approaches are the correct fit for
operators, states and the environment. This could result
in improvements to the way we do things. We continue
to work with operators to understand their capability and
needs to implement the requirements of the convention and
help them in their compliance.
Other government agencies, such as the Ministry for
Primary Industries, play a critical role in our coordinated
approach to limiting the spread of marine pest species, by
regulating threats like ‘fouling’ – a type of biological growth
– that foreign vessels may have on their hull before entering
New Zealand ports.

Compliance with marine protection rules
Our auditing and inspection processes provide an
assessment of operator compliance with marine protection
rules. Over the year, we made changes to MOSS audits to
provide a more comprehensive assessment of the approach
of operators to compliance with the marine protection rules.
This was supported with guidance to support our frontline staff.
Our PSC programme involves inspections of foreign ships
arriving in New Zealand ports as well as monitoring their
compliance with requirements set down by international
conventions and regulations. New Zealand is a signatory
to the Tokyo MOU, along with other PSC regimes in the
Asia–Pacific region. The purpose of the Tokyo MOU is to
eliminate substandard shipping to promote maritime safety,
to protect the marine environment and to safeguard working
and living conditions on board ships.

We actively monitor the Poor Knights Islands Area to be
Avoided.19 Any ships over 45 metres that enter the area are
contacted immediately and instructed to depart. A preliminary
investigation is undertaken that involves asking for an
explanation for the breach. An infringement notice is issued
to the master of the ship and the operator, if a breach has
occurred. Over the year, 12 incursions occurred resulting
in 24 infringement notices.

International convention change and
implementation
We were involved in the development of MARPOL
amendments to change survey and certification
requirements for unmanned, non-self-propelled barges,
which accommodate these vessels that do not have
machinery and people on board when under way.
Our attendance at the IMO Marine Environment Protection
Committee and the Pollution Prevention and Response
Sub-Committee ensured our contribution to greenhouse
gas negotiations, oversight of amendments to the Ballast
Water Management Convention and the MARPOL
Convention Annexes.
We are actively involved in ongoing work with agencies
such as the Ministry for Primary Industries regarding IMO
measures to reduce marine plastic litter in the oceans.

Improving protection of the marine environment
through the Maritime Operator Safety System
A recommendation from the recent MOSS evaluation is to
scope a project to identify options to bring greater attention
to the marine protection rules, their implementation
and monitoring of compliance with those rules. This will
likely include reviewing the relevance of the rules in their
current form and whether they are being used optimally
in the context of desired outcomes. This project has not
yet started due to other priorities. However, the project
is recognised as an important enabler for driving better
environmental outcomes of New Zealand’s domestic
commercial operations.

Oil spill incidents
This year, 95 oil spill incidents were reported, of which 53
were Tier 1 (industry or offshore spills that are handled by
the operation) and 42 were Tier 2 oil spills (at regional level
spill, where the regional council coordinates and responds).
No national level response events occurred (Tier 3).
No significant environmental effects resulted from any
of the spills.
Increased reporting of oil spills by regional councils,
following advice to start reporting spills from stormwater
discharges that enter the marine environment, helps
explain the increases leading up to a peak in 2018/19
(130 oil spills), with a decrease thereafter.

19 The Area to be Avoided is an internationally agreed International Maritime Organization designation for its natural environmental values to ensure protection
of these areas through the exclusion of ships.
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Figure 8: Oil spill totals by tier, 2014–2021
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Oil response capability
Overall oil response capability is holding up well despite
COVID-19 challenges. Training opportunities, which are
an important focus to maintain capability, were affected by
changing alert levels, however, we trained 59 oil responders
in senior responder and on scene commander roles.
We also held workshops focused on topics such as
planning, response, national oiled wildlife, intelligence,
logistics and geographic information systems futures.
Over the year, 168 people took part in training, workshops
and exercises.
Over 10 contracts have been completed with maritime
operators. These contracts and associated training and
exercises provide assurance that we are able to access
suitable maritime assets for training and response.
In June, a virtual exercise was held with international
experts SMIT Salvage, based on a scenario of a vessel
collision on departure from Wellington Harbour.
We also made strong progress on the draft National Marine
Oil Spill Readiness and Response Strategy and are awaiting
the results from consultation.
We also inspected all regional and national equipment
oil spill stockpiles (see Output 3.2.1 on page 87), and all
regional councils undertook oil spill exercises (see Output
3.2.3 on page 87).
Overall, our national oil spill response capability is effective
and robust, and has a green rating on our Response
Capability Matrix (see appendix 4 on page 152).
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CASE STUDY

Inspecting the Nord Setouchi
Using our powers to protect the marine environment
The vital role that the Port State Control system plays in protecting the New Zealand
environment was clearly shown when a routine ship inspection uncovered the
potential for a significant oil spill from the bulk carrier Nord Setouchi.
Juan Shultz, Maritime NZ Port State
Control Officer, says the inspection of
the vessel that was due to depart from
Northport bound for China carrying a
shipment of logs, raised several red
flags immediately.
“As per our procedures, during the
initial meeting with the master and
chief engineer, I reviewed all of the
vessel’s documents, including the
oil record book, which indicates
how ships bunkers and waste oil
are managed.
“This told me that all of the ship’s
waste oil tanks were full, and upon
further questioning of the chief
engineer, I determined the ship’s
systems used to manage waste oil
and oily water were unable to cope
with the ship’s waste oil production.
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“After considering that vessel had no
intention of landing waste oil ashore,
and the 18-day voyage to China, I
had real fears that the vessel might
have to resort to illicitly discharging
its waste oil into the ocean. A more
detailed inspection of the ship’s systems
uncovered further cause for concern:
there were numerous 200 litre drums
and 20 litre buckets of oil found
throughout the engine room, as all
of the waste oil tanks were full to
the brim, and the engineer in charge
of the oily water separator could not
prove its proper operation.”
These observations, combined with
the knowledge that the vessel did
not have adequate capacity to hold
sludge oil for the intended voyage,
led Juan to escalate the issue to our
Maritime Systems Assurance team
for advice. The team confirmed that

these deficiencies constituted major
non-compliance with MARPOL Annex
I and the vessel should be detained
under MARPOL and section 397
of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
Once the ship had discharged its
sludge oil ashore as required, the
detention was lifted, and the vessel
departed without any undue delay.
Juan says detainment of the Nord
Setouchi proves the value of the
Port State Control system.
“If discharged illicitly into the ocean
that amount of waste oil could have a
significant impact on the environment,
including putting marine animals
at risk.”
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CASE STUDY

MARPOL Annex VI
How engaging with industry helps us build better rules
Maritime NZ has been actively engaging with ship operators and industry
representatives to ensure international rules for preventing air pollution from
ships can be successfully put in place by New Zealand operators.
Later this year, New Zealand will
accede to MARPOL Annex VI. This
is an international convention that
seeks to address the impact of air
pollution from shipping activities on
human health and environments in
and around port communities, and
on climate change and ozone layer
depletion.
Peter Brunt, Deputy Director
Regulatory Systems Design for
Maritime NZ, says “early engagement
with key stakeholders has been a
big part of our approach to ensuring
that this change will be rolled out
successfully; and in a country where
the sea plays such a big part in our
lives, reducing the impact of shipping
on climate change will benefit all
of us.”
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Accession to Annex VI means
New Zealand-flagged ships will need
to comply with new requirements,
and foreign-flagged ships visiting
New Zealand must be compliant
with Annex VI. “Through extensive
early consultation with industry
in 2020, the need to tailor some
requirements to suit New Zealand’s
context became clear. In response
to the industry feedback, the public
consultation document, released in
July, proposed that ships that do not
travel internationally need to comply
with some modified requirements,”
says Peter.
To support operators through this
change, and to make it easier for
them to comply with the new rules,
Maritime NZ will publish information

and guidance before the new
rules come into effect in 2022.
Draft versions of these guides
will be tested with external user
representatives, ship operators and
industry representatives, to ensure
they are tailored to their needs.
Once the rules are implemented,
New Zealand’s obligations will
implement sulphur limits on ships
fuels, energy efficiency requirements,
and controls on emissions of ozonedepleting substances, among others.
By implementing these environmental
measures, New Zealand joins other
jurisdictions, such as the United
States of America and the United
Kingdom, which already have
MARPOL Annex VI in place.
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Impact 6
New Zealand is prepared to respond to
maritime incidents (includes search and
rescue coordination for sea, air and land)
Responding quickly and efficiently to marine incidents, including SAR coordination, is dependent on having in place
good systems and well-trained professional staff. This means we work hard to build internal capabilities across the
organisation, particularly through training exercises. We also need to work well with partner agencies within New Zealand
and internationally. Domestically, this means providing an integrated SAR system (jointly with the New Zealand Search and
Rescue Secretariat and New Zealand Police) that takes advantage of modern technology to save lives.
We coordinate all offshore maritime and aviation SAR missions within New Zealand’s vast SAR region, and we assess the
appropriate responses to activated emergency distress beacons (land, sea and air).
OUTCOMES

Safe

He Haumaru

IMPACT
INDICATOR

DESIRED
INDICATOR TREND

Maritime NZ
response capability
assessed against
directed levels
(see Appendix 4 –
Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability
Matrix, page 152)

Clean
He Mā

Our outputs that support Impact 6
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ASSESSMENT OF
ACHIEVEMENT

Trend

Overall, the Response Capability Matrix remains at amber status as
per the previous two years. While some response capability matrix
elements are assessed as green as per previous years (in particular
for smaller and less complex incidents), we continue to recognise
the challenges in preparing for and responding to major maritime
incidents, which are rare but have potentially severe consequences
and for which response capability is challenged by resource
constraints and the ongoing impacts of COVID-19.

2020/21 results

Assessment of Maritime NZ’s response capability matrix:
•

The Maritime Incident Response Team element is Green.
We continue to focus on improving our incident response
capability and training and support other agencies to ensure
they are well placed to respond to incidents

•

The Search and Rescue element is Green. We are fully capable
of responding efficiently and effectively to all SAR incidents in the
NZSRR

•

The Marine Pollution Response Service element is Green. National
Oil Spill response capability is effective and efficient and leadership
across all functions is effective. MPRS maintains new and effective
larger and robust oil spill equipment and maintains effective
international oil spill relationships with response providers

•

The Security element is Green. Maritime NZ remains connected to
the NZ intelligence community to respond effectively and efficiently
to maritime security events and we are fully engaged in the
NZ National security framework. Port security leadership is
high and all ports are compliant with the Maritime Security Act.

3.1

Maritime incident readiness and response

Page 87

3.2

Marine pollution readiness and response

Page 87

3.3

Search and rescue coordination

Page 87

4.1

Distress beacon systems

Page 88

4.2

Aids to navigation

Page 88

4.3

Distress safety communications

Page 88
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Our progress, achievements
and challenges
Maritime NZ’s overall readiness and response capability
continues to be developed and improved, although challenges
remain to generate the capacity to support training and
exercise activities, given other pressures and priorities
and the ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Notably, leadership capability has been enhanced, with
the addition of four newly trained incident controllers.
The significant investment in a new distress beacon
ground station, to support the detection and location of
beacon alerts in the new global Medium Earth Orbiting
SAR system, continues to pay dividends, with improved
detection coverage, rapid location and improved accuracy
all contributing towards rapid and effective responses.
The website and registration system (interactive portal)
for the new beacons were launched, which is a significant
success and has set a base for future technology and
platform design. The benefits of the new platform include
user self-service, greater efficiency and up-to-date beacon
information that will enable more efficient SAR operations.
The database for the new distress beacons is working
well, and 14,888 distress beacons have been registered.
Ensuring operations run smoothly requires having in place
specialised infrastructure that is dependable. The following
assets were almost always available (outside of occasional
maintenance): ground-based satellite equipment
(see Output 4.1.1 on page 88), the beacons database
(see Output 4.1.2 on page 88), lighthouses (4.2.1),
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day beacons and buoys (see Output 4.2.2 on page 88)
and communication services (see Output 4.3.1 on page 88).
All equipment stockpiles have had their maintenance
completed and been inspected by MPRS in the past
12 months (see Output 3.2.1 on page 87).
Notably, the Maritime Operations Centre was almost always
operational (see Output 4.3.2 on page 88) and RCCNZ was
operational 100 percent of the time (see Output 3.3.1 on
page 87).

Maritime incident response
Training exercises and workshops are central to ensuring
quick and efficient response when needed. Over the year,
14 Maritime Incident Response Team exercises were
completed (see Output 3.1.1 on page 87). Additionally,
12 functional team workshops were held, along with
three exercises, including a large, multi-agency exercise
(Exercise Ironsands II on 2 December 2020), with support
from MoT, Fire and Emergency New Zealand and the
National Emergency Management Agency. Seventy-seven
participants took part, including evaluators, exercise control
and staff from across all Maritime NZ business groups (see
the case study on page 55).
Extensive links with New Zealand partners have been well
sustained through regular connection with key partners and
attendance at the AoG readiness and response meetings.
Overseas links have also been maintained, though remotely.
We have also continued to maintain links with salvage
advisors and other technical experts who would advise
on and support any New Zealand maritime incidents.
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The Maritime Incident Response Team monitored two
incidents during the reporting period:

Search and rescue training: air operators
training workshops

• MV Funing: a log ship that ran aground (due to engine

RCCNZ has developed a one-day workshop designed to
upskill pilots, air crew and new staff on several SAR-related
subjects. The training aims to ensure the SAR community is
working together with a consistent approach to maintaining
standards arising out of the HSWA.

failure) while exiting Tauranga Harbour (6–14 July)
• MV Atlantic Erica: a cargo vessel that had steering gear

problems and was drifting east of Gisborne near Ariel
Banks (3 August).

Search and rescue
This year, RCCNZ undertook aviation, marine and land
SAR responses both within and outside the New Zealand
SAR region that resulted in 51 lives saved,20 199 people
rescued21 and 301 assisted.22 Unfortunately, 25 people
perished.23 The number of lives assisted has increased by
82 percent over the past five years, which is a reflection of
the rise in recreational and adventure-based activities over
this period. This trend is mirrored in the increase in beacon
registrations over time, with all beacon-related cases triaged
through RCCNZ. Since the start of the pandemic, we
have also seen a general rise in on-water activities, which
explains the increases over 2020/21.
Ongoing collaboration with the Australian Maritime Safety
Authority on SAR activity that delivers the emergency
distress beacon location ground station system has been
highly effective. The New Zealand-based site continued
to perform at near 100 percent, resulting in 853 beaconinitiated SAR responses.

The workshops resulted from RCCNZ staff observations
that, with increased demands on helicopter organisations to
provide additional ‘on-call’ helicopter pilots and air crew, the
number of operational air crew and support staff brought in
has tripled, with newer operators needing to be upskilled in
responding to a distress situation.
Over the year, four RCCNZ staff delivered 15 workshops
across the country, with 215 attendees (comprising 157
air crew, 42 police officers, nine from New Zealand Search
and Rescue, six from RCCNZ and one from LandSAR).
Feedback from the course evaluation sheets showed the
training was developed and delivered at the right level.

Marine Pollution Response Service capability
MPRS response capability is effective and efficient.
The National Response Team is capable and staffed
appropriately. Oil spill response leadership has undertaken
recent refresher training and table-top exercises, and the
management and performance of the Incident Management
Team is robust and appropriate to the New Zealand setting.

Figure 9: Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand search and rescue operations
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20 Lives saved refers to situations where, if search and rescue (SAR) agencies had not intervened, life would definitely have been lost.
21 Lives rescued refers to situations where SAR agencies locate and rescue a person or people at risk and return them to a safe location.
22 Lives assisted refers to situations where SAR agencies help a person or people at low risk but who, if left, would be at risk.
23 Lives perished includes non-maritime fatalities, given SAR coordination is across land, sea and air.
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Being prepared
Exercise Ironsands II
Following the Rena grounding, Maritime NZ has made it a priority to build,
test, maintain and refine its ability to respond to significant maritime incidents.
This year, we organised 14 training
workshops and exercises, including
a large exercise called Ironsands II.
Exercises like these are a fundamental
part of training for and maintaining
our readiness to respond to major
maritime events.
Nearly 70 Maritime NZ staff, along
with observers from other agencies,
including the Ministry of Transport,
National Emergency Management
Agency, Fire and Emergency
New Zealand, Department of
Corrections and Ministry of Defence,
took part in the four-hour, highpressure exercise. Participating
teams grappled with the early stages
of a potentially severe maritime
incident in a sensitive natural area.
The scenario involved a bulk iron
ore carrier that had lost power while
moored to a buoy off Taharoa. The
vessel had 70,000 tonnes of wet
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iron sand on-board and deteriorating
weather conditions were approaching,
which meant the vessel was at risk
of dragging the buoy, drifting with
no power and/or running aground.
“The exercise was an extremely
valuable training run for a real event,”
says Neville Blakemore, Manager
Maritime Incident and Response.
“We had a lot of new faces involved
who really brought in expertise from
across the organisation. It was really
great to see everyone join together
for one common cause,” says Nigel
Clifford, Deputy Director, Safety and
Response Systems.
Each team was given tasks to
complete. They had access to
the new Coordinated Incident
Management System (CIMS) role
cards and to a response manager, to
provide guidance on what an incident
controller would be looking for as they

completed their initial assessment and
tasks. Responders worked together
to resolve the situation using the tools
that had been developed, and entered
information into Maritime NZ’s incident
management system.
The exercise also allowed Maritime NZ
to assess the suitability of its national
office as an alternative venue if the
National Crisis Management Centre
were not available.
Exercises like this provide valuable
lessons that let us continually improve
our ability to respond to major events
and strengthen our relationships with
key partner agencies across government.
“Experience collaborating with
other agencies and across teams
is invaluable, and exercises like
these show how an emergency
response requires such cooperation
on so many levels,” says Nigel.
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Impact 7
New Zealand’s maritime regulatory regime
is fit for purpose in each impact area
Our outputs that support Impact 7

Delivering safe, secure and clean
outcomes depends on having in place
maritime rules and other legislation
that are effective and responsive to
changing circumstances, such as the
COVID-19 pandemic.
For this reason, we have a strong focus on developing
timely, evidence-based maritime technical and policy advice.
Our regulatory stewardship role and leadership in the
maritime regulatory system help us shape internationally
credible regulation that is transparent and easy to apply.
We work closely with other organisations in local and central
government, particularly MoT, on policy development. In
partnership with MoT, other work has been identified and
scheduled for future years as part of a pipeline approach
in the new multi-year regulatory programme. This will
include the increased use of outcomes-based rules and
transport instruments. This approach is enabled by recent
amendments to the MTA intended to allow for more
responsive and/or anticipatory regulation to better maintain
the overall regulatory system in line with the principles of
good regulatory stewardship.

Our progress, achievements
and challenges
The maritime regulatory framework is comparatively old,
and many issues need to be addressed in a large and
complex body of rules that have developed over the years.
Keeping pace with these issues with limited resources is a
significant challenge. This requires us to prioritise, with MoT,
the issues that present the greatest risks or opportunities
along with new requirements arising from international
processes.

1.1

Operational maritime policy advice

Page 83

1.2

International obligations and regulations

Page 83

1.3

Parliamentary and government accountability

Page 84

Our policy programme was dominated by:
• working towards implementation of the IMO convention

to reduce air and greenhouse gas emission from ships
(MARPOL Annex VI, see page 51)
• reforming New Zealand’s domestic vessel design,

construction and equipment standards (Part 40 series)
that were introduced in the 1990s. Over time, the rules
have become complex, unwieldy, outdated, and difficult
to administer and comply with. Good progress was made
on the structure of the rules framework, the design of
potential Transport Instruments and further stakeholder
engagement. The project team has continued drafting
outcome-based rules for all 18 technical subject-specific
rules. Strong engagement also occurred with sector
experts to find solutions to complex design, construction
and equipment technical issues.
Over the year, we provided guidance and advice
to, and commented on work by, partner agencies.
Highlights included:
• providing advice on drafting new rules to manage the risk

of drug and alcohol impairment in commercial operations
• working with MoT on maritime and marine offence

regulations
• scoping work relating to navigational safety in pilotage

waters
• working on career pathways for marine engineers,

following the closure of some marine engineering courses
in New Zealand
• contributing to consideration of the regulatory gap relating

to machine guarding (in response to Ministry of Business,
Innovation and Employment-led work)
• aligning to the IMO’s ambitions and working with MoT

to support longer term plans to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from shipping

The challenge has intensified this year, due to the
associated issues and uncertainty of the pandemic and an
increase in demand for policy support on other emerging
AoG issues, for example, climate change.

• contributing to advice being prepared by the Ministry

Despite this, we have made solid progress, completing the
Transport regulatory programme work programme agreed
with MoT (see Output 1.1.2 on page 83).

• contributing to exclusive economic zone

for the Environment on the reform of the Resource
Management Act 1991, ensuring links between the
Resource Management Act and MTA were recognised
decommissioning regulations
• contributing to health and safety reforms to protect

people working with plant and structures.
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We also supported MoT in the passage of the Regulatory
Systems (Transport) Amendment Bill, which provides
legislative tools available to us in future rules reform or
regulatory stewardship activities (see the case study on
page 58).

Rule Part 91 review
We have also started a review of Rule Part 91. This relates
to various navigation safety matters, including boat speed
limits, water towing, access lands, reserving areas for
special purposes, anchoring and obstructions, river safety
rules and flags and signals, and the standards for personal
floatation devices (life jackets) on recreational vessels.
As part of this review, we have begun initial discussions
with stakeholders on the potential to mandate the wearing
of life jackets as a national rule.
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Confined spaces guidance
Investigations into confined-space-related casualties
show that most are caused by poor training and
knowledge of the correct entry procedures, or a disregard
for them. Several fatalities and concerning incidents
stimulated the development of new guidance and an
associated campaign.
The guidance focused on planning entry and working
safely in confined and enclosed spaces on medium and
large ships. The campaign ensured that those who work
in or near a confined space became aware of the dangers,
including correct entry procedures and that confined spaces
should not be entered without following proper precautions,
even in an emergency.
Although some stakeholders were initially concerned about
the effect of the guidance on their operations, clarification
on how it works allayed concerns. Additionally, the
associated campaign produced a ‘plain English’ brochure
and animated video to make the guidance information
easily accessible to a wide audience across the industry.
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CASE STUDY

Regulating better
The Regulatory Systems (Transport) Amendment Bill
In April 2021, the first Regulatory Systems (Transport) Amendment Bill was
enacted. This was a significant milestone that will allow us to become an even
more nimble and responsive regulator.
Peter Brunt, Deputy Director of the
Regulatory Systems Design Group,
says, “this bill creates tools that will
enable future maritime regulations
to be easier to understand, use and
apply, and will help us to streamline
our internal processes. It was the
result of a significant effort by MoT
staff and Maritime NZ staff working
closely together.
“It is a great example of one of the
many significant, but often unseen,
pieces of foundational work that
provide the building blocks for
a really effective maritime system
in New Zealand.”
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The Act includes new exemption
provisions, including giving our
director the power to grant
exemptions based on the type of
vessel. These provide a responsive
and efficient interim solution where
rules requirements are outdated or
no longer fit for purpose, or where
an extraordinary event (such as
COVID-19) makes compliance
with specific rules unreasonable.
The Act enables the Minister or
Governor-General to authorise
specified people (the Director, the
Board or the Secretary of Transport)
to make ‘Transport Instruments’.

This means appropriate operational
and technical matters can be
responded to in a more agile way.
The benefits of this include maritime
regulatory design, where we will
consider using the new instruments
in our upcoming changes to the rules
for vessel design, construction and
equipment requirements (known as
the 40 series rules reform) and in
the development rules to implement
a drug and alcohol testing regime.
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Impact 8
New Zealand’s international influence
increases and interests are promoted for
maritime regulatory and response matters
Our outputs that support Impact 8

1.2

International obligations and regulations

Page 83

New Zealand plays an active role
internationally in developing robust
and responsive maritime regulations.
We represent New Zealand on the
international stage at the IMO and other
bodies, where we highlight our interests
and those of our Pacific neighbours,
who we closely support.

• engaging in International Oil Pollution Committee work to

An important focus is ensuring global maritime regulation
contributes to lifting maritime safety, security and
environmental protection capability both regionally
and globally. This is done by negotiating international
agreements, treaties and conventions.

• having close involvement in the development of systems

We work actively in international forums to address
recreational boating, labour conditions and fishing.
An important example is the Memorandum of
Understanding on Port State Control in the Asia–Pacific
region, known as the Tokyo MOU.
Our other significant international role is helping our Pacific
neighbours build capacity and capability, in partnership
with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade (MFAT).
Working closely with international partners helps ensure
that New Zealand aligns its maritime management with
global best practice.

Our progress, achievements
and challenges
International work programme
Our international programme addressed various issues,
including:
• completing key elements of the Polar Code covering

ensure we can call on the funds if needed
• engaging with Australia, Pacific states and the wider

Asia–Pacific region to find as much common ground
as possible for future cooperation
• supporting Pacific states’ bid for a regional presence

office that will help their administrations deliver on
Member State obligations
• facilitating New Zealand Customs’ advancement

of a new work item on passenger management
and processes in support of SAR obligations
• working with various agencies regarding IMO measures

to reduce garbage in the oceans.
We met all of our international engagement objectives (see
Output 1.2.1 on page 83) in a year greatly disrupted by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Our international reporting obligations
were also all met (see Output 1.2.2 on page 83).
We led preparation and attendance at the Asia–Pacific
Heads of Maritime Safety Authorities, where Maritime NZ
delivered a well-received paper on using futures thinking to
identify regional needs and opportunities, including but not
limited to trends emerging from COVID-19.
We worked closely with government partners, including
MoT, MFAT and New Zealand Customs, including
supporting MoT at the Maritime Experts Group of
Asia–Pacific Economic Cooperation, to push issues such
as supply chain resilience for the Asia–Pacific region,
leveraging New Zealand’s host year.
We also worked with the Australian Maritime Safety
Authority to discuss New Zealand–Australia priorities
for IMO meetings and the preparation and coordinating
positions for the Pacific IMO Coordination Meeting, which
we hosted.

New Zealand’s priority interests, which should reduce
the SAR load in the Antarctic region
• extensively engaging in IMO greenhouse gas reduction

negotiations to align domestic, regional and international
ambition to at least that agreed in the Paris agreement
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Improving safety in the polar regions:
Polar Code II
We have made significant progress towards the
development of new safety standards for a variety of ships
operating in polar waters. In particular, non-mandatory
polar guidelines for fishing vessels of 24 meters in length
and over and pleasure yachts of 300 gross tonnage and
above not engaged in trade were finalised and approved.
The mandatory regulatory framework extending the Polar
Code’s safety of navigation and voyage planning provisions
now covers the full range of vessels that operate in
New Zealand’s SAR region.
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Pacific Maritime Safety Programme (PMSP)
Improving safety of our Pacific neighbours remains a key
priority. Despite COVID-19 related obstacles around travel,
the programme is making headway. A funding extension for
the next phase of the Pacific Maritime Safety Programme
(known as PMSP3) was approved by MFAT for FY 2021/22.
Virtual meetings and training sessions with the Pacific
Island Countries have continued. We are working with
MFAT to advise on support required for the Tonga Marine
Training Institute, and helping MFAT prepare for a possible
travel bubble for Pacific island countries (starting with the
Cook Islands).
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CASE STUDY

Building our influence internationally
Maritime NZ’s international engagement in the time of COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has driven international negotiations into the virtual
meeting era, significantly reducing cost barriers to New Zealand’s participation.
Peter Brunt, Deputy Director
of Regulatory Systems Design
Group, says, “since the start of the
COVID-19 pandemic, our international
engagement team have adapted
to the time zone and technical
challenges of virtual meetings to
promote New Zealand’s best interests
across a variety of important issues.
“Increasing New Zealand’s
representation at IMO meetings has
improved engagement in issues that
really matter to us as a nation – such
as negotiations to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions from shipping,
improving the safety of ships in
Antarctic waters and IMO delivering
technical support for Pacific nations.”
Highlights of our international work
this year include:
• improving maritime safety, security

and environmental outcomes in the
Pacific. The Pacific Maritime Safety
Programme was funded to work
on the ground to improve maritime
outcomes with Pacific nations.
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In parallel, we are supporting the
establishment of a permanent
International Maritime Organization
office in the Pacific focusing on
Member States’ implementation of
international maritime instruments.
By taking a collaborative approach,
the Pacific region will be better
placed to address issues of regional
significance, such as supply chain
resilience and economic recovery
from COVID-19
• helping to broker global maritime

issues. Our staff are well respected
internationally and, over the year,
have helped coordinate two
important issues:
– improvements to safety in polar
water (Polar Code) where we
have a significant interest in
Antarctic search and rescue

• supporting other agencies, for

example, the New Zealand Customs
Service to initiate work on ship
passenger safety and security
delivered jointly by the World
Customs Organization and the IMO
• being involved in ongoing negotiations

(alongside other government
agencies) to meet the international
commitment to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions from shipping by at
least half by 2050. New Zealand is
focused on ensuring all measures
are applied universally and
achieve the agreed goals without
disproportionately affecting nations
far from markets that are reliant on
shipping to carry imports and exports.

– a review of inspection guidance
for freight containers carrying
dangerous goods where
New Zealand has a particular
interest in biosecurity measures
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2018–2022 Statement of Intent
This year’s Annual Report was prepared using the 2020/21 SPE, which aligns to
our 2020 refreshed strategic framework. In order to meet Public Finance Act 1989
reporting requirements, we have included below an assessment of measures
related to the previous 2018–2022 SOI.

System outcomes results
SAFE – Our maritime transport system supports, encourages and requires
strong safety standards and behaviours
DESIRED TREND

INDICATOR

TARGET

RESULT

MORE INFO

The average annual
rate of maritime
fatalities and serious
injuries consistently
trends downwards
over time

Annual rate
of maritime fatalities
and harms for each
maritime sector per
100,000
NZ population

Reduce maritime
sector fatalities and
serious harm injuries
by 25% by 202124

Maritime fatalities between 2014/15
and 2020/21:

Impact 1
(see page 28)

•

Recreational fatalities have fluctuated with a
high of 32 in 2014/15, a low of 11 in 2017/18
and reducing to 15 in 2020/21 at an average
of 17.7 over the last three years.

•

Recreational fatalities per 100,000 population
went from 0.70 to 0.29 (58% reduction).

•

Commercial fatalities have remained static
with between 4 and 7 incidents each year,
with the exception of 11 in 2016/17.

•

Commercial fatalities per 100,000 population
went from 0.09 to 0.078 (13% reduction).

Notified commercial serious harm
between 2014/15 and 2020/21:
•

Notified commercial serious harm has
fluctuated over the last seven years with 37
in 2014/15, remaining relatively steady until a
peak of 55 in 2019/20 and a reduction to 22
in 2020/21, the lowest within the seven year
period.

•

Notified commercial serious harm per
100,000 population went from 0.81 to 0.43
(47% reduction).

Overall, combined maritime fatalities
and notified commercial serious harm
between 2014/15 and 2020/21:
•

Reduced from 73 to 41, a decrease of 44%

•

Maritime fatalities reduced from 36 to 19, a
decrease of 47.2%

•

Notified commercial serious harm reduced
from 37 to 22, a decrease of 40.5%

24 For information on how we report serious harm, see text box on page 29.
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SECURE – Our maritime transport system protects people and goods from
unlawful actions as they move across domestic and international waters
DESIRED TREND

INDICATOR

TARGET

RESULT

The New Zealand
maritime system
is recognised as
secure by key
trading partners

Annual number
of security incidents
reported in
New Zealand
waters

No security incidents Zero incidents
are reported in
New Zealand waters

MORE INFO

Impact 4
(see page 44)

CLEAN – Our maritime environment is clean and protected
DESIRED TREND

INDICATOR

TARGET

RESULT

MORE INFO

The number of
pollution incidents
impacting on our
marine environment
reduces over time

Annual number
of oil spill incidents
reported in
New Zealand
waters

Reduce oil spill
incidents by 15%
by 2021

Between 2018/19 and 2020/21:

Impact 5
(see page 47)
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•

The number of oil spills reduced from 130
in 2018/19 to 95 in 2020/21, a decrease
of 27%.
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Measures of success and assessment
of achievement
Goal: Regulation that is relevant and robust
Impact: Our international engagement ensures global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

Prioritised contribution at international
meetings and fora, where we can influence
international outcomes to reflect New Zealand’s
interests

INDICATOR MET

Impact 8: New Zealand’s international influence
increases and interests are promoted for maritime
regulatory and response matters (see page 59).

Impact: Our policy advice ensures maritime safety, security and marine environmental
protection regulation is fit-for-purpose.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

The transport regulatory programme is
appropriately prioritised to ensure regulation
is fit-for-purpose

INDICATOR MET

Impact 7: New Zealand’s maritime regulatory
regime is fit for purpose in each impact area (see
page 56).
Output measure 1.1.2 (see page 83)

Impact: Government initiatives are informed by an awareness of maritime safety,
security and marine environmental protection interests.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

Our engagement and policy advice improves
external stakeholders’ understanding of safety,
security and environmental protection interests

INDICATOR MET

Our role in the AoG COVID-19 response focused
on providing advice on maritime safety and security
matters at ports and vessels including policy and
procedural advice to other agencies.
We worked with MFAT to deliver the Pacific
Maritime Safety Programme to enhance the
maritime safety of our pacific neighbours.
We worked across government to address
greenhouse gas emissions from ships and
the implementation of MARPOL Annex XI.
For more, see Impact 7: New Zealand’s maritime
regulatory regime is fit for purpose in each impact
are (see page 56)
Our COVID-19 response continues (see page 20)
Pacific Maritime Safety Programme (see page 60)
MARPOL Annex VI (see page 51)

Impact: We continually assess our performance to inform and improve regulation and compliance
practice that meets regulatory stewardship expectations.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

By applying good regulatory stewardship,
the effectiveness and efficiency of rules
and regulations will improve over time

INDICATOR MET

Impact 7: New Zealand’s maritime regulatory
regime is fit for purpose in each impact area
(see page 56)
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Goal: Risk-focused, responsive compliance practices that reduce harm in the
maritime system
Impact: Our compliance strategies and campaigns support, encourage and require commercial
operators to take responsibility for the safety of their maritime operations.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

A reducing risk profile across commercial
operators and vessels over time

INDICATOR MET

MOSS operator risk profiles have reduced over time.
In terms of ensuring vessel safety over time, note
that a MOSS audit includes MNZ checking vessel
details and requirements including maintenance of
the vessel, survey requirements and compliance
with relevant maritime rules.
MOSS operators must ensure that all vessels in the
operation have a current Certificate of Survey and
ensuring that all the vessels in the operation are safe.
For more, see Impact 2: Maritime operators and
recreational boating users’ safety culture and
behaviour improves over time – Risk Profile results
(see page 37)

Impact: Our national and local recreational boating campaigns promote a safety culture that leads
to a positive behavioural change.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

Safety equipment is increasingly carried and
used appropriately by recreational boaties over
time

INDICATOR PARTIALLY MET

Survey results suggest some improvements in
boatie behaviours over time, but a lack of progress
in others. For this reason we believe we partially met
this indicator.

An increasing proportion of survey respondents
report positive attitudes and changes in
behaviour as a result of safety messages

For more, see Impact 2: Maritime operators and
recreational boating users’ safety culture and
behaviour improves over time – Ipsos survey results
and No Excuses (on water campaign) (see page 36)

Impact: We identify risk themes within specific maritime sectors to better target
compliance interventions.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

A reducing number of reported incidents within
specific maritime sectors over time

INDICATOR PARTIALLY MET

While we saw a reduction number of notified
incidents over the last two years, we do not have
sufficient evidence of longer-term change due to a
lack of data. For this reason we believe we partially
met this indicator.
For more, see Impact 1: ‘New Zealand’s maritime
fatality and serious harm rates reduce over time and
Section 31 notifications (see pages 28 to 31)

Impact: Competent capable people are working in the maritime industry.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

All commercial vessels are crewed by people
holding the appropriate certification

INDICATOR MET

Impact 3: New Zealand has competent and
capable people working in the maritime industry
(see page 41)
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Goal: Response capability that is well-prepared, integrated and effectively deployed
to resolve emergency incidents
Impact: Our fit-for-purpose integrated maritime incident response system provides effective
readiness and response services for national maritime incidents, minimising social, environmental
and economic harm.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

The Maritime Incident Response Team element
of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix
(set out in Appendix 4) is reported as amber or
better with any remedial action plans in place

INDICATOR MET

Impact 6: New Zealand is prepared to respond
to maritime incidents (includes search and rescue
coordination for sea, air and land) (see page 52)

Impact: We operate an efficient and effective national search and rescue coordination service within
an integrated search and rescue system (jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and NZ Police) which takes
full advantage of modern technology to save lives.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

The Search and Rescue element of Maritime
NZ’s Response Capability Matrix (set out in
Appendix 4) is reported as amber or better
with any remedial action plans in place

INDICATOR MET

Impact 6: New Zealand is prepared to respond
to maritime incidents (includes search and rescue
coordination for sea, air and land) (see page 52)

Impact: We have a comprehensive pollution preparedness and response service that minimises
the environmental and economic impact of any oil spill.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

The Marine Pollution Response Service
element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability
Matrix (set out in Appendix 4) is reported as
amber or better with any remedial action plans
in place

INDICATOR MET

Impact 6: New Zealand is prepared to respond
to maritime incidents (includes search and rescue
coordination for sea, air and land) (see page 52)

Impact: We have an internationally linked, intelligence-led security system that assures protection
for all in New Zealand’s maritime area of responsibility to manage threats before they eventuate.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

The Security element of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix (set out in
Appendix 4) is reported as amber or better
with any remedial action plans in place

INDICATOR MET

Impact 6: New Zealand is prepared to respond
to maritime incidents (includes search and rescue
coordination for sea, air and land) (see page 52)

Goal: A results-driven and resilient organisation, working collaboratively for success
Impact: We have an integrated information base that supports quality decision making.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

Internal access, use and integration of core
information holdings to support decision
making increases over time

INDICATOR MET

We are leveraging technology and developing our
digital skills to create, use and share high-quality
data, information and insights to support timely
decision-making. Projects underway include
implementing Power BI to internal consumers and
the NZSBF and progressing a ‘data lake’ (Project
Nimbus) to enable cross-system insights through
access to internal and external data.
For more, see Building our information and
intelligence capability (see page 77)
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Impact: We are a resilient, healthy, capable organisation, with people who are valued and enabled
to sustainably deliver high quality regulatory, compliance and response services.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

We compare favourably to the wider public
sector for staff engagement and staff retention

INDICATOR PARTIALLY MET

Our length of service and turnover are less
favourable than the public sector 2020 average (an
updated average for 2021 has not been provided).
There is also no benchmark staff engagement figure
for comparison, but our internal annual survey
results indicate the highest rate of staff engagement
in years. For this reason we believe we partially
achieved the indicator.
For more see: Organisational health and capability
(see infographic page 69)

Impact: We collaborate with other agencies to share resources and build capability that improves
government services.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

Maritime NZ is regarded as a valued partner
acting proactively and collaboratively in its
cross agency/sector/All-of-Government
participation efforts/engagements

INDICATOR MET

Our role in the AoG COVID-19 response and
recovery has meant we have worked collaboratively
and closely with other government departments to
support the All-of-Government effort.
We are working closely with Worksafe NZ on
joint port assessments and the sharing of training
materials and modules, as part of G-Reg.
We work closely with MFAT and our pacific island
partners to build maritime safety and search and
rescue capability in the Pacific islands.

Impact: Our business processes drive better service making use of technology to minimise
regulatory burden.
MEASURE OF SUCCESS

ASSESSMENT OF ACHIEVEMENT

SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

An increasing proportion of sector
stakeholders rate the timeliness and ease of
interactions with Maritime NZ as very good or
excellent

INDICATOR PARTIALLY MET

Based on information and feedback from the
sector, we progressed several initiatives to
improve the timeliness and ease of interactions
with stakeholders, such as the Certification
Transformation Project.

We increasingly make use of technology and
information internally to deliver services

We implemented an online Beacons Portal for
beacon owners to register and update their details.
Several projects are underway to support greater
use of technology internally such as predictive
risk modelling, and development of a section 31
notifications dashboard.
However, as no sector engagement surveys were
run in 2020/21 we cannot quantify stakeholder
satisfaction, hence the partial achievement rating
for this measure.
For more see: Impacts 1 and 2 (see pages 28 to
40) and Building our information and intelligence
capability (see page 77)
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Organisational health
and capability
Te haumaru me ngā āheinga o te tari
Who we are: workforce characteristics
As at 30 June 2021 our workforce comprised 274 full-time equivalent staff, with a headcount of 330. Forty-seven percent of
staff are female, which is lower than the 2020 public service average of 62 percent. This reflects that the maritime industry
from which we recruit specialist technical maritime roles has a smaller proportion of female participants.
We actively review role requirements to ensure that they do not reflect unconscious bias.

Our workforce
Numbers

Gender

Board
60%

Permanent staff

FTE

HEADCOUNT

256

259

18

18

Fixed-term employees
Temps and contractors

274

40%

67%

33%

Other 0%

Other 0%

Management

All employees

53

Total

Executive

72%

330

28%

53%

Female

47%

Male
Other 0%

Other 0%

Ethnicity
Sixty-nine percent of our staff are European:
Figure 10: Permanent staff ethnicity
13%

9%

4% 3% 2%

0%

69%

25%
Not stated

Asian

Māori

50%
Pacific peoples

75%

100%

Middle Eastern/Latin American/African (MELAA)

European

Age distribution
Sixty percent of our staff (FTE) are aged between 40 and 59, with our average age being 46:
46 – average

Figure 11: Permanent staff age distribution
8%

22%

0%

32%
25%

20–29

30–39

40–49

28%
50%

50–59

60–69

9%

75%

1%
100%

70+

Occupation
Fifty-four percent of our staff work in operational roles, followed by management (19%) and corporate roles (15%):
Figure 12: Permanent staff occupation grouping
54%
0%

25%
Operational
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7%

Administration

50%
Corporate

Management

15%

19%
75%

Policy

3%

2%
100%

Executive
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Our people by the numbers

84%

employee
engagement

5.9

years average
length of service

46

years
average age

83% in 2019
The 2020/21 result is the highest
Engagement Index rating ever
recorded in the years we have
run this survey (see page 75).

For permanent staff, this is less than
the Te Kawa Mataaho Public Service
Commission Public Service Workforce
Data 2020 average tenure of 8.5 years.

New recruits are on average younger
than our existing workforce. The average
age of those newly recruited into
Maritime NZ in the year to 30 June 2021
was 41 years, compared with 47 years
for the existing workforce.

13.1%

24.4

92

staff
turnover

10.2% in 2019/20
Thirty-four permanent employees left in
2020/21due to career advancement,
working environment, remuneration
family reasons/moving overseas,
and retirement. This is 3 percent
higher than the most recent Te Kawa
Mataaho Public Service Workforce
Data 2020 benchmark.

57

health and safety
event notifications

122 in 2019/20
The reported health and safety
notifications have decreased in
the current year.
This is because in 2019/20 an
awareness campaign, a new online
health and safety system and a
campaign of virtual occupational
therapy (OT) workstation assessments
during the COVID-19 lockdown saw a
large increase in notifications.
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average hours
of learning

Average hours of online and
in-person learning initiatives
per permanent employee
We actively invest in the development of
our workforce by holding centrally run
regular workshops and providing online
learning options. Learning spans a wide
range of activities, including leadership
and management, regulatory practice
(including New Zealand Certificate in
Regulatory Compliance), orientation
and specialist skills. Individual business
units are also budgeted to provide
additional training as needed.

12%

near
misses

Incidents reported as a
proportion of all reported
accidents and incidents
16% in 2019/20
The ratio of total accidents and
incidents (57) reported greatly
exceeds the number of near-miss (7)
reporting incidents.
We are focusing on increasing the
knowledge and usage of the online
health and safety system over the next
financial year.

promotions and
secondments
2019–20 2020–21

Promotion/career
progression/redeployment 49
Internal secondments
44
External secondments
2

34
51
7

We actively seek to support staff
development, through secondment
opportunities and the promotion of
staff based on merit.
Seven secondments were to external
agencies, such as Ministry of Health and
Managed Isolation and Quarantine, to
support the wider All-of-Government
COVID-19 response. Our COVID-19
response team accounted for many
internal secondments.

6.4

average
days lost

Average days lost due
to sickness, accidents,
domestic leave
6.70 in 2019/20
This is less than the Te Kawa Mataaho
Public Service Workforce Data 2020
average of 7.6 days.
A small number of staff are on longerterm sick leave. These situations are
individually managed in consultation
with the line manager.
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Building our people and leadership capability
We are focused on building our manager, leader and staff development. We are
also working to promote a diverse, inclusive and equal modern workplace and
culture, one that enables positive working relationships and enhances our success
as a regulatory, compliance and response agency.
Our progress, achievements
and challenges
The COVID-19 pandemic has provided a few hurdles for
our people capability-building programme. Our learning
and development function, which was formally established
in 2020, made good progress, despite face-to-face
workshops being delayed by changing alert levels. Similarly,
our ability to source the best workers was affected by a
tight labour market linked to border closures, which limited
the pool of applicants on working visas.
We’ve maintained our focus on health and safety at
work and staff wellbeing. The anxiety and stress created
by the constant ‘new normal’ means staff resilience is
continually challenged.
We’ve made significant progress in recruiting vacant
positions, with the remaining frontline and service delivery
roles established through the Future State 2 organisational
review.25 This will allow us to further deliver the benefits from
our previous funding review.

Developing our people
All new staff, people managers and emerging leaders
undertake structured learning programmes, and we’ve
managed to deliver a lot to make our staff succeed.

Our onboarding programme
Our staff onboarding programme includes a mix of online
core learning modules on Te Waka Ako (the learning canoe),
our learning and development system. Modules covered
include maritime legislation, Te Tiriti o Waitangi, code of
conduct, health and safety, information and cyber security,
and role-specific courses.
Online learning is complemented by a two-day group,
in-person orientation workshop, held in Wellington, with
other new starters. Our approach is designed to ensure
staff feel supported from day one, and receive a consistent
experience, no matter what their role is or which part of our
organisation they are joining.
Furthermore, all staff must complete the six modules of the
‘G-Reg’ New Zealand Certificate in Regulatory Compliance
(Core Knowledge)26 and attend a follow-up workshop after
completion of each module.

Developing leadership
We identified management and leadership development as
an important priority. We continue to develop and deliver
programmes to allow managers and leaders to broaden
and expand their management and leadership toolkit in an
increasingly fast-paced and challenging work environment.
Our Management@MNZ programme is mandatory for
people managers and consists of three two-day workshops
over six months, with action learning groups between
workshops. It uses a blend of theory, research, leading
practice and participant experience. It is designed to give a
thorough grounding in the skills and knowledge to become
a confident and effective people leader in the New Zealand
public sector. In 2020/21, we ran two programmes with
33 participants.
We also ran a Coaching for Performance Conversations
course for 20 staff, which is now a core requirement for
all managers.

25 A comprehensive high-level organisational two-phase review of Maritime NZ. This work encompassed strategic direction, structure, systems, staff, skills and
shared values, with the aim of ensuring alignment between them and achieving our organisational vision (at that time) of supporting a viable, vibrant maritime
community.
26 For more, see: https://g-reg.govt.nz/qualifications/core-knowledge/
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Our leaders of tomorrow
The Emerging Leaders programme
At Maritime NZ, we believe our people are our biggest asset. As such, we strive
to invest in their ongoing development so they can reach their full potential. Since
2019, we have run the Emerging Leaders programme for staff identified as having
leadership potential. The programme is a core part of Maritime NZ’s Management
and Leadership Development Programme.
Deb Ebbett, Manager Learning and
Development, says many staff who
have completed the programme have
gone on to put their leadership skills
to good use.

• acquiring a management and

“This programme can be a real kick
start for people’s careers – many
of our graduates go on to become
successful leaders – either here at
Maritime NZ or at other organisations.”

• career planning and action learning.

The programme is designed to provide
participants with an understanding of:
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leadership mind set
• personal working style preferences

In 2020/21, we ran two programmes
with 31 participants. Since 2019,
45 staff have completed the programme.

• developing and testing leadership skills

The programme uses a blend of
theory, research and leading practice
and is delivered over three months
through two two-day workshops and
a one-day workshop.
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Committing to Papa Pounamu
Te kōkiri i te kanorau me te ngākau tuwhera
puta noa i te Ratonga Tūmatanui: Driving
diversity and inclusion across the public service
Established in 2017, the Papa Pounamu programme27 is a Public Service
Commission initiative to bring together diversity and inclusion practices across
the public service. Papa Pounamu has five priority focus areas, each of which
we are implementing to create a positive impact across the organisation.
As an organisation, we remain committed to these priorities.
During 2020/21, areas of achievement included the following.
• Addressing bias and discrimination: we undertook

actions and initiatives supporting diversity and
inclusiveness within the organisation by:
– ensuring position descriptions and advertisements are
reviewed at the time of recruitment to make sure they
do not contain bias and discrimination
– leading a gender equality working group that includes
a cross-section of people from throughout the
organisation that works to support inclusiveness
and equality initiatives

• Developing relationships that are responsive

to diversity: we are seeking to strengthen our
responsiveness to diversity by building considerations
into organisation-wide initiatives such as the flexible work
project that is under development.
• Supporting and engaging with employee-led

networks: we have an open and inclusive organisational
culture that welcomes feedback from its people. The
Executive Team and Chief Executive hold regular virtual
events to inform staff across the organisation, including
regional staff.

– reviewing the overall salary structure from a gender
equality perspective in a moderation exercise forms
part of the annual remuneration review process.
A gender equality review of proposed salary is
also undertaken at the time a role is offered, with
comparative salary, gender and length of service
information provided for roles in the relevant salary band
– having an Executive Team moderation exercise as a
standard part of our performance review process at
organisational level.
• Strengthening cultural competency: we acknowledge

we need to focus more on building our cultural
competency and, over the coming year, plan to start
work on our Te Ao Māori Strategy. This intends to lift and
maintain our internal capability and performance around
how we engage with our Māori staff, and in how we
support the Crown in its relationship with Māori under
Te Tiriti o Waitangi through our relationships and
engagement with Māori externally.
• Building inclusive leadership: we have a leadership

charter that forms an important reference framework
for guiding management decision-making. The main
principles of strength, unity and direction are built into
the organisation’s operating principles and management
position descriptions.

27 For more, see: https://www.publicservice.govt.nz/our-work/diversity-and-inclusion/papa-pounamu-driving-diversity-and-inclusion-across-thepublic-service/
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Being a good employer
We embrace the principles of being a ‘good employer’ that the Human Rights Commission recommends.28
A summary below shows our activities this year against the seven elements of being a ‘good employer’.29
ELEMENT

OUR ACTIVITY THIS YEAR

LEADERSHIP,
ACCOUNTABILITY
AND CULTURE

• Focus on people capability including a comprehensive range of learning and development
opportunities including secondments and management opportunities, as well as formal,
informal and on-the-job learning.
• Focus on people management capability including core management and leadership
programmes, coaching and action learning.

RECUITMENT,
SELECTION
AND INDUCTION

• Committed to diversity and inclusion, the elimination of conscious and unconscious bias,
and equal employment opportunities.
• Specialist recruitment staff coordinate a transparent hiring process to ensure
we meet legislative requirements and select the best people for the right position.
• Accredited employer with Immigration New Zealand.
• New staff undertake our six month on-boarding programme.

EMPLOYEE
DEVELOPMENT,
PROMOTION AND EXIT

• G-Reg core regulatory practice knowledge qualification (Level 3) mandatory for all staff.
• Started alignment of internal learning initiatives to the G-Reg Operational Knowledge and
Operational Practice qualifications (Level 4).
• Focus on providing role and individual learning and development opportunities (particularly
frontline staff) with the on-going development and implementation of learning initiatives,
internal secondment opportunities and selection processes that are transparent and
equitable. All promotions are based on merit.
• Framework for performance development and remuneration.

FLEXIBILITY AND
WORK DESIGN

• Policies and MNZ@Work project support flexible working arrangements, including flexible
hours, and working from home or alternative locations, recognising the flexibility required
to support family and other obligations, embedding a culture of flexi-work for all staff.
• Encourage staff to take annual leave in the year it is accrued and to manage their
hours to maintain wellbeing.
• Professional ergonomic workstation assessments are undertaken for all new and existing
staff, and recommendations for purchase of ergonomic equipment are actioned.

REMUNERATION,
RECOGNITION
AND CONDITIONS

• Job evaluation processes include on-going review of position descriptions to ensure
they accurately reflect the work being done.
• Independent specialist provider carries out job evaluations for new or significantly
amended roles.
• Remuneration structure is reviewed annually and is referenced against market information
by an external organisation with expertise in this field.

HARRASMENT
AND BULLYING
PREVENTION

• Zero tolerance of bullying, ensuring matters are dealt with promptly and appropriately.
• Robust anti-harassment policy and procedures in place with trained anti-harassment
support people available.
• Policies and procedures provide guidance to staff available through our intranet, including the
Code of Conduct, aligned to the wider State Services Standards of Integrity and Conduct.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
ENVIRONMENT

• Committed to providing a healthy and safe working environment supported by our health,
safety and wellbeing (HSW) policy statement, a range of associated HSW policies and
procedures, and HSW training for staff.
• Mandatory online module about health and safety as well as modules about the Health
and Safety at Work Act 2015 as part of the on-boarding programme.
• HSW Committee, chaired by the Director and Chief Executive, includes representatives
from all levels and groups across the organisation and from the Public Service Association.
• Actively encourage HSW reporting, with particular focus on pain and discomfort reporting
to manage the HSW risk associated with workstation ergonomics especially as more
people work from home. Reports are followed up promptly with a specialist occupational
therapist assessment.
• Confidential Employee Assistance Programme available to staff.
• Annual flu immunisation available for staff.

28 For more, see: https://www.hrc.co.nz/resources/business/reporting-crown-entities-good-employers/what-good-employer/
29 For more, see: https://www.hrc.co.nz/resources/business/reporting-crown-entities-good-employers/employment-elements/
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The MNZ@Work project
A new way of thinking about how, where and when we work
This year Maritime NZ launched the MNZ@Work project, which builds on the
lessons and insights gained during the COVID-19 lockdown with the goal of
reimagining and resetting our vision for how, where and when we work.
The MNZ@Work strategy incorporates
a flexible-by-default approach aligned
to Public Service Commission
guidance designed to improve gender
equity. The strategy was co-designed
in partnership with our people and
looks at how people and culture,
workplaces, and technology can
enable our vision of being an inclusive
and diverse organisation.
According to Tere Scotney, Programme
Manager for MNZ@Work, “Implementing
MNZ@Work will continue to be a
collaborative journey. Putting in
place the right tools and support and
understanding the required investment
in our workspaces, has called for a
huge effort involving a lot of teams
across Maritime NZ. It’s not just about
where we work but how. Ongoing
engagement across the organisation
is vital to the success of the
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project. A Champions Network and
Implementation Advisory Group are
working hard to share updates and to
consider the variety of needs of our
staff across the organisation, including
our different offices. We are always
learning more as we journey further
into implementation and continue to
tweak things as required.”
As leases for existing offices
expire, Maritime NZ will use these
opportunities to reconfigure its office
spaces to better suit new ways of
working. These new workspaces
will be known as neighbourhoods
and zones. Two regional hubs
have already been successfully
reconfigured, in line with MNZ@Work
principles, and work is under way to
identify a suitable property solution
for our national office in Wellington.
Other tangible outputs of the project

include encouraging a shift towards
flexi-desking (non-allocated seating),
a reduction of paper and storage use,
providing ‘Grab and Go’ emergency
bags for staff, and the roll-out of new
ergonomic sit–stand desks across all
floors of our national office.
As we continue to implement
MNZ@Work, we expect to realise
many benefits to our workplace
culture, including attracting the best
talent, maximising productivity and
building a more diverse and inclusive
workplace. All MNZ@work activity
reflects our guiding principles.
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Staff engagement
We are committed to providing a positive and productive work environment
to allow people to excel. Our intention is to be a resilient, healthy, capable
organisation that values and energises its people to deliver high-quality services.
The effectiveness of this approach is evident in this year’s engagement survey, in which our staff achieved an overall
engagement of 84 percent. Other significant findings from the survey are shown below.

Integrity
Integrity

Commitment

Respect

“I believe in what
the organisation
is trying to
accomplish.” 93%

“This organisation
cares for the
wellbeing of
95%
its people.”

“I know how my work
contributes to the
success of the
organisation.” 94%

“I am proud to
work for this
organisation.”

“The person I report
to treats people
with respect.”
93%

“I have the freedom
and flexibility
to do my job
94%
effectively.”

90%

Integrity
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Building our health, safety
and wellbeing culture
We strive to lead the maritime domain in embedding a strong health, safety and
wellbeing (HSW) culture. To achieve a strong culture, we must:
• ensure our people are engaged and committed to health

and safety and have opportunities to participate
• ensure our people have the knowledge and skills to be able

to assess and manage the risks they face in their work
• collaborate with others to effect change and system-wide

health and safety outcomes.
We have robust HSW policies in place that are reviewed
regularly to keep pace with changes, such as those
presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. The HSW
Committee, chaired by our director and chief executive
and comprising members from across the organisation,
meets regularly to drive activities and improvements in our
HSW culture.

Measuring progress: our HSW survey
We ran a survey of our HSW management system in
July 2020. All Maritime NZ people, including staff, Board
members and individual contractors participated, with
83 percent of participants finding our approach to be
favourable.30 This shows a strong level of support for
and confidence in our organisational HSW management
system. Interestingly, 60 percent of respondents felt health
and safety was more important than a year earlier, which

reflects increased awareness of the importance of HSW
through difficult and uncertain times. The survey results also
provided helpful indications of focus areas to drive further
improvements. Other findings included:
Over the year, we have undertaken a range of HSW
activities, including:
• providing COVID-19 vaccinations to frontline workers
• holding HSW Committee elections to select health and

safety representatives. We received a good response to
the election, which ensured sufficient cross-organisational
representation
• recommencing Red Cross exclusive Maritime NZ

essential first aid training
• conducting specialist HSWA training, run together with

the Civil Aviation Authority
• running a mental health awareness week with a theme of

‘reimagine wellbeing together’
• contracting Benestar, a specialist employee assistance

provider, to provide confidential counselling and support
for our people.

30 This survey was based on the SafePlus framework, and covered the three core elements of the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015: leadership, worker
engagement and risk management. SafePlus is a voluntary, health and safety performance improvement toolkit for businesses. It defines what good health
and safety looks like, above minimum legal compliance. SafePlus is a framework for assessing an organisation’s overall health and safety performance. It has
been adopted by many New Zealand organisations, including Maritime NZ, and represents a fresh way of looking at health and safety. For more, see:
https://www.worksafe.govt.nz/managing-health-and-safety/businesses/safeplus/

Figure 13: Highest rated responses to our health, safety and wellbeing survey
Maritime NZ has effective governance and leadership in health and safety
89%

8%

3%

Maritime NZ ensures its people have the skills and equipment they need to carry out their job safely
89%

6%

5%

7%

4%

Maritime NZ provides the resources for people to work safely
89%
Maritime NZ has a vision for health and safety
91%

7%

2%

Maritime NZ works to support a healthy work environment
93%
Favorable
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Neutral

6%

Unfavorable
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

1%

Building our information and
intelligence capability
Our progress, achievements
and challenges
To be a more effective organisation, we need to develop,
maintain and grow our ability to create, use and share highquality data and intelligence. Our intent is to operate as an
intelligence-led, evidence-based, risk-focused organisation
that makes effective and efficient decisions. This ability
will allow us, and those we work with, to make accurate
and timely decisions that improve the safety, security and
cleanliness of New Zealand’s maritime system.
Additional funding from the 2020/21 Fuel Excise Duty
funding for recreational boating safety is playing a significant
role in our capacity development.
We are leveraging technology and developing our digital
skills to create, use and share high-quality data, information
and insights to support timely decision-making. In particular,
we are developing:
• an operators’ predictive risk model, an action arising from

the recent MOSS evaluation. This will involve integrating
internal and external data to enrich the predictive power
of the data
• a ‘data lake’ (Project Nimbus) to enable cross-system

insights through access to internal and external data;
the intent is to evolve reporting functions to proactive
analytical functions
• a section 31 notifications dashboard
• greater use of Power BI to internal consumers and the

NZSBF
• a research programme with WorkSafe NZ, MoT and

NZSBF.

Improved technology
We recognise the importance and interconnectivity of
information communications and technology systems
integration, applications development, data analytics and
mobility. We are making many improvements in these areas,
particularly in retiring manual systems and processes to
allow our staff to work more efficiently.
The early part of the year focused on supporting the
organisation out of lockdown and back into the office, with
a significant effort directed at hardware and infrastructure,
including server upgrades, laptop replacement and security
posture. This had implications for the resourcing of critical
projects. However, since then, we have made strong
progress on several projects, including:
• the launch of the interactive Maritime NZ RCCNZ

beacons portal. This Agile project implemented an
integrated distress beacon management system,
including database redevelopment and a client portal.
We expect strong safety gains from this user-friendly
system, which makes it easier for outdoor enthusiasts
to enter details of their beacons before leaving home
• a new recruitment management system (Snaphire) was

successfully implemented, involving the launch of a
refreshed Maritime NZ careers website page, streamlining
of online approvals, increased functionality for hiring
managers and provision of online on-boarding for new
starters
• updates to Triton, our regulatory and compliance

management information system, including systematising
the workflow for non-MOSS Operator Safety Certificate
applications. This means operators who were previously
managed outside Triton were brought into our system,
giving Triton a complete view of operations, including
certificates, audits, inspections and investigations
• capturing the business requirements for Maritime NZ’s

future Financial Management Information System (FMIS)
• completion of Triton–Customer Relationship Management

integration, which took significant data cleansing efforts
before implementation
• development of digital processes in support of refunds

and waiver applications, which was given priority because
of the consideration of COVID-19 impacts on our
domestic operators.
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Maintaining our financial sustainability
Our progress, achievements
and challenges

financial stability, such as drawing on our reserves,
to let us deliver our core work programmes.

Our biggest challenge remains medium-term financial
stability, following a loss of funding from third-party levies,
fees and charges in the COVID-19 environment. With
the maritime border still closed to cruise vessels, there is
no reprieve from the significant loss of levy revenue from
this source.

We now have more financial certainty and have Crown
liquidity funding in place for revenue loss. The Minister of
Transport and Minister of Finance provided a Letter
of Comfort to enable the Board and management of
Maritime NZ to meet the going concern assumption
through to 30 June 2021.

To respond to the uncertain COVID-19 environment, we
applied careful and prudent cost management, finding the
balance between maintaining regulatory capability and
performance and mitigating costs to the Crown.

In Quarter 1 of 2021/22, we executed the first liquidity
funding drawdown arrangements through MoT. We will
also develop a Budget bid for 2022 with a focus on
securing funding for seafarer welfare as well as regulatory
risks and new functions.

We have engaged extensively with transport and border
sector agencies to determine ways of maintaining our

Building our organisational sustainability
Our progress, achievements
and challenges
To be an environmentally friendly and sustainable
organisation, we need to think and act with our effect
on the environment in mind. This requires increasing
knowledge across the organisation and having systems
in place to support sustainable practices.
We have established a project to address the requirements
of the Carbon Neutral Government Programme to
implement an emissions measurement system and develop
the means to measure, verify and report our carbon
emissions, including reporting on emission targets for
2022/23. This has involved discovering the extent of our
carbon footprint and implementing the Toitū e-Manage
system.31

31 For more, see: https://www.toitu.co.nz/what-we-offer/environmental-management-systems
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PART B

Statement of performance
Tauākī whakatutukitanga
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Statement of responsibility
We are responsible for the preparation
of Maritime NZ’s financial statements
and statement of performance, and for
the judgements made in them.
We are responsible for any end of year performance
information provided by Maritime NZ under section
19A of the Public Finance Act 1989.
We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining
a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial
reporting.
In our opinion, these financial statements and statement
of performance fairly reflect the financial position and
operations of Maritime NZ for the year ended 30 June 2021.
Signed for and on behalf of the Board.

Jo Brosnahan, QSO
Board Chair, Maritime NZ

Belinda Vernon
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee, Maritime NZ

Dated: 25 January 2022

Dated: 25 January 2022
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Vote Transport:
Non-departmental output expense
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities
undertaken by Maritime NZ that are funded through Vote Transport nondepartmental output expenses are indicated within each relevant output class in
the Statement of Performance. Relevant financial information is also provided in
the tables following each output class performance summary on pages 83 to 90.
A summary of appropriations funded through Vote Transport and from Vote Transport information supporting the Estimates
2020/21 is provided in the table below.
NONDEPARTMENTAL
OUTPUT EXPENSE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

ACTUAL
2020/21
$000

SUPPLEMENTARY
ESTIMATES
2020/21
$000

APPROPRIATION
ESTIMATES
2020/21
$000

ACTUAL
2019/20
$000

Search and Rescue
Activities (M72)

This appropriation is limited to the
purchase of search and rescue activities
and a search and rescue coordination
service, including follow-up inquiries and
reporting associated with the searches
and rescues undertaken.

3,231

3,231

3,231

3,231

Search and Rescue
and Recreational
Boating Safety
Activities PLA (M72)

This appropriation is intended to achieve
a sustained reduction in the identified
systemic risks within the New Zealand
Search and Rescue system to reduce
the number of preventable search and
rescue related fatalities in New Zealand.

13,264

13,464

12,550

8,012

Policy Advice and
Related Outputs –
Maritime (M72)

The overarching purpose of this
appropriation is to regulate and
enhance safety in New Zealand’s
maritime environment. Represented by
the following sub categories:

6,121

6,318

6,191

5,919

817

1,014

764

492

1,955

1,955

2,078

2,078

3,349

3,349

3,349

3,349

6,194

6,194

6,194

6,192

–

5,400

34,000

–

Maritime Incident Response
This category is limited to building
capability to respond to complex
maritime pollution incidents.
Maritime Safety and Marine
Protection Services
This category is limited to the
development and delivery of regulatory
services that are the responsibility
of Maritime NZ under legislation.
Policy Advice – Maritime
This category is limited to the provision
of advice (including second opinion
advice and contributions to policy
advice led by other agencies) to
support decision making by Ministers
on government policy matters and
ministerial servicing.
Health and Safety
at Work activities –
Maritime (M72)

This appropriation is limited to health
and safety activities for the maritime
sector, for which Maritime NZ has
designated responsibility.

Protection of
Transport Sector
Agency Core
Functions (M72)

This appropriation is limited to purchase of
core services from Maritime New Zealand
that are no longer able to be costrecovered from third parties as a result
of COVID-19.
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Vote Transport:
Non-departmental capital expenditure
To comply with obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities
undertaken by Maritime NZ that are funded through Vote Transport nondepartmental capital expenditure and a summary of appropriations and
performance measures are detailed in the table below.
NONDEPARTMENTAL
OUTPUT EXPENSE

WHAT IS INTENDED TO BE ACHIEVED
WITH THIS APPROPRIATION

Maritime
New Zealand
Capital Expenditure
PLA

The estimated amount to be spent
in relation to Maritime NZ costs, as
authorised by section 9(1) of the Land
Transport Management Act 2003.

ASSESSMENT OF PERFORMANCE

Successful implementation of planned systems capability improvements

ACTUAL
2020/21
$000

SUPPLEMENTARY
ESTIMATES
2020/21
$000

APPROPRIATION
ESTIMATES
2020/21
$000

ACTUAL
2019/20
$000

265

446

50

370

2020/21
ACTUAL

2020/21
BUDGETED
STANDARD

2019/20
ACTUAL

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our outputs
The effects of COVID-19 on New Zealand and around the world have been felt
widely. As we entered the financial year, significant uncertainty was felt regarding the
implications of the pandemic for people, the global economy and the maritime sector.
The financial forecasts were based on current
understanding of the situation using the best information
available at the time. The forecasts took account of our
current financial situation including financial reserves,
Treasury scenarios regarding economic impacts of
COVID-19, scenarios relating to maritime industry activity
and government measures to support border and transport
agencies to maintain core services.

In our 2020/21 statement of performance expectations,
we included a
symbol against certain measures deemed
at risk due to COVID-19. In many cases, we have been
able to eliminate or mitigate the potential risks, and where
we have been able to meet or exceed performance targets
deemed at risk, we have included a
symbol. Where
we were not able to meet performance targets, we have
provided a variance explanation.

Our non-financial performance measures were based on
our estimates of a ‘usual’ year, to maintain our year-on-year
benchmark. However, we recognised we may not be able
to meet some measures where non-controllable factors
emerged and not enough certainty was in place to provide
a meaningful alternative forecast or set of measures.

In addition to the output classes on the following pages,
two new non-financial performance measures were
introduced. These cover the performance expectations of
the Crown against the funding provided to Maritime NZ to
protect core services where third party revenue has been
significantly affected by COVID-19.
2020/21
ACTUAL

2020/21
BUDGETED
STANDARD

Maintain appropriate capability for core functions32

Achieved

Achieved

Mitigate costs to the Crown – implement the plan for mitigating costs and any variations as
agreed with the Ministry of Transport33

Achieved

Achieved

APPROPRIATION MEASURES FOR THE PROTECTION OF TRANSPORT SECTOR AGENCY CORE
FUNCTIONS

32 Measure description as per the 2020/21 Statement of Performance Expectations. Wording per the Vote is: Maintain appropriate capability for core functions
– appropriate resourcing to meet service level requirements.
33 Measure description as per the 2020/21 Statement of Performance Expectations. Wording per the Vote is: Mitigate costs to the Crown – delivery of a plan to
minimise the fiscal costs to the Crown by 30 June 2020.
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Statements of performance
Output class 1: Regulation He Waeture
Under this output class, we administer the regulation for the maritime system
in New Zealand, as well as New Zealand’s international maritime obligations.
We also support the Minister of Transport and other parts of government to
make informed decisions relating to the maritime system.
Output 1.1: Operational maritime policy advice
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

*1.1.1

The percentage of written advice34 to the Minister of Transport and
the Ministry of Transport that meets Maritime NZ’s quality criteria35

100%

100%

100%

1.1.2

The percentage of the Transport regulatory programme completed
subject to variations agreed with the Ministry of Transport36

100%

100%

100%

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expense

Output 1.2: International obligations and relations
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

1.2.1

The percentage of international engagement objectives met that
align with identified priorities37

100%

≥95%

100%

1.2.2

The percentage of international reporting obligations to
international organisations completed by due date38

100%

≥95%

50%

34 Advice is limited to policy analysis, briefings, reports to the Minister and the Ministry of Transport for ministerial consideration and ministerial reports.
35 Quality criteria is defined as “form, content, quality of analysis and completion by due date as agreed with the Ministry” and determined through internal
quality control procedures.
36 The Transport regulatory programme comprises the annual transport rules and policy analyses agreed by Cabinet
37 International engagement objectives are determined in accordance with the agreed process to prioritise issues that align with New Zealand’s interests under
Maritime NZ’s international engagement strategy.
38 Maritime NZ has two international reporting obligations (to the International Oil Pollution Compensation Fund and International Convention for the Prevention
of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) Oil reporting). Reporting deadlines are set by these international organisations.
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Output 1.3: Parliamentary and government accountability
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

1.3.1

The percentage of replies to ministerial correspondence and
parliamentary questions that meet Maritime NZ’s quality criteria39

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

95.12%

100%

100%

Variance explanation
Our primary means of determining if our quality criteria is met relates to timeliness, as well as other factors, including that the request
has been appropriately scoped; that withholding grounds have been properly applied; that the tone/quality of the writing in the response
is appropriate; and that sign-off processes were robust. Over the year, we received 10 ministerials and 30 parliamentary questions.
Two ministerials were submitted shortly after their due dates. One of these was due to late changes and additions, the other was an
administrative error within the formal transport correspondence tracking system. Neither caused issues with the Minister’s office.
1.3.2

The percentage of Official Information Act 1982 requests
responded to in accordance with Maritime NZ’s quality
criteria40

98.87%

100%

96.57%

Variance explanation
During the year, nearly all 112 of the Official Information Act requests received were responded to within 20 days or within an extended
timeframe and met all other quality criteria. However, during the first half of the year, two Official Information Act requests were not
responded to within prescribed timeframes.

Output class 1: Total revenue and expenses
ACTUAL
2020/21
$000

BUDGET
2020/21
$000

3,349

4,102

217

223

Funding from Crown agencies

2,787

2,705

Maritime Levy*

3,238

2,642

228

208

9,819

9,880

10,582

10,321

(763)

(441)

Crown*
Fuel Excise Duty

Other third party revenue
Total revenue
Total expenditure
Net surplus/(deficit)
* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

Note that in 2020/21 the outputs were realigned to represent the current business activities, therefore prior years’ figures are
not comparable and not stated.

39 Quality criteria are defined as per internal procedures and evidenced through internal sign-off processes.
40 Quality criteria are defined as per internal procedures and evidenced through internal sign-off processes, as well as meeting the legislative requirements
under the Official Information Act 1982.
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Output class 2: Compliance He Whakaū
Under this output class, we make sure participants in the maritime system operate
safely and securely to ensure that health, safety, security and marine protection
standards are met and risks are well managed by administering entry controls,
monitoring and enforcement.
Output 2.1: Maritime security
ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

N/A42

N/A

N/A

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

2.2.1

36.99%

≥80%

New measure

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2.1.1

The percentage of identified security threats to New Zealand port
facilities and ships in New Zealand waters that are appropriately
responded to41

Output 2.2: Certification and registration

Average processing time* for maritime documents, marine
protection documents, statutory certificates and permits from
receipt of application to notification of the outcome is within
20 working days43

Variance explanation
Resourcing constraints, including staffing numbers, staff turnover (mainly from short-term contracts ending), difficulties finding suitable
replacements in the current market and the time needed to train new staff, have contributed significantly to delays in processing time.
Processing time was also affected by challenges involving our systems and processes, as well as applications needing to be placed on
hold (sometimes for long periods) while waiting for additional information from applicants. Even with these constraints and challenges,
our processing time has been on a downward trend over the year. We expect this trend to continue as our certification transformation
project provides us with further improvements to our systems and processes and we work to stabilise our staffing numbers.

41 Maritime NZ operates within the New Zealand National Security Framework and this provides Maritime NZ with situational advice and warning to assess
security for New Zealand ports. Information received may warrant the increase of security settings for New Zealand ports to allow them to set heightened
security measures. Having access to reliable information enables Maritime NZ to have good situational awareness and the ability for ports to react in a timely
manner. There have been no significant port security incidents since the Maritime Security Act was passed in 2004, defined as reported incidents that meet
the threshold that requires the Maritime NZ Director to consider raising the security levels of ports.
42 The N/A (not applicable) result is based on the fact that a significant security incident did not arise. The result for 2019/20 has been amended also to reflect
that a significant security incident did not arise.
43 This includes maritime documents, marine protection documents, ship registration certificates, exemptions from rules, seafarer certificates and other
documents issued by Maritime NZ’s Certification Team. Seafarer certification processing times will continue to be tracked.
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Output 2.3: Inspection and audit
ACTUAL
2020/21

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

2.3.1

The percentage of higher risk ships entering New Zealand that are
inspected44

38.10%45

TARGET
2020/21

90%

ACTUAL
2019/20

New measure

Variance explanation
Access and availability issues have hindered our ability to inspect all higher risk ships entering New Zealand waters. COVID-19 border controls
and nationwide lockdowns reduced access to ships. The 14-day quarantine requirements for ships entering New Zealand waters often meant
ships arrived and departed again before they were cleared for boarding and we were able to inspect them. In addition, Maritime Officers trained
to conduct port state control inspections were also responsible for carrying out livestock carrier inspections, which impacted our availability to
inspect higher risk ships.
*2.3.2

The percentage of higher risk MOSS operators that are audited
under the Maritime Transport Act 1994 and have an assessment
under the Health and Safety at Work Act 201546

92.86%

≥80%

New measure

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output 2.4: Investigation and enforcement
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2020/21

*2.4.1

The percentage of investigations concluded within 12 months of
being opened47

95.28%

*2.4.2

The percentage of prosecutions brought under the Maritime
Transport Act 1994 and/or Health and Safety at Work Act 2015
that result in the relevant parties being held to account48

84.21%

TARGET
2020/21

≥95%

ACTUAL
2019/20

New measure

≥80%

100%

ACTUAL
2020/21
$000

BUDGET
2020/21
$000

547

3,536

Fuel Excise Duty

2,093

2,151

Working Safer Levy

4,088

4,089

Maritime Levy*

12,720

10,379

User Charges*

1,397

840

673

226

Total revenue

21,518

21,221

Total expenditure

24,996

24,811

Net surplus/(deficit)

(3,478)

(3,590)

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output class 2: Total revenue and expenses

Crown*

Other third party revenue

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

Note that in 2020/21 the outputs were realigned to represent the current business activities, therefore prior years’ figures are
not comparable and not stated.

44 ‘Higher risk ships’ are determined by the ship’s risk profile as per the Tokyo MOU database: http://www.tokyo-mou.org/doc/NIR-information%20sheet-r.pdf
45 The 2020/21 result only reflects initial inspections of high risk ships and not follow-ups so each high risk ship entering New Zealand is counted once
regardless of how many times the ship may enter New Zealand waters throughout the year.
46 A MOSS operation is considered ‘higher risk’ if it has a risk rating above 25 percent in its latest risk profile, or its rating has increased to high risk due to an
accident or incident, or the risk profile for the sector has increased such that all operators in that sector are higher risk.
47 ‘Concluded’ includes when a decision is made to prosecute or to take alternative compliance action.
48 ‘Held to account’ is interpreted to include a conviction or another compliance outcome in the public interest (following the Solicitor-General guidelines).
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Output class 3: Response He Whakautu
Under this output class, we maintain readiness and respond to maritime and marine
pollution incidents and provide coordination of land, sea and air search and rescue.
Output 3.1: Maritime incident readiness
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

*3.1.1

The number of Maritime Incident Response Team exercises and
workshops completed annually49

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

14

ACTUAL
2019/20

4

7

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output 3.2: Maritime pollution response
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

3.2.1

The percentage of regional (19) and national (1) equipment stockpiles
that are maintained and inspected within the last 12 months50

3.2.2

The number of National Response Team field oil response
exercises conducted annually51

3.2.3

The percentage of regional councils that undertake two oil spill
exercises annually52

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

100%

100%

96.25%

1

1

1

96.88%

≥95%

62.5%

Output 3.3: Search and rescue coordination
ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

100%

100%

100%

ACTUAL
2020/21
$000

BUDGET
2020/21
$000

Crown*

4,048

3,995

Fuel Excise Duty*

3,900

2,922

Oil Pollution Levy*

6,612

5,833

373

367

Total revenue

14,933

13,117

Total expenditure

13,658

13,627

1,275

(510)

PERFORMANCE MEASURE

*3.3.1

The percentage of time the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand is operational53

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output class 3: Total revenue and expenses

Other third party revenue

Net surplus/(deficit)

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements and note 19 of the Oil Pollution Fund’s Financial Statements for explanations of
significant variances against budget.

Note that in 2020/21 the outputs were realigned to represent the current business activities, therefore prior years’ figures are
not comparable and not stated.
49 Maritime Incident Response Team exercises are conducted to test the individual plans in Maritime NZ’s Integrated Maritime Incident Readiness and Response
Strategy. Exercises conducted by the team may focus on Maritime NZ’s response as a whole or functions within, for example, salvage oversight. On completion
of each exercise, a ‘lessons learnt’ plan is developed to ensure any shortfalls in processes, actions or overall response capability are identified and resolved.
50 Regional councils submit maintenance records to the Marine Pollution Response Service (MPRS) and MPRS undertakes annual inspections of all regional
councils’ stockpiles. MPRS also maintains the national oil spill equipment stockpile. In 2020/21 the number of national equipment stockpiles increased to three.
51 The field exercises will have members of the National Response Team deployed either on the water or beach environment conducting oil spill response activities.
52 Exercises test regional council oil spill plans, and exercises enable Maritime NZ to assess regional council oil spill capability.
53 ‘Operational’ is defined as two qualified SAR officers are on duty and normal operations are being delivered.
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Output class 4: Safety infrastructure
Ngā Hanga Whakahaumaru
Under this output class, we provide and maintain maritime safety infrastructure,
including New Zealand’s distress beacon system, distress and safety communications
and aids to navigation.
Output 4.1: Distress beacon systems
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

4.1.1

The percentage of time ground-based satellite equipment is
operational

*4.1.2

The percentage of beacons’ registration data verified within the
last two years (at 30 June)54

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

100%

≥99.5%

99.85%

84.97%

≥65%

79.37%

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output 4.2: Aids to navigation
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

*4.2.1

The percentage of time lighthouses are operational (per IALA
category 1)55

99.99%

≥99.8%

99.98%

4.2.2

The percentage of time that day beacons/buoys are operational
(per IALA category 3)

100%

≥99.8%

99.99%

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output 4.3: Distress safety communications
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

≥99.8

99.92

4.3.1

The percentage of time communication services are available56

99.89

4.3.2

The percentage of time the Maritime Operations Centre is
operational57

100%

≥99.8%

99.99%

54 Measure description as per the 2020/21 Statement of Performance Expectations. Note the Vote measure description is: The percentage of beacons’ data
verified within the last two years (at 30 June). Note the 2020/21 result relates to Quarter 1 to Quarter 3 due to the new Beacons Online Portal going live in
March 2021 and the ability for beacon owners to register and update their own details. We are unable to report on the measure for Quarter 4 as we
no longer verify registrations data as the new Portal places the onus on the beacon owner to enter and update their details. In the Estimates process,
we advised that a new measure would replace 4.1.2 (The percentage of time the beacons database system is available to the public) but as the new
portal did not go live until Quarter 3, we did not have the ability to report the Quarter 4 result for the new measure. Our 2021/22 Statement of Performance
Expectations includes the new measure.
55 The target is based on the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities (IALA) standards defined to measure the
availability of category 1 Aids to Navigation outages recorded by Maritime NZ in a database. The start is when an outage is first reported and the finish
is when the site is repaired. Outages are notified either through the Maritime NZ monitoring system (if monitored), the Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand, Maritime Operations Centre (MOC) from a vessel via maritime radio, or by a member of the public.
56 This indicator measures the availability of the very high frequency (VHF) services, high frequency (HF) voice and HF digital selective calling (DSC). Outages
are logged by the MOC operator: Start is “fault first found” and end is “fault repaired”. The target is based on category 1 Aids to Navigation but there are
no actual international targets for radio. Outages are logged in the MOC database and reported in the monthly MOC report.
57 This measure is intended to show the MOC is fully operational and available to receive distress calls, issue maritime safety information broadcasts,
and respond to requests for help or information over the maritime network. The measure is reported in the monthly MOC report, with issues reviewed
during contractor meetings. Performance should be 100 percent unless a major outage or disaster occurs that means the MOC cannot be operated.

88

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Output class 4: Total revenue and expenses
ACTUAL
2020/21
$000

BUDGET
2020/21
$000

Crown Funding*

1,408

2,356

Fuel Excise Duty

2,723

2,803

Maritime Levy*

3,700

3,020

97

33

Total revenue

7,928

8,212

Total expenditure*

8,800

8,941

Net surplus/(deficit)

(872)

(729)

Other third party revenue

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

Note that in 2020/21 the outputs were realigned to represent the current business activities, therefore prior years’
figures are not comparable and not stated.

Annual Report 2020/21

89

Output class 5: Engagement Whai Wāhitanga
Under this output class, we engage with industry participants, organisations,
recreational boaties and the public to raise awareness of good safety practices and
risks. We promote maritime safety, security and marine protection, and support the
economic success of the maritime industry, without compromising its regulatory,
compliance and response focus.
Output 5.1: Information, education and engagement
PERFORMANCE MEASURE

ACTUAL
2020/21

TARGET
2020/21

ACTUAL
2019/20

8

3–5 annually

5

5.1.1

The number of information and education campaigns delivered58

5.1.2

The number of Maritime NZ guidance documents and publications
to industry that are published59

97

30–40

54

*5.1.3

The percentage of New Zealanders who practise safer recreational
boating behaviours as a result of Maritime NZ safety messaging
(as gauged by survey)

76.60%

≥60%

76%

ACTUAL
2020/21
$000

BUDGET
2020/21
$000

–

807

Fuel Excise Duty

4,331

4,451

Working Safer Levy

2,106

2,105

Maritime Levy*

3,469

2,831

96

31

Total revenue

10,002

10,225

Total expenditure

11,265

11,251

Net surplus/(deficit)

(1,263)

(1,026)

* Measure for activity funded through Vote Transport non-departmental output expenses.

Output class 5: Total revenue and expenses

Crown*

Other third party revenue

* Refer to note 24 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

Note that in 2020/21 the outputs were realigned to represent the current business activities, therefore prior years’
figures are not comparable and not stated.

58 Maritime NZ delivers various information and education campaigns each year, focused on both recreational and commercial sectors. Typically, two
recreational boating campaigns are scheduled for the start and midway through the summer boating season. Commercial campaigns are more flexible
and focused on areas of highest need.
59 This includes new documents and updates, and revisions to existing documents, and is subject to fluctuation due to a reactive component responding
to issues that emerge during the year.
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PART C

Financial statements
Ngā tauākī pūtea
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Maritime New Zealand
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
for the year ended 30 June 2021
NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

2

28,810

33,540

23,354

23,127

18,872

32,384

6,298

4,776

6,002

113

276

291

58,348

57,464

62,031

REVENUE
Funding from the Crown
Maritime levy
Other revenue

2

Interest revenue
Total revenue
EXPENSES
Personnel costs

3

38,847

36,726

33,898

12,13

2,521

2,955

2,285

Capital charge

4

1,084

1,218

1,240

Finance costs

5

101

72

72

Other expenses

6

21,684

22,249

19,061

Total expenditure

64,237

63,220

56,556

Surplus/(deficit)

(5,889)

(5,756)

Depreciation and amortisation expense

5,475

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE
Gain on property revaluations
Total comprehensive revenue and expense

19

–
(5,889)

–
(5,756)

–
5,475

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Maritime New Zealand
Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2021
NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

7

6,478

3,548

5,337

Receivables

8

4,505

2,750

4,132

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

39

Investments

9

4,250

4,760

9,650

657

600

686

136

150

133

16,026

11,808

19,977

Prepayments
Inventories

11

Total current assets
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

107

Property, plant and equipment

12

10,863

10,768

11,494

Intangible assets

13

5,658

7,017

5,531

Total non-current assets

16,521

17,785

17,132

Total assets

32,547

29,593

37,109

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

14

3,502

3,757

2,757

Borrowings

15

299

284

296

Employee entitlements

16

3,521

2,200

3,034

Provisions

17

34

–

23

Derivative financial instruments

10

4

–

–

7,360

6,241

6,110

Total current liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

15

905

961

1,204

Provisions

17

172

130

153

Derivative financial instruments

10

Total non-current liabilities

92

–

–

1,169

1,091

1,357

Total liabilities

8,529

7,332

7,467

NET ASSETS

24,018

22,261

29,642

25,773

25,956

25,508

EQUITY
Contributed Capital

19

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

19

(3,046)

(4,986)

2,843

Property revaluation reserves

19

1,291

1,291

1,291

24,018

22,261

29,642

TOTAL EQUITY
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Maritime New Zealand
Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2021
NOTES

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year
Capital contribution from the Crown
Balance at 30 June

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

29,642

27,967

23,797

(5,889)
19

(5,756)

5,475

265

50

370

24,018

22,261

29,642

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Maritime New Zealand
Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2021
NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Receipts from the Crown

28,810

33,540

23,354

Receipts from maritime levy

23,022

18,872

31,113

Receipts from other revenue

6,298

4,776

5,331

171

276

295

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received
Payments to employees

(38,362)

(36,726)

(33,075)

Payments to suppliers

(20,318)

(22,229)

(19,823)

Payments for capital charge

(1,084)

(1,218)

(1,240)

Goods and services tax (net)

(180)

Net cash flows from operating activities

(1,643)

–
(2,709)

14
5,969

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment
Receipts from maturity of investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisitions of investments
Net cash flows from investing activities

–

–

18

17,900

–

14,500

(734)

(704)

(1,058)

(1,514)

(2,050)

(1,268)

(12,500)

5,500

(15,650)

3,152

2,746

(3,458)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments under finance leases

15

Capital contribution

–

Net cash flows from financing activities

(368)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

1,141

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

(368)

7

(356)

(363)

50

370

(306)

7

(269)

2,518

5,337

3,817

2,819

6,478

3,548

5,337

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Maritime New Zealand
Statement of cash flows (Continued)
for the year ended 30 June 2021
Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) to net cash flow from operating activities

RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Surplus/(deficit)

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

(5,889)

5,475

2,521

2,285

ADD/(LESS) NON CASH ITEMS
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Net (gains)/losses on derivative financial instruments
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses
Total non-cash items

242

(126)

–

–

2,763

2,159

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING OR FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment
Interest payments on finance leases
Total items classified as investing/ financing activities

232

(2)

71

72

303

70

ADD/(LESS) MOVEMENTS IN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(Increase)/decrease in inventories

(127)
29
(3)

(1,581)
(53)
4

Increase/(decrease) in payables

765

(944)

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements

486

822

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

30

17

Net movements in working capital items

1,180

(1,735)

Net cash from operating activities

(1,643)

5,969

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 24.

							

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Reporting entity
Maritime NZ is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown
Entities Act 2004, and is domiciled and operates in
New Zealand. The relevant legislation governing Maritime
NZ’s operations includes the Crown Entities Act 2004 and
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. Maritime NZ’s ultimate
parent is the New Zealand Crown.
Maritime NZ’s primary objective is to provide maritime
regulatory, compliance and response services for the benefit
of the New Zealand public. Maritime NZ does not operate
to make a financial return. Maritime NZ has designated itself
as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of financial
reporting.
The financial statements for Maritime NZ are for the year
ended 30 June 2021 and were approved by the Authority
on 25 January 2022.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been
consistently applied throughout the year.
The Authority, after making enquiries, has a reasonable
expectation that Maritime NZ has access to adequate
resources and assurance to continue operations for the
foreseeable future based on current operating arrangements
and with support from the Crown. The Authority has
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reached this conclusion having regard to circumstances
which it considers likely to affect Maritime NZ during the
period of one year from the date of signing the 2020/21
financial statements, and other circumstances that could
affect the validity of the going concern assumption. The key
considerations are set out below.
The financial position and key financial indicators of
Maritime NZ remain strong at 30 June 2021 with Maritime NZ
not requiring access to funding support during the 2020/21
year (as described further below). The year-to-date financial
results at the date of signing these financial statements
are materially in line with the budget contained in the
financial projections included in the 2021/22 Statement of
Performance Expectations (budgeting a surplus of $455k),
and any variances are well within the scope and levels
of funding available through the Crown appropriation for
support of $22m in 2021/22 and cash reserves held.
The Crown has provided funding support in favour of
Maritime NZ and the Oil Pollution Fund to maintain
regulatory and response capability and performance.
This support takes the form of an appropriation to
compensate for COVID-19 levy impairment to 30 June 2022.
The Authority has also received a letter of support from the
Ministers of Finance and Transport to enable Maritime NZ
to satisfy the going concern basis, which states that the
Government acknowledges that support may be required
and that the Crown will provide such support where
necessary to maintain viability to the extent that statutory
and regulatory functions can be met noting this is subject
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to Cabinet approval and the Parliamentary authorisation
processes by way of appropriation. In order to satisfy
this Parliamentary authorisation process, the Ministers of
Finance and Transport issued an invitation to Maritime NZ
in October 2021 to submit a series of bids for Budget 22
that will enable the entity to maintain regulatory and
response capability from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.

Summary of significant
accounting policies

Statement of compliance

Maritime NZ is a public authority and consequently is
exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly,
no provision for income tax has been made.

The financial statements of Maritime NZ have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities Act
2004, which includes the requirement to comply with generally
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP).
Maritime NZ is a Tier 1 entity and the financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with PBE standards.
These financial statements comply with PBE Standards.

Presentation currency and rounding
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($000).

Standards issued and not yet effective
and not early-adopted
Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective,
that have not been early adopted, and which are relevant
to Maritime NZ, are:

Amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash
Flows
An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows
requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users of
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising from
cash flows and non-cash changes. This amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021, with early application permitted.
This amendment will result in additional disclosures.
Maritime NZ does not intend to early adopt the amendment.

PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments
The XRB issued PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments
in March 2019. This standard supersedes PBE IFRS 9
Financial Instruments, which was issued e.g. as an interim
standard. It is effective for reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022. Although Maritime NZ has not
assessed the effect of the new standard, it does not expect
any significant changes as the requirements are similar to
PBE IFRS 9. Maritime NZ does not intend to early adopt
the standard.

PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting
PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting
requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Maritime NZ
has not yet determined how application of PBE FRS 48 will
affect its statement of performance. Maritime NZ does not
intend to early adopt the standard.
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Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do
not relate to a specific note are outlined below.

Income tax

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented exclusive
of GST, except for receivables and payables, which are
presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not
recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the
related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, Inland Revenue is included as part of receivables or
payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
The net GST paid to, or received from, Inland Revenue
including the goods and services tax relating to investing
and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash
flow in the Statement of Cash Flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive
of GST.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
Performance Expectations, as approved by the Authority
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP using
accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted
by the Authority in preparing the financial statements.

Cost allocation
Maritime NZ has determined the cost of outputs by using
the cost allocation system outlined below:
• All direct costs for operational activities are assigned to

the applicable outputs of that activity.
• All corporate costs that cannot be attributed to a specific

output fall into the overhead cost pool.
• The overhead cost pool is then allocated across all

outputs using the cost of personnel time attributed to
each activity as the driver.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated into
New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) using the spot
exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the
surplus or deficit.
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Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

• Expected credit losses – refer to Note 8
• Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and

In preparing these financial statements, Maritime NZ has
made estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
These estimates and assumptions might differ from the
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are:

equipment – refer to Note 12
• Fair value of land – refer to Note 12
• Useful lives of software assets – refer to Note 13

These significant estimates and assumptions are included
in the relevant note.

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies
Critical judgements have been applied in assessing the
preparation of the financial statements on a going concern
basis given the financial uncertainties that exist to
Maritime NZ’s third party funding streams, particularly
beyond 30 June 2022.

NOTE 2: REVENUE
Interest revenue

Accounting Policy
The specific accounting policies for significant revenue
items are explained below:

Funding from the Crown
Maritime NZ receives funding from the Crown and is restricted
in its use for the purpose of Maritime NZ meeting its objectives,
as specified in its founding legislation and the scope of the
relevant appropriations of the funder. Maritime NZ considers
that there are no conditions attached to the funding and it
is recognised as revenue at the point of entitlement. The fair
value of revenue from the Crown has been determined to be
equivalent to the amounts due in the funding arrangements.
A breakdown of the Crown funding is in the table below:

Crown
Fuel excise duty
Working safer levy
Total Crown revenue

Breakdown of other revenue and
further information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Seafarer licensing fees

749

579

Ship registration fees

110

135

Maritime operator fees

537

553

Services provided in respect of
supporting the NZ Oil Pollution Fund

815

775

Services provided in respect of supporting
the Ministry of Transport Policy Rules
Programme

800

800

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

9,352

9,150

2,419

8,012

Services provided in respect of the
Pacific Maritime Safety Programme

1,987

13,264
6,194

6,192

Other income

28,810

23,354

Funding from levies
Maritime levies charged on foreign vessels are based on
information from the New Zealand Customs Service regarding
port visits. Maritime levies charged on domestic commercial
vessels are based on vessels registered with Maritime NZ and
are recognised in the period to which the levy relates.

Provision of services
Revenue derived from the provision of services to third parties
is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion at
balance date.
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Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time
proportion basis the interest due for the investment.

1,293

581

Net gain on sale of property, plant and
equipment

–

1

Net unrealised gain on derivative
financial instruments

–

126

Net realised foreign exchange gains
Total other revenue

7

33

6,298

6,002

Asset disposals
During the year, some plant and equipment, and furniture
and fittings were disposed of resulting in a net gain on sale
of assets.
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NOTE 3: PERSONNEL COSTS
Accounting Policy

The above figures are based on an individual’s full package
including all allowances and benefits. During the year ended
30 June 2021, no employees received compensation and other
benefits in relation to cessation (2020: one employee, $10k).

Salaries and wages
Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense as
employees provide services.

Authority Member Remuneration

Superannuation schemes – defined contribution
schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government
Superannuation Fund, and Tower LifeSaver are accounted
for as defined contribution superannuation schemes and
are expensed in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Breakdown of personnel costs and
further information

The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority
members during the year was as follows:
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Jo Brosnahan (Chair)

39

39

Belinda Vernon (Deputy Chair, Chair of
Audit and Risk Committee)

24

24

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR
PAYABLE

Kylie Boyd (resigned July 2020)

2

20

Roy Weaver

20

20

Denis O’Rourke (partial leave of
absence August–October 2020)

15

20

18

–

118

123

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

35,074

30,662

Other personnel costs

1,981

1,427

Danny Tuato’o
(commenced August 2020)

Employer contributions to defined
contribution plans

1,585

1,378

Total Board member remuneration

207

431

38,847

33,898

Salaries and wages

Increase/(decrease) in employee
entitlements (note 16)
Total personnel costs

Employee Remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable that is or exceeds
$100,000 is set out below.
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

100,000–109,999

19

20

110,000–119,999

30

24

120,000–129,999

28

17

130,000–139,999

18

26

140,000–149,999

27

9

150,000–159,999

6

8

160,000–169,999

6

12

170,000–179,999

10

4

180,000–189,999

8

5

190,000–199,999

3

1

200,000–209,999

2

2

210,000–219,999

3

3

220,000–229,999

2

1

240,000–249,999

–

2

250,000–259,999

1

2

260,000–269,999

2

–

270,000–279,999

–

1

280,000–289,999

2

–

340,000–349,999

–

1

Total employees

167

138

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR
PAYABLE

100

There have been no payments made to committee
members appointed by the Authority, who were not
Authority members, during the financial year.
Maritime NZ has provided a deed of indemnity to directors
for certain activities undertaken in the performance of
Maritime NZ’s functions.
Maritime NZ has put into effect directors’ and officers’
liability and professional indemnity insurance cover during
the financial year in respect of the liability or costs of
Authority members and employees.
No Authority members received compensation or other
benefits in relation to cessation (2020:$nil).
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NOTE 4: CAPITAL CHARGE
Accounting Policy

Further information on the capital charge

The capital charge is expensed in the financial year to which
the charge relates.

The capital charge paid to the Crown is calculated based
on Maritime NZ’s taxpayer equity as at 30 June and
31 December each year. The capital charge rate for
the year ended 30 June 2021 was 5%. (2020: 6%).

NOTE 5: FINANCE COSTS
Accounting Policy

Breakdown of finance costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the financial year in which
they are incurred.

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Interest on finance lease

71

71

Discount unwind on provisions (Note 17)

30

1

101

72

Total finance costs

NOTE 6: OTHER EXPENSES
Accounting Policies
Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
to the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or
deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and
further information

Fees to auditors – fees to Audit
New Zealand for audit of financial
statements
Administration
Bad debts written off
Donations
Allowance for credit losses on
receivables (Note 8)

ACTUAL
2020
$000

94

92

1,556

1,438

137

2

–
(80)

–
227

Maintenance

1,787

1,665

Education and awareness programme
expenses

2,269

1,173

Operating expenses

2,661

2,041
1,883

Operating lease expenses

2,121

Professional and safety services

7,557

7,473

Search and rescue deployment costs

2,221

1,418

4

–

Net losses on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Impairment of intangible assets

227

Losses on derivative financial instruments

243

Travel
Total other expenses
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ACTUAL
2021
$000

–

887

1,649

21,684

19,061

101

Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating
leases

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

5,118

5,109

10,017

14,605

97

197

15,232

19,911

Maritime NZ leases accommodation across 12 properties
that cover a total of 16 separate leases, with lease
expiry dates between 2021 and 2029. Maritime NZ has
recognised a make-good provision of $206k (2020: $176k)
in respect of these leases (refer Note 17).
Maritime NZ also has an operating lease in respect of the
national maritime distress and safety communications
network which amounts to $11.736m (2020: $14.683m)
with a lease expiry date in 2025. There are no restrictions
placed on Maritime NZ by any of its leasing arrangements.

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Accounting Policy
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held on call with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Breakdown of cash and cash
equivalents and further information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

While cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2021 are
subject to the expected credit loss requirements of PBE
IFRS 9, no loss allowance has been recognised because
the estimated loss allowance for credit losses is trivial.
There are no assets recognised in a non-exchange
transaction that are subject to restrictions.

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Cash at bank and on hand

6,478

5,337

Total cash and equivalents

6,478

5,337

NOTE 8: RECEIVABLES
Accounting Policy
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due,
less an allowance for credit losses. Maritime NZ applies the
simplified expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime
expected credit losses for receivables.

Breakdown of receivables and further
information

In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables
have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess
shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped
based on the days past due.

Receivables (gross)

Short-term receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery include the debtor
being in liquidation.

Receivables comprise:

Less: Allowance for credit losses

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

4,888

4,595

(383)

Receivables

(463)

4,505

4,132

Receivables from the sale of goods and
services (exchange transactions)

1,202

592

Receivables from maritime levies
and Crown revenue (non-exchange
transactions)

3,303

3,540

The expected credit loss for receivables at 30 June 2021
are based on an analysis of Maritime NZ’s losses over the
last two previous periods and review of specific debtors.
The expected credit loss for receivables at 1 July 2020 are
based on an analysis of Maritime NZ’s losses over the last
two previous periods, and review of specific debtors.
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The allowance for credit losses at 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2020 was determined as follows:
RECEIVABLES DAYS PAST DUE

30 JUNE 2021

Gross carrying amount ($000)
Lifetime expected credit loss ($000)
Expected credit loss rate

CURRENT

MORE
THAN
30 DAYS

MORE
THAN
60 DAYS

MORE
THAN
90 DAYS

TOTAL

4,321

145

22

400

4,888
383

25

9

2

347

1%

6%

9%

87%

RECEIVABLES DAYS PAST DUE

30 JUNE 2020

Gross carrying amount ($000)
Lifetime expected credit loss ($000)
Expected credit loss rate

CURRENT

MORE
THAN
30 DAYS

MORE
THAN
60 DAYS

MORE
THAN
90 DAYS

TOTAL

3,682

180

23

710

4,595
463

10

39

3

411

0%

22%

14%

58%

The movement in credit losses is as follows:
ACTUAL
2021
$000

Opening allowance for credit losses at 1 July

ACTUAL
2020
$000

463

Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance made during the year

(80)

Balance at 30 June

383

236
227
463

NOTE 9: INVESTMENTS
Accounting Policy

All Maritime NZ investments are term deposits with an initial
maturity date of less than 12 months.

Bank term deposits

Maritime NZ considers there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk for investments in term deposits
because the issuer of the investment continues to have
low credit risk at balance date. Term deposits are held with
banks that have a minimum A- recognised credit rating,
which indicates the bank has a strong capacity to meet
its financial commitments.

Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount
invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to
the investment balance. A loss allowance for expected
credit losses is recognised if the estimated loss allowance
is not trivial.

Breakdown of investments and further
information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Term deposits

4,250

9,650

Total investments

4,250

9,650
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No loss allowance for expected credit losses has been
recognised because the estimated 12 month expected
loss allowance for credit losses is trivial.
The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities of
12 months or less approximate their fair value.
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NOTE 10: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Accounting Policy
Derivative financial instruments
Financial instruments are used to manage exposure to
foreign exchange risk arising from Maritime NZ’s operational
activities. Maritime NZ does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. Maritime NZ has
not adopted hedge accounting.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured to their fair value at each balance date with the
resulting gain or loss recognised in surplus or deficit.
A forward foreign exchange derivative is classified as current
if it is due for settlement within 12 months of balance date.
Otherwise the full fair value of the forward foreign exchange
derivatives is classified as non-current.

Further information on derivative
financial instruments
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward
exchange contracts were NZ$2.59m (2020: NZ$2.98m).
The foreign currency principal amounts were US$1.72m
(2020: US$1.99m).
The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts have
been determined using a discounted cash flows valuation
technique based on quoted market prices (observable
inputs). The inputs into the valuation model are from
independently sourced market parameters such as currency
rates. Most market parameters are implied from forward
foreign exchange contract prices.

NOTE 11: INVENTORIES
Accounting Policy
Inventories held by Maritime NZ are for the purpose
of consumption or in the provision of non-commercial
goods or services. Inventories that are not supplied on a
commercial basis are measured at cost (determined on the
weighted average cost method), adjusted for any loss of
service potential.
Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
Any write-down from cost to net realisable value, or for the
loss service potential, is recognised in surplus or deficit in
the year of the write-down.

Breakdown of inventories and further
information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Spare parts

136

133

Total inventory

136

133

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted
to nil (2020: $nil) reflecting the current age and condition.
There have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories
are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some
inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

NOTE 12: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Accounting Policy

• Furniture, fittings and office equipment, at cost less

Property, plant and equipment consist of eight asset classes
which are measured as follows:

• Computer equipment, at cost less accumulated

• Land, at fair value;
• Lighthouses, at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses;
• Navigational lights, buoys and day beacons, at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses;
• Plant and equipment, at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses;
• Motor vehicles, at cost less accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses;
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accumulated depreciation and impairment losses;
depreciation and impairment losses; and
• Leasehold improvements, at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land has been revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair
value, and is revalued at least every three years.
Maritime NZ accounts for revaluations of Land on a class of
assets basis.
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The results of revaluing are credited or debited to other
comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated
to an asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class of
asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is recognised in the
surplus or deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation
that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in
the surplus or deficit will be recognised first in the surplus
or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then
recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the
item will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.
Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and
is not depreciated.
In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment
is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at fair
value as at the date of acquisition.
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised
only when it is probable that future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow to
Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are expensed in the surplus or deficit as they
are incurred.

Disposals

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated remaining
useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Maritime NZ does not hold any cash-generating assets.
Assets are considered cash-generating where their primary
objective is to generate a commercial return.
Property, plant and equipment, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable service amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value, less costs to sell, and value in use.
Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining
service potential. It is determined using an approach
based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach,
restoration cost approach, or a service units’ approach.
The most appropriate approach used to measure value in
use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability
of information.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying
amount is written down to the recoverable service amount.
For revalued assets, the impairment loss is recognised
against the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where
that results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the
balance is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset.
Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus
or deficit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts
included in revaluation reserves in respect of those assets
are transferred to accumulated surplus/(deficit) within equity.

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense
and increases the asset revaluation reserve for that class
of asset. However, to the extent that an impairment loss
for that class of asset was previously recognised in the
surplus or deficit, a reversal of the impairment loss is also
recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Depreciation

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property,
plant and equipment other than land, at rates that will write off
the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual
values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated
depreciation rates of major classes of property, plant and
equipment have been estimated as follows:
ASSET TYPE

USEFUL LIFE
(YEARS)

DEPRECIATION
METHOD

Lighthouses

10–40 straight-line

Navigational lights, buoys &
day beacons

10–20 straight-line

Plant & equipment

5–20 straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings & office
equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

Leasehold improvements
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2–9 straight-line

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions
Estimating useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual
values of its property, plant and equipment are reviewed.
Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual
value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires
a number of factors to be considered such as the physical
condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset
by Maritime NZ, and expected disposal proceeds from the
future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will
affect the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or
deficit, and carrying amount of the asset in the Statement
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of Financial Position. Maritime NZ minimises the risk of this
estimation uncertainty by:
• physical inspections of assets
• asset replacement programmes
• review of second-hand market prices for similar assets
• analysis of prior asset sales.

Maritime NZ has not made significant changes to past
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values.

Estimating the fair value of land
The most recent valuation of land was performed as a
desktop assessment by an independent registered valuer,
I. Clarkson of Beca Projects NZ Ltd. The valuation is
effective as at 30 June 2019. Fair value of land, using
market-based evidence, is based on the highest and
best use of the land, with reference to comparable land
values. An internal review of market evidence for the period
between 1 July 2019 and 30 June 2021 (in particular
the REINZ All Farm Price Index) indicated there was no
evidence of a material market movement in the land
valuation as at 30 June 2021.

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

LIGHTHOUSES
$000

BUOYS, DAY
BEACONS,
NAVIGATIONAL
LIGHTS $000

PLANT &
EQUIPMENT
$000

MOTOR
VEHICLES $000

2,585

2,438

15,373

85

44

69

–

–

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2019
Additions
Revaluations

–

–

–

–

Transfer from WIP

–

53

–

–

(7)

(57)

Disposals

(27)

(50)

Balance at 30 June 2020

2,602

2,510

15,366

28

Balance at 1 July 2020

2,602

2,510

15,366

28

19

34

–

–

–

–

–

–

Additions
Revaluations
Transfer from WIP
Disposals
Balance at 30 June 2021

–

8

–

–

(66)

(4)

–

–

2,555

2,548

15,366

28

1,275

2,027

7,788

85

130

67

674

–

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2019
Depreciation expense
Elimination on disposal

(27)

(49)

(7)

(57)

Balance at 30 June 2020

1,378

2,045

8,455

28

Balance at 1 July 2020

1,378

2,045

8,455

28

Depreciation expense

97

66

638

–

Elimination on disposal

(66)

–

–

(3)

Balance at 30 June 2021

1,409

2,108

9,093

28

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2020

1,224

465

6,911

–

Carrying amounts at 30 June 2021

1,146

440

6,273

–

Restrictions

Finance leases

There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s
property, plant and equipment. The equipment purchased
under finance lease (distress radio network) is effectively
secured as the right to the leased asset reverts to the
lessor in the event of default. No other property, plant and
equipment is pledged as security for liabilities.

The net carrying amount of plant and equipment held under
finance leases is $1.1m (2020: $1.4 m). Note 15 provides
further information about Finance leases.
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Capital commitments
There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition
of property, plant and equipment at the reporting date
(2020: Nil).
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FURNITURE,
FITTINGS
& OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT
$000

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENT
$000

1,095

1,946

273

306

–
–
(50)

LAND $000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

1,006

1,291

273

26,092

18

–

348

1,058

–

–

–

220

–

–

(468)

(34)

–
(273)

–
–

–

–

1,318

2,004

990

1,291

348

26,457

1,318

2,004

990

1,291

348

26,457

139

303

–

–

239

734

–

–

–

–

–

–

6

313

–

–

(24)

(430)

(17)

–

(327)
–

(693)

–
(541)

1,439

2,190

973

1,291

260

26,650

919

1,767

526

–

–

14,387

72

209

100

–

–

1,252

–

–

941

(50)

1,518

598

–

–

14,963

941

1,518

598

–

–

14,963

108

352

99

–

–

1,360

(430)

(13)

–

–

(24)

(457)

(28)

(676)

(536)

1,025

1,440

684

–

–

15,787

377

486

392

1,291

348

11,494

414

750

289

1,291

260

10,863
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NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Accounting Policy

Impairment of intangible assets

Software acquisition and development

Refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant and
equipment in Note 12. The same approach applies to the
impairment of intangible assets.

Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of
software for internal use are recognised as an intangible asset.
Direct costs include software development and employee
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:
• staff training costs are expensed when incurred;
• costs associated with maintaining computer software are

expensed when incurred; and
• costs associated with the development and maintenance

of Maritime NZ’s website are expensed when incurred.

The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use
and ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The
amortisation charge for each period is expensed in the
surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
USEFUL LIFE
(YEARS)

AMORTISATION
METHOD

Acquired

3–5 straight-line

Internally generated

3–8 straight-line
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Estimating useful lives of software costs
Maritime NZ’s internally generated software largely
comprises of customisations to a regulatory systems
enterprise database to support Maritime NZ’s regulatory
functions. Internally generated software has a finite life,
which requires Maritime NZ to estimate the useful life of the
software assets.
In assessing the useful lives of software assets, a number of
factors are considered, including:
• The period of time the software is intended to be in use;

Amortisation

ASSET TYPE

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

• The effect of technological change on systems and

platforms; and
• The expected time frame for the development of

replacement systems and platforms.
An incorrect estimate of the useful lives of software assets
will affect the amortisation expense recognised in the
surplus or deficit, and the carrying amount of the software
assets in the statement of financial position.
Maritime NZ has estimated a useful life of 8 years for its
regulatory platform based on the period of use estimated in
its 2012 business case. This useful life is still considered to
be reasonable based on the current performance and use
of the software. There are currently no indicators the period
of use of the software will be materially different.
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Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:

Balance at 1 July 2019

ACQUIRED
SOFTWARE
$000

INTERNALLY
GENERATED
SOFTWARE
$000

WORK IN
PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

1,892

9,141

633

11,666

Additions

–

884

384

1,268

Transfer from work in progress

–

242

(242)

Disposals

(583)

(17)

–

–
(600)

Balance at 30 June 2020

1,309

10,250

775

12,334

Balance at 1 July 2020

1,309

10,250

775

12,334

62

1,262

190

1,514

Transfer from work in progress

–

448

(448)

Disposals

–

–

(227)

1,371

11,960

290

13,621

1,632

4,738

–

6,370

Amortisation expense

104

929

–

1,033

Disposals

(583)

Additions

Balance at 30 June 2021

–
(227)

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
Balance at 1 July 2019

(17)

–

(600)

Balance at 30 June 2020

1,153

5,650

–

6,803

Balance at 1 July 2020

1,153

5,650

–

6,803

72

1,088

–

1,160

Amortisation expense
Disposals

–

–

–

–

1,225

6,738

–

7,963

At 30 June 2020

156

4,600

775

5,531

At 30 June 2021

212

5,155

291

5,658

Balance at 30 June 2021
CARRYING AMOUNTS

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ’s intangible assets, and no intangible assets pledged as security
for liabilities.

Capital commitments
The amount of contractual capital commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets at the reporting date is $nil for
internally generated software (2020: $nil).
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NOTE 14: PAYABLES
Accounting Policy
Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.

Breakdown of payables
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
951

527

Accrued expenses

Creditors

1,967

1,529

Total Payables under exchange transactions

2,918

2,056

PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
Taxes payable (goods and services tax, fringe benefit tax and rates)
Other
Total payables under non-exchange transactions
Total Payables

92

277

492

424

584

701

3,502

2,757

NOTE 15: BORROWINGS
Accounting Policy
Finance leases
A finance lease transfers to the lessee substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset,
whether or not title is eventually transferred. At the start of
the lease term, Maritime NZ recognises finance leases as
assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position at
the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the present
value of the minimum lease payment. The finance charge
is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.
The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over
its useful life. If there is no reasonable certainty whether
Maritime NZ will obtain ownership at the end of the lease
term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and its useful life.

Breakdown of borrowings and further
information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Finance lease

299

296

Total current portion

299

296

905

1,204

905

1,204

1,204

1,500

CURRENT PORTION

NON-CURRENT PORTION
Finance lease
Total non-current portion
Total Borrowings

Finance leases as lessee
Maritime NZ entered into a finance lease of equipment used
for the national maritime distress and safety radio service
for 11 years from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2025 with Kordia
Limited. The net carrying amount of the equipment held
under finance leases is shown in note 12.

Security
Finance lease liabilities are effectively secured, as the right to
the leased asset reverts to the lessor in the event of default.

Fair value
The fair value of finance leases is $1.2m (2020: $1.5m).
Fair value has been determined using contractual cash
flows discounted using a rate based on market borrowing
rates at balance date.
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Analysis of finance lease
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

371

367

1,120

1,491

Later than five years
Total minimum lease payments
Future finance charges

–

–

1,491

1,858

(287)

Present value of minimum lease payments

1,204

(358)
1,500

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE
Not later than one year

299

296

Later than one year and not later than five years

905

1,204

Later than five years
Total present value of minimum lease payments

–

–

1,204

1,500

NOTE 16: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Accounting Policy
Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within
12 months after the end of the year in which the employee
provides the related service are measured based on
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual
leave earned but not yet taken at balance date.
A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where
there is a contractual obligation or where there is past
practice that has created a constructive obligation and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Accrued salaries and wages and annual leave are classified
as current liabilities.

Long-term employee entitlements
Maritime NZ does not have long-term employee entitlements.

Breakdown of employee entitlements
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Annual leave

2,035

1,828

Accrued salary and wages

1,486

1,206

Total employee entitlements

3,521

3,034

NOTE 17: PROVISIONS
Accounting Policy
Provisions
Maritime NZ recognises a provision for future expenditure
of uncertain amount or timing when:
• there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive)

as a result of a past event,
• it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits

or service potential will be required to settle the obligation,
and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.
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Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation,
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time, value of money, and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
Maritime NZ’s provision is solely in relation to lease make good.

Breakdown of provisions and further
information
Lease make-good provision
In respect of its leased premises, Maritime NZ is required
at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage
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caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings,
and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by Maritime NZ.
In many cases, Maritime NZ has the option to renew these
leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash
outflows to make good the premises. Information about
Maritime NZ’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 6.

Movements for each class of provision are
as follows:
ACTUAL
$000

LEASE MAKE-GOOD

Balance at 1 July 2019

159

Additional provisions made

16

Discount unwind provision (Note 5)

1

Balance at 30 June 2020

176

Balance at 1 July 2020

176

Additional provisions made

5

Discount unwind provision (Note 5)

25

Balance at 30 June 2021

206

NOTE 18: CONTINGENCIES
Accounting Policy

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that
they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets are
disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

Maritime NZ has no contingent liabilities (2020: $nil).

Contingent assets
Maritime NZ has no contingent assets (2020: $nil).

NOTE 19: EQUITY
Accounting Policy
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets
and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified
into the following components:
• Contributed capital;
• Accumulated surplus/(deficit); and
• Property revaluation reserves.

Property revaluation reserves
These reserves relate to the revaluation of property
to fair value.

Breakdown of equity and further
information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

25,508

25,138

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

265

370

25,773

25,508

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported

2,843

(2,632)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

(5,889)

5,475

Balance at 30 June

(3,046)

2,843

1,291

1,291

PROPERTY REVALUATION RESERVES
Balance at 1 July
Revaluations
Balance at 30 June

–

–

1,291

1,291

PROPERTY REVALUATION RESERVES CONSIST OF:
Land
Total equity 30 June
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1,291

1,291

24,018

29,642
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Capital management
Maritime NZ’s capital is its equity, which comprises
contributed capital, accumulated funds and revaluation
reserves. Equity is represented by net assets. Maritime NZ
is subject to the financial management and accountability
provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose
restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of
securities, issuing of guarantees and indemnities, and the
use of derivatives.

Maritime NZ has complied with the financial management
requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004 during
the year.
Maritime NZ manages its equity as a by-product of
prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities,
investments, and general financial dealings to ensure that
Maritime NZ effectively achieves its objectives and purpose,
while remaining a going concern.

NOTE 20: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Maritime NZ is controlled by the Crown.
Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are:
• Within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship; and
• On terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect Maritime NZ would have

adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.
Further, transactions with other government agencies (for example, government departments and Crown entities) are not
disclosed as related party transactions when they are on normal terms and conditions consistent with the normal operating
arrangements between government agencies.
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above:
TRANSACTION

Maritime NZ – provision of salaries and administrative
support to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

REF

1

TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

BALANCE OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2021
$000

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

815

775

6

15

1. Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and in doing so incurs costs directly. These costs are
recovered from the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund on a cost-recovery basis.
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties (2020: $nil).

Key management personnel compensation
The aggregate values of transactions and outstanding balances involving key management personnel and entities over which
they have control or significant influence were as follows:
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

118

122

5

5

2,172

2,272

AUTHORITY MEMBERS
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
LEADERSHIP TEAM
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Total key management personnel remuneration
Total full-time equivalent personnel

8

9

2,290

2,394

13

14

Key management personnel include all Authority members, the chief executive, and the remaining seven members of the
executive team (2020: all Authority members, chief executive plus eight executive team members).
The full-time equivalent figure for the Authority is the number of appointed Authority members at balance date.
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NOTE 21: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instrument categories
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 7)

6,478

5,337

Receivables (Note 8)

4,505

4,132

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

Investments – term deposits (Note 9)

4,250

9,650

15,233

19,119

Payables (excluding tax) (Note 14)

3,411

2,480

Borrowings: Finance leases (Note 15)

1,204

1,500

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

4,615

3,980

–

146

96

–

Total financial assets measured at amortised cost
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

FINANCIAL ASSET FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS/DEFICIT
Derivative financial instrument assets (Note 10)
FINANCIAL LIABILITY FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS/DEFICIT
Derivative financial instrument liabilities (Note 10)

Financial instrument risks
Maritime NZ’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Maritime NZ has a series of policies to manage these risks and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments.
These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are speculative in nature.

Market risk
Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates. Maritime NZ’s exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits, which are held at fixed rates of
interest. Maritime NZ does not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose Maritime NZ to cash-flow interest rate risk.
Maritime NZ’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate
movements. Maritime NZ currently has no variable interest rate investments.
Sensitivity analysis
At 30 June 2021, if interest rates on transaction accounts and term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all
other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would have been $6k (2020: $9k) higher/lower. This movement is
attributable to increased or decreased interest received on term deposits.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates. Maritime NZ purchases goods and services overseas, which requires it to enter into transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. Maritime NZ does not
operate any overseas-currency bank accounts.
It is Maritime NZ’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by entering
into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk exposure where the contract value exceeds a
pre-defined NZ dollar amount.

114

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Maritime NZ, causing it to incur a loss.
Maritime NZ is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with banks, receivables, and derivative financial
instrument assets. For each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the
statement of financial position.
Risk management
For receivables, Maritime NZ monitors and manages receivables based on their ageing and adjusts the expected credit loss
allowance accordingly. Where there are significant concentrations of credit risk, Maritime NZ maintains a relationship with the
counter-party and puts in place appropriate payment arrangements that are regularly monitored.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime NZ invests surplus cash with registered banks with a Standard
and Poor’s credit rating of at least A- for investments. Maritime NZ limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial
institution to no more than 50% of total investments held. Maritime NZ enters into derivative financial instruments only with
either the registered banks identified above, or the New Zealand Government’s debt management office. Maritime NZ’s
investments in term deposits are considered to be low-risk investments. The credit ratings of banks are monitored for
credit deterioration.
No collateral is held as security against these financial instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.
Impairment
Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and term deposit investments are subject to the expected credit loss model. The
notes for these items provide relevant information on impairment.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime NZ will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due.
Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out market positions. Maritime NZ
manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash-flow requirements.
Maritime NZ maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.

Contractual maturity analysis of derivative financial instruments
The table below analyses derivative financial instrument liabilities that are settled net and all gross settled derivatives into their
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed are the undiscounted contractual cash flows.
LIABILITY
CARRYING
AMOUNT
$000

ASSET
CARRYING
AMOUNT
$000

96

–

CONTRACTUAL
CASH FLOWS
$000

LESS THAN
6 MONTHS
$000

6–12 MONTHS
$000

OVER
12 MONTHS
$000

2021
Forward foreign exchange contracts
•

cash outflows

2,587

206

212

2,169

•

cash inflows

2,450

205

208

2,037

2020
Forward foreign exchange contracts

–

146

•

cash outflows

2,977

192

197

2,587

•

cash inflows

3,098

212

216

2,670
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NOTE 22: COVID-19 DISCLOSURE
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared
the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic. Since this time
the New Zealand Government has implemented a range
of restrictions and border controls to limit the spread of
the virus.
COVID-19 had a significant impact on the operations of
Maritime NZ during 2020/21. Key impacts include:
• Disruption arising from restrictions on general movement

of the global and domestic population that affected the
global and domestic supply chain and wider economy
throughout the year. This impacted Maritime NZ financially
through a decrease in the number of port visits by foreign
passenger and non-passenger vessels (decline in levy
revenue);
• International travel was essentially prohibited throughout

the year and alert levels 2-4 significantly disrupted
domestic travel for several short periods (reduced travel
costs);
• Directing considerable resource to support the national

COVID-19 All of Government response including:
– Secondments to a number of core Government
COVID-19 response agencies to advise and
communicate on maritime border issues;
– Establishing an internal COVID-19 response and
recovery team to advise and assist other lead agencies
(including Ministry of Transport, NZ Customs, Ministry
of Health and MBIE) with technical, professional and
communications services relating to the maritime
border, maritime industry and maritime stakeholders;

– Liaising with staff and other key agencies (including
Ministry of Transport and Treasury) to manage the
impacts of COVID-19 on Maritime NZ’s financial
sustainability and health and safety risks;
– The redirection of resource to the COVID-19 response
required greater resourcing costs which was offset
by lower regulatory and compliance investment to
accommodate COVID-19 activity from core funding.
The global impacts of COVID-19 continue to attract
considerable uncertainty around the national and global
economic impact over the next 12 months and beyond.
It is expected that national border restrictions and
global economic restrictions will continue to disrupt the
maritime trade and tourism industry at both a national and
international level.
In April 2020, the NZ Government approved contingency
funding of up to $40 million in favour of Maritime NZ and the
Oil Pollution Fund for the purpose of maintaining regulatory,
compliance and response capability should funding streams
be adversely impacted by COVID-19 through to 30 June
2022. At balance date, Maritime NZ had not drawn down
on this funding, but had depleted cash reserves to agreed
minimum levels. For the 2021/22 financial year liquidity
funding of $22 million has been appropriated. Drawdowns
on this contingency funding commenced in July 2021 and
will continue to be required through to June 2022.
Refer to Note 1 for arrangements in place to ensure
Maritime NZ continues to have the resources to support
and regulate the maritime industry through this period of
uncertainty during 2021/22 and beyond.

NOTE 23: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE
Since 1 July 2021, the New Zealand Government has
continued to adapt its response to COVID-19. This has
resulted in ongoing changes in Alert levels both at a national
and regional level. These changing restrictions do have
impacts on regional productivity, economic activity and
supply chain disruptions. This impacts on port activity levels
and the consequent maritime levy revenue. At the time of

signing the accounts, such variations during 2021/22 can
be comfortably accommodated within the contingency
funding arrangements that are presently in place.
Aside from the inherent uncertainty that exists in the
COVID-19 environment, there are no other material events
of note that have occurred since balance date.

NOTE 24: EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
Explanations for major variations from Maritime NZ’s
budgeted figures in the Statement of Performance
Expectations 2020/21 are as follows.

Statement of comprehensive revenue
and expense
Revenue variances:
Maritime Levy and Fees: The Budget assumed that
COVID-19 would reduce levy-generating activity volumes
by 25% on foreign cargo vessel port visits and the
domestic vessel fleet, 50% reduction in seafarer and
operator certification activity, and 100% reduction in foreign

116

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

passenger ship port visits due to border closures to foreign
visitors. The actual impacts of COVID-19 on foreign cargo
ship port visits, domestic fleet and certification activities
were quite minor resulting in levy and fee revenue being
$4.8m higher than budget. It is of note, however, that levy
revenue was still down by over $9m on pre-COVID-19
forecasts, primarily due to the closure of the border to
cruise vessels.

The increase in costs on prior year was due to additional
funding and obligations associated with expansion of the
recreational boating programme.

Funding from the Crown: The budget assumed that
Maritime NZ would need to draw on Crown liquidity
funding to bridge the expected levy shortfall during the
year. However, in light of the favourable levy revenue
outcomes above and the ability to draw on cash reserves,
the budgeted draw-down of $5.4m was not required.
Separately, Maritime NZ received additional funding of
$1m to cover search and rescue deployment costs which
exceeded the budgeted provision.

Statement of financial position

Other revenue: Maritime NZ’s other revenue exceeded
budget by approximately $1m. This primarily related to
reimbursement of remuneration costs where staff were
seconded to other Crown agencies in support of the
COVID-19 response or for other purposes.

Expenditure variances:
Personnel: The Budget adopted very conservative
resourcing assumptions particularly in respect of holding
vacant positions given the uncertain financial situation.
However, the resourcing demands to support both the
Maritime NZ COVID-19 response and the wider AoG
response through secondments were significant and it
was necessary to backfill these roles through the year
to maintain core regulatory, compliance and response
capability rather than carry vacancies as budgeted.
A significant portion of the additional personnel cost was
offset by a corresponding increase in third-party revenue
through agreed secondment funding arrangements.

Other expenses: Travel expenses were under budget
due to extension of border closures due to COVID-19
and domestic alert level travel restrictions that occurred
throughout the year.

Asset variances:
Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents
are higher than budget due to a decision to hold higher
cash deposits given the uncertainty of COVID-19.
Debtors and other receivables: Debtors and other
receivables are higher than budget due to receiving some
Crown funding retrospectively in July and recovering
the costs of international aid and security projects
retrospectively in July, after the Cook Islands travel bubble
was opened up in June.
Intangible assets: Some internally generated software
projects were delayed due to vendor availability postCOVID-19. Further, one project was reclassified from Capital
to Operating as the scope and specification of the project
changed to better leverage existing technology platforms.

Liability variances:
Provision for employee entitlements: Provision for
employee entitlements are higher than budget due to a
greater number of days accrued for salaries at year end
(2021: 8 days compared to budget assumption of zero),
and an increase in permanent staff as additional staff has
been on boarded during the year.

NOTE 25: STATUTORY REPORTING TIMEFRAME
Section 156(3)(a) of the Crown Entities Act 2004 requires
an audit report to be issued no later than the close
of 31 December 2021. Maritime NZ was unable to
comply with this obligation due to an auditor shortage
in New Zealand and the consequential effects of
COVID-19, including lockdowns, on the availability
of Audit New Zealand to perform the audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of Maritime New Zealand’s financial statements and performance
information for the year ended 30 June 2021.
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand.
The Auditor-General has appointed me, Matthew Geddes,
using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand,
to carry out the audit of the financial statements and
the performance information, including the performance
information for appropriations, of Maritime New Zealand
on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited:
• the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand

on pages 92 to 117, that comprise the statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement
of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year ended on that date and the notes to the financial
statements including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information; and
• the performance information of Maritime New Zealand

on pages 20 to 21, 24 to 67 and 81 to 90.
In our opinion:
• the financial statements of Maritime New Zealand on

pages 92 to 117:
– present fairly, in all material respects:
- its financial position as at 30 June 2021; and
- its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended; and
– comply with generally accepted accounting practice
in New Zealand in accordance with the Public Benefit
Entity Reporting Standards; and
• the performance information on pages 20 to 21, 24 to 67

and 81 to 90:
– presents fairly, in all material respects,
Maritime New Zealand’s performance for
the year ended 30 June 2021, including:
- for each class of reportable outputs:

- what has been achieved with the appropriations;
and
- the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred
compared with the appropriated or forecast
expenses or capital expenditure; and
– complies with generally accepted accounting practice
in New Zealand.
Our audit was completed on 25 January 2022. This is the
date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we
draw attention to the impact of Covid-19 on Maritime
New Zealand. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of
the Board and our responsibilities relating to the financial
statements and the performance information, we comment
on other information, and we explain our independence.

Emphasis of matter – Impact of Covid-19
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the
disclosures about the impact of Covid-19 on Maritime
New Zealand as set out in the basis of preparation section
on pages 97 and 98 and notes 22 and 23 on page 116 to
the financial statements, and pages 20, 21 and 82 of the
performance information.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section
of our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

- its standards of delivery performance achieved as
compared with forecasts included in the statement
of performance expectations for the financial year;
and
- its actual revenue and output expenses as
compared with the forecasts included in the
statement of performance expectations for the
financial year; and

118

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Responsibilities of the Board for
the financial statements and the
performance information
The Board is responsible on behalf of Maritime New Zealand
for preparing financial statements and performance
information that are fairly presented and comply with
generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.
The Board is responsible for such internal control as it
determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial
statements and performance information that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and the performance
information, the Board is responsible on behalf of Maritime
New Zealand for assessing Maritime New Zealand’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to
terminate the activities of Maritime New Zealand, or there
is no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities
Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the
audit of the financial statements and
the performance information
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements and the performance
information, as a whole, are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are
differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures and
can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of
readers, taken on the basis of these financial statements
and the performance information.
For the budget information reported in the financial
statements and the performance information, our
procedures were limited to checking that the information
agreed to Maritime New Zealand’s statement of
performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the
electronic publication of the financial statements and the
performance information.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s
Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
Also:
• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement

of the financial statements and the performance
information, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
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obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant

to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of Maritime New Zealand’s internal control.
• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Board.
• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported

performance information within the Maritime New Zealand’s
framework for reporting its performance.
• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use

of the going concern basis of accounting by the
Board and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
Maritime New Zealand’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements and
the performance information or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause Maritime New Zealand to cease to continue
as a going concern.
• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and

content of the financial statements and the performance
information, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements and the performance information
represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Board regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
on pages 1 to 19, 22 to 23, 68 to 80, 121 to 124 and 145
to 156, but does not include the financial statements
and the performance information, and our auditor’s
report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements and the
performance information does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of audit
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements and
the performance information, our responsibility is to read
the other information. In doing so, we consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements and the performance information or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of Maritime New Zealand in
accordance with the independence requirements of the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate
the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical
Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no
relationship with, or interests, in Maritime New Zealand.

Matthew Geddes
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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APPENDIX 1

Financial Statements
for the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund
Chair’s report
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil
installations and pipelines. The levy is risk based, to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships and
types of oil.
The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority, which in turn
recommends a capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport.
The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the on-going annual contributions from levies are
applied, in accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective marine
oil pollution response system for New Zealand.

Jo Brosnahan, QSO
Board Chair, Maritime NZ
Dated: 25 January 2022
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Statement of responsibility
for the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund
We are responsible for the preparation of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements, and for the judgements
made in them.
We are responsible for the end of year performance information provided by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund which is
provided in Output Class 3 on page 87 of the Annual Report.
We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.
In our opinion, these financial statements and end of year performance information fairly reflect the financial position and
operations of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the year ended 30 June 2021.
Signed for and on behalf of the Authority

Jo Brosnahan, QSO
Board Chair, Maritime NZ

Belinda Vernon
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee, Maritime NZ

Dated: 25 January 2022

Dated: 25 January 2022
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New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
for the year ended 30 June 2021
NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

6,612

5,833

8,036

17

138

70

REVENUE
Oil pollution levy
Other revenue
Interest revenue
Total revenue

38

35

108

6,667

6,006

8,214

1,287

1,297

1,353

727

812

630

EXPENSES
Personnel costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense

2
7,8

Finance costs

9

Other expenses

3

Total expenses

–

5

3,856

4,437

3,647

5,879

6,546

5,635

Surplus/(deficit)

788

(540)

2,579

Total comprehensive revenue and expense

788

(540)

2,579

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2021
NOTES

Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year
Balance at 30 June

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

17,105

16,823

14,526

788
17,893

(540)
16,283

2,579
17,105

Explanations of major variances against budget are detailed in Note 19.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2021
NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

1,866

906

3,188

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

4

Receivables

5

Investments
Prepayments

967

600

381

4,000

2,142

2,250

70

100

644

608

1,668

638

7,511

5,416

7,101

11,297

12,027

10,900

Total non-current assets

11,297

12,027

10,900

Total assets

18,808

17,443

18,001

Inventories

6

Total current assets
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

7

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

9

702

1,000

673

Employee entitlements

10

133

100

141

Derivative financial instruments

11

–

–

11

Provisions

12

11

–

9

846

1,100

834

69

60

62

Total current liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

12

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
NET ASSETS

69

60

62

915

1,160

896

17,893

16,283

17,105

17,893

16,283

17,105

17,893

16,283

17,105

EQUITY
General funds

13

TOTAL EQUITY

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 19.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2021
NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

6,368

5,833

8,254

17

138

70

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from oil pollution levy
Receipts from other revenue
Interest received

38

35

123

Payments to employees

(1,295)

(1,297)

(1,320)

Payments to suppliers

(3,575)

(4,937)

(4,357)

Goods and services tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

20

–

(69)

1,573

(228)

2,701

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment

22

–

4

Receipts from maturity of investments

5,250

2,000

5,700

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(1,167)

(1,855)

Acquisitions of investments

(7,000)

–

(4,300)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(2,895)

145

(949)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(1,322)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

3,188

989

1,436

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

1,866

906

3,188

(83)

(2,353)

1,752

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 19.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Notes index
1

Statement of accounting policies

8

Intangible assets

15 Related party transactions

2

Personnel costs

9

Payables

16 Financial instruments

3

Other expenses

10 Employee entitlements

17 COVID-19 Disclosure

4

Cash and cash equivalents

11 Derivative Financial Instruments

18 Events after the balance date

5

Receivables

12 Provisions

6

Inventories

13 Equity

19 Explanation of major variances
against budget

7

Property, plant, and equipment

14 Contingencies

20 Statutory Reporting Timeframe

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Reporting Entity
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund) has been
established by Maritime NZ pursuant to section 330 of
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. The Fund is domiciled in
New Zealand and its ultimate parent is the New Zealand
Crown.
The Fund’s primary objective is to meet the on-going costs
of maintaining New Zealand’s oil spill response capability,
including contingency plans, equipment, and training and
response costs (where they are unable to be recovered from
the spiller). Levies imposed on shipping and oil sites are
paid into the Fund to finance these costs.
Accordingly, the Authority has designated the Fund as a public
benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of financial reporting.
While the financial statements of the Fund form part of
the financial reports of the Authority, they are presented
separately in order to clearly identify the revenue and
expenditure associated with the Authority’s oil pollution
response activities.
The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2021 and were
approved by the Authority on 25 January 2022.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been
applied consistently throughout the year.
The Authority, after making enquiries, has a reasonable
expectation that the Fund has access to adequate resources
and assurance to continue operations for the foreseeable
future based on current operating arrangements and with
support from the Crown. The Authority has reached this
conclusion having regard to circumstances which it considers
likely to affect the Fund during the period of one year from the
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date of signing the 2020/21 financial statements, and other
circumstances that could affect the validity of the going concern
assumption. The key considerations are set out below.
The financial position and key financial indicators of the Fund
remain strong at 30 June 2021 with the Fund not requiring
access to funding support during the 2020/21 year (as
described further below). The year-to-date financial results at
the date of signing these financial statements are materially
in line with the budget contained in the 2021/22 Statement
of Performance Expectations (budgeting a surplus of $592k),
and any variances are well within the scope and levels of
funding available through the Crown appropriation for support
of $22m for Maritime NZ and the Fund in 2021/22 and cash
reserves held.
The Crown has provided funding support in favour of
Maritime NZ and the Oil Pollution Fund to maintain regulatory
and response capability and performance. This support
takes the form of an appropriation to compensate for
COVID-19 levy impairment to 30 June 2022. The Authority
has also received a letter of support from the Ministers of
Finance and Transport to enable the Fund to satisfy the
going concern basis, which states that the Government
acknowledges that support may be required and that
the Crown will provide such support where necessary to
maintain viability to the extent that statutory and regulatory
functions can be met noting this is subject to Cabinet
approval and the Parliamentary authorisation processes by
way of appropriation. In order to satisfy this Parliamentary
authorisation process, the Ministers of Finance and
Transport issued an invitation to Maritime NZ (including
the Fund) in October 2021 to submit a bid for Budget 22
that will enable the entity to maintain response capability
from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.
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Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Maritime Transport
Act 1994 and comply with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP).
The Fund is a Tier 2 public benefit entity and the financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with
PBE standards. The Fund is eligible to report as a Tier 2
reporting entity on the basis that it does not have public
accountability and is not large due to its annual expenses
being less than $30 million.
These financial statements comply with the PBE Standards
Reduced Disclosure Regime.

Presentation currency and rounding
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($000).

Summary of significant
accounting policies

dollars (the functional currency) using the spot exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions, and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented exclusive
of GST, except for receivables and payables, which are
presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not
recoverable as an input tax, it is recognised as part of the
related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, Inland Revenue is included as part of receivables or
payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the
GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified
as an operating cash flow in the Statement of Cash Flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive
of GST.

Income tax

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do not
relate to a specific note are outlined below.

The Fund is a public authority and consequently is exempt
from the payment of income tax. Accordingly, no provision
has been made for income tax.

Revenue

Budget figures

Funding from levies
Oil pollution levies charged on foreign vessels are based
on information from the New Zealand Customs Service
regarding port visits. Oil pollution levies charged on domestic
commercial vessels are based on vessels registered with
Maritime NZ and are recognised in the period to which the
levy relates.
Provision of services
Revenue derived from the provision of services to
third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage of
completion at balance date.
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time
proportion basis the interest due for the investment.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the financial year in which
they are incurred.

Investments
Bank term deposits
Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount
invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to the
investment balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses
is recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not trivial.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which forward
exchange contracts are held) are translated into New Zealand
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The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
Performance Expectations, as approved by the Authority
at the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using
accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted
by the Authority in preparing these financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, the Fund has made
estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These
estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are:
• Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and

equipment (refer note 7); and
• Potential inventory obsolescence or loss of service

potential (refer note 6).

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies
Critical judgements have been applied in assessing the
preparation of these financial statements on a going
concern basis given the financial uncertainties that exist to
the Fund’s third party funding streams, particularly beyond
30 June 2022.
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NOTE 2: PERSONNEL COSTS
Accounting Policy

Employee remuneration

Salaries and wages

Total remuneration paid or payable that is or exceeds
$100,000 is set out below.

Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense as
employees provide services.

Superannuation schemes – defined contribution
schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government
Superannuation Fund, and Tower LifeSaver are accounted
for as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are
expensed in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Breakdown of personnel costs and
further information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

1,185

1,232

Other personnel costs

Salaries and wages

32

41

Employer contributions to defined
contribution plans

68

63

2

17

1,287

1,353

Increase/(decrease) in employee
entitlements (Note 10)
Total personnel costs

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

100,000–109,999

3

2

110,000–119,999

–

–

120,000–129,999

2

1

130,000–139,999

2

2

140,000–149,999

1

1

Total employees

8

6

The above figures are based on an individual’s full package
including all allowances and benefits. During the year ended
30 June 2021 no employees received compensation and
other benefits in relation to cessation (2020: $nil).

NOTE 3: OTHER EXPENSES
Accounting Policy
Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset to the lessee. Lease payments
under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

Breakdown of other expenses and
further information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

13

12

Administration

186

118

Services provided by Maritime NZ

815

775

Fees to auditors – fees to Audit New
Zealand for audit of financial statements

Consultancy
Equipment and maintenance
Industry liaison

57

363

322

1

61

Operating expenses

169

196

Operating lease expenses

166

175

Professional and safety services

634

624

Regional Council expenses

755

601

70

185

523

334

22

187

Travel
Training and national exercises
Net losses on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Loss on foreign exchange
Total other expenses
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60

79

–

3,856

3,647
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Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than
5 years
Later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating
leases

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

168

168

43

211

–

–

211

379

The Fund leases one property for operating purposes.
The lease has a right of renewal with effect in September
2022 and final expiry date of September 2028. The Fund
does not have the option to purchase the premises at the
end of the lease term. The Fund has recognised a makegood provision of $80k (2020: $71k) in respect of this lease
(Note 12).

Note 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Accounting policy
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held on call with banks, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity
dates of three months or less approximates their fair value.
There are no assets recognised in a non-exchange
transaction that are subject to restrictions.

Breakdown of cash equivalents and
further information
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

1,866

3,188

1,866

3,188

Cash at bank and on hand
Total cash and equivalents

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES
Accounting Policy
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due,
less an allowance for credit losses. The Fund applies the
simplified expected credit loss model of recognising lifetime
expected credit losses for receivables.

Breakdown of receivables and further
information

In measuring expected credit losses, short-term receivables
have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess
shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped
based on the days past due.

Receivables (gross)

Short-term receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery include the debtor
being in liquidation.

Receivables comprise:

Less: Allowance for credit losses

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

967

381

–

–

967

381

Receivables from the sale of goods and
services (exchange transactions)

3

86

Receivables from oil pollution levies and
other items (non-exchange transactions)

964

295

Receivables

There have been no changes during the reporting period in
the estimation techniques or significant assumptions used
in measuring the loss allowance.
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NOTE 6: INVENTORIES
Accounting Policy
Inventories are held for distribution or for use in the provision
of goods and services. The inventories are held for noncommercial use and are measured at cost (determined on
the weighted average cost method), adjusted for any loss of
service potential.

is recorded through the second 10 years of the product
life-cycle.

Breakdown of inventories and further
information

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
Any write-down from cost to net realisable value, or the loss
of service potential is recognised in surplus or deficit in the
year of write-down.
The impairment approach for oil spill dispersant is based
on a series of annual impairment assessments that reflect
the likely pattern of deterioration indicated by historic lab
analysis and international experience. The pattern adopted
is that no impairment is recorded for the first 10 years of
product life and that an impairment loss of 10% per annum

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

1,176

1,157

Oil spill response and dispersants
Less provision for impairment of service
performance

(568)

(519)

608

638

Total inventory

There have been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories
are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some
inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.

NOTE 7: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Accounting Policy

Disposals

Property, plant and equipment consists of six asset
classes which are all measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the
surplus or deficit.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the
item will flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.
Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and
is not depreciated.
In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment
is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at fair
value as at the date of acquisition.
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential associated with the item will
flow to the Fund and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised as expenses in the surplus or
deficit as they are incurred.
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Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all
property, plant and equipment at rates that will write off the
cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual
values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated
depreciation rates of major classes of property, plant and
equipment have been estimated as follows:
ASSET TYPE

Plant & equipment

USEFUL LIFE
(YEARS)

DEPRECIATION
METHOD

5–50

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings & office
equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

10–35

straight-line

Leasehold improvements
Vessels

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated remaining
useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Fund does not hold any cash-generating assets.
Assets are considered cash-generating where their primary
objective is to generate a commercial return.
Property, plant and equipment, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable service amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value, less costs to sell, and value in use.
Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining
service potential. It is determined using an approach
based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach,
restoration cost approach, or a service units’ approach.
The most appropriate approach used to measure value in
use depends on the nature of the impairment and availability
of information.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying
amount is written down to the recoverable service amount.
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
surplus or deficit.

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions
Estimating useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values
of the Fund’s property, plant and equipment are reviewed.
Assessing the appropriateness of useful life and residual
value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires
a number of factors to be considered such as the physical
condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset
by the Fund, and expected disposal proceeds from the
future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will
affect the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or
deficit, and carrying amount of the asset in the Statement
of Financial Position. The Fund minimises the risk of this
estimation uncertainty by:
• physical inspections of assets
• asset replacement programmes
• review of second-hand market prices for similar assets
• analysis of prior asset sales.

The Fund has not made significant changes to past
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values
except where individual assets have been impaired or
written off during the financial year due to observable
changes in the asset itself.
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Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT
$000

VESSELS
$000

MOTOR VEHICLES
$000

14,778

467

304

172

–

–

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2019
Additions
Transfer from WIP

1,501

–

–

Disposals

(2,095)

(6)

(5)

Balance at 30 June 2020

14,356

461

299

Balance at 1 July 2020

14,356

461

299
163

Additions

292

–

Transfer from WIP

2,181

–

–

Disposals

(1,263)

–

(30)

Balance at 30 June 2021

15,566

461

432

7,115

331

273

571

31

14

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Balance at 1 July 2019
Depreciation expense
Elimination on disposal

(1,904)

Balance at 30 June 2020

5,783

356

282

Balance at 1 July 2020

5,783

356

282

668

26

Depreciation expense

(6)

–

(5)

27

Elimination on disposal

(1,221)

(30)

Balance at 30 June 2021

5,230

382

279

At 30 June 2020

8,573

105

17

At 30 June 2021

10,336

79

153

CARRYING AMOUNTS

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of the Fund’s property, plant and equipment, and no property, plant and equipment is
pledged as security for liabilities.

Capital commitments
There are contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of $257k at the reporting date
(2020: Nil).
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FURNITURE, FITTINGS
AND OFFICE
EQUIPMENT
$000

COMPUTER
EQUIPMENT
$000

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENTS
$000

WORK IN PROGRESS
$000

TOTAL
$000

78

46

84

1,501

17,258

–

–

–

2,181

2,353

(1,501)

–

–

–

(3)

–

–

–

(2,109)

75

46

84

2,181

17,502

75

46

84

2,181

17,502

5

–

–

707

1,167

–

–

–

–

(18)

–

–

80

28

84

707

17,358

78

38

55

–

7,890

–

5

8

–

(3)

–

–

–

(1,918)

75

43

63

–

6,602

75

43

63

–

6,602

–

2

4

–

–

(18)

–

–

(1,269)

(2,181)

–

–
(1,311)

630

727

75

27

67

–

6,061

–

3

21

2,181

10,900

5

1

17

707

11,297

Annual Report 2020/21

135

NOTE 8: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Accounting Policy
Software acquisition and development
Computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of
software for internal use are recognised as an intangible
asset. Direct costs include software development and
employee costs to develop software and bring in to use.

and ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The
amortisation charge for each period is expensed in the
surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
ASSET TYPE

USEFUL LIFE
(YEARS)

AMORTISATION
METHOD

Acquired

3–5

straight-line

Internally generated

3–8

straight-line

Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:

Impairment of intangible assets

• Staff training costs are expensed when incurred

Refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant and
equipment in Note 7. The same approach applies to the
impairment of intangible assets.

• Costs associated with maintaining computer software are

expensed when incurred
• Costs associated with the development and maintenance

of the Fund’s website are expensed when incurred.

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life
is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use

Restrictions
There are no restrictions over the title of the Fund’s
intangible assets, and there are no intangible assets
pledged as security for liabilities.
Capital commitments
There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition
of Intangible assets at the reporting date (2020: Nil).

Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:
ACQUIRED
SOFTWARE
$000

INTERNALLY
GENERATED
SOFTWARE
$000

TOTAL
$000

COST OR VALUATION
Balance at 1 July 2019

19

492

511

Disposals

(19)

(492)

(511)

Balance at 30 June 2020

–

–

–

Balance at 1 July 2020

–

–

–

Additions

–

–

–

Disposals

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2021

–

–

–

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION and IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
19

492

511

Amortisation expense

Balance at 1 July 2019

–

–

–

Elimination on disposal

(19)

Balance at 30 June 2020

–

(492)
–

(511)
–

Balance at 1 July 2020

–

–

–

Amortisation expense

–

–

–

Elimination on disposal

–

–

–

Balance at 30 June 2021

–

–

–

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 30 June 2020

–

–

–

At 30 June 2021

–

–

–
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NOTE 9: PAYABLES
Accounting Policy

Breakdown of payables

Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at the
amount payable.

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
Creditors

203

79

Accrued expenses

499

594

Total payables under exchange
transactions

702

673

Total payables

702

673

NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Accounting Policy

Breakdowwn of employee entitlements
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

Annual leave

94

92

Accrued salary and wages

39

49
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Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within
12 months after the end of the year in which the employee
provides the related service are measured based on
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual
leave earned but not yet taken at balance date.

Total employee entitlements

NOTE 11: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Accounting Policy
Derivative financial instruments
Financial instruments are used to manage exposure to
foreign exchange risk arising from the Fund’s operational
activities. The Fund does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. The Fund has
not adopted hedge accounting.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured to their fair value at each balance date with
the resulting gain or loss recognised in surplus or deficit.
A forward foreign exchange derivative is classified as current
if it is due for settlement within 12 months of balance date.
Otherwise the full fair value of the forward foreign exchange
derivatives is classified as non-current.
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Further information on derivative
financial instruments
The notional principal amounts of outstanding forward
exchange contracts were NZ$39k (2020: $142k). The foreign
currency principal amounts were €23k (2020: US$84k).
There is no substantive unrealised gain or loss to report
on these instruments at 30 June 2021.
The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts have
been determined using a discounted cash flows valuation
technique based on quoted market prices (observable
inputs). The inputs into the valuation model are from
independently sourced market parameters such as currency
rates. Most market parameters are implied from forward
foreign exchange contract prices.
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NOTE 12: PROVISIONS
Accounting Policy
Provisions
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain
amount or timing when:
• there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive)

as a result of a past event,
• it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits

or service potential will be required to settle the obligation,
and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation,
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time, value of money, and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Breakdown of provisions and further
information
Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, the Fund is required at the
expiry of the lease term to make good any damage caused
to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to
remove any fixtures or fittings installed by the Fund. In many
cases, the Fund has the option to renew these leases,
which impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows
to make good the premises. Information about the Fund’s
leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 3.

Movements for each class of provision are
as follows:
ACTUAL
$000

LEASE MAKE-GOOD

Balance at 1 July 2019

66

Discount unwind provision

5

Balance at 30 June 2020

71

Balance at 1 July 2020

71

Discount unwind provision

9

Balance at 30 June 2021

80

NOTE 13: EQUITY
Accounting Policy

Breakdown of equity

Equity is measured as the difference between total assets
and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified
into the following components:
• contributed capital;
• accumulated surplus/(deficit)

ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

15,282

15,282

–

–

15,282

15,282

1,823

(756)

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

788

2,579

Balance at 30 June

2,611

1,823

Total equity 30 June

17,893

17,105

NOTE 14: CONTINGENCIES
Contingent liabilities

Contingent assets

The Fund has no contingent liabilities (2020: $nil).

The Fund has no contingent assets (2020: $nil).
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NOTE 15: RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Further, transactions with other government agencies (for
example, government departments and Crown entities) are
not disclosed as related party transactions when they are
on normal terms and conditions consistent with the normal
operating arrangements between government agencies.

The Fund is ultimately controlled by the Crown.
Related party disclosures have not been made for
transactions with related parties that are:
• Within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship;

and
• On terms and conditions no more or less favourable than

those that it is reasonable to expect the Fund would have
adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the
same circumstances.
TRANSACTION

Maritime New Zealand – salaries and administration cost
recovered by Maritime New Zealand

REF

The following transactions were carried out with related
parties other than those described above.
No provision has been required, nor any expense
recognised, for impairment of receivables from related
parties (2020: $nil).
TRANSACTION VALUE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

1

BALANCE OUTSTANDING
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

2021
$000

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

815

775

6

15

1 Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. The costs relating to this administration have been paid
to Maritime NZ on a cost-recovery basis.

NOTE 16: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
ACTUAL
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

1,866

3,188

967

381

Investments – term deposits

4,000

2,250

Total financial assets at amortised cost

6,833

5,819

Payables (Note 9)

702

673

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

702

673

Derivative financial instrument liabilities (refer note 11)

–

11

Total financial liabilities measured at fair value through surplus/deficit

–

11

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Receivables (Note 5)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH SURPLUS/DEFICIT

NOTE 17: COVID-19 DISCLOSURE
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared
the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic. Since this time
the New Zealand Government has implemented a range
of restrictions and border controls to limit the spread of
the virus.
COVID-19 had a significant impact on the operations of the
Fund during 2020/21. Key impacts include:
• Disruption arising from restrictions on general movement

of the global and domestic population that affected the
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global and domestic supply chain and wider economy
throughout the year. This impacted the Fund financially
through a decrease in the number of port visits by foreign
passenger and non-passenger vessels, and a significant
reduction in the volume of oil cargo carried including a
change in the mix (decline in levy revenue);
• International travel was essentially prohibited throughout

the year and alert levels 2–4 significantly disrupted domestic
travel for several short periods (reduced travel costs);
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• The disruption caused by COVID-19 resulted in some

planned training, workshops and consultancy costs
(including funding review) being delayed or cancelled
(reduced operating costs).
The global impacts of COVID-19 continue to attract
considerable uncertainty around the national and global
economic impact over the next 12 months and beyond. It is
expected that national border restrictions and global economic
restrictions will continue to disrupt the maritime trade and
tourism industry at both a national and international level.

In April 2020, the NZ Government approved contingency
funding of up to $40 million in favour of Maritime NZ and the
Oil Pollution Fund for the purpose of maintaining regulatory,
compliance and response capability should funding streams
be adversely impacted by COVID-19 through to 30 June
2022. At balance date, the Fund had not drawn down on
this funding. For the 2021/22 financial year liquidity funding
of $22 million has been appropriated for Maritime NZ and the
Fund. Refer to Note 1 for arrangements in place to ensure the
Fund continues to have the resources to support and regulate
the maritime industry through this period of uncertainty during
2021/22 and beyond.

NOTE 18: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE
Since 1 July 2021, the New Zealand Government has
continued to adapt its response to COVID-19. This has
resulted in ongoing changes in Alert levels both at a
national and regional level subsequent to balance date.
These changing restrictions do have impacts on regional
productivity, economic activity and supply chain disruptions.
This impacts on port activity and oil cargo volumes and the
consequent oil pollution levy revenue. At the time of signing

the accounts, such variations during 2021/22 can be
comfortably accommodated within the contingency funding
arrangements that are presently in place.
Aside from the inherent uncertainty that exists in the
COVID-19 environment, there are no other material events
of note that have occurred since balance date.

NOTE 19: EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
Statement of comprehensive revenue
and expense
Explanations for major variations from the Fund’s budgeted
figures in the Statement of Performance Expectations
2020/21 are provided below.

Revenue variances:

Statement of financial position
Asset variances:
Cash and cash equivalents and Investments: Cash and
cash equivalents and Investments are higher than budget
due to delays in the procurement of planned equipment,
assets and inventories as well as reduced expenditure.

Oil Pollution levy: The 2020/21 budget estimated a 25%
reduction in levy revenue (across port visits from foreign ships,
oil cargo carried by foreign and domestic tankers and the
size of the domestic fleet). The size of the domestic fleet and
number of port visits from foreign ships were not materially
impacted by COVID-19 and as a result, levy revenue exceeded
the original budget. Total levy revenue however still remains
significantly lower than pre-COVID-19 levels.

Inventories: Planned inventory purchases have been
delayed whilst the preferred supplier obtains regulatory
sign-off for their optimised dispersant product.

Expenditure variances:

Statement of cash flows

Other expenses: Travel costs were significantly lower than
budget due to borders remaining closed throughout the financial
year and changes to alert levels disrupting planned domestic
travel. Costs anticipated to prepare for the 2020/21 funding
review have been deferred to 2021/22 due to the Government
moratorium on funding reviews and planned costs to maintain
and commission equipment were lower than anticipated due
to global supply chain disruption leading to a delay in the
procurement and delivery of planned equipment and assets.
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Property, plant and equipment: The procurement and
delivery of plant and equipment has been delayed due to
manufacturing and shipping delays from overseas suppliers
due to COVID-19.

Cash flows from investing:
Cash flows from investing: Cash balances have
been retained in cash and cash equivalents rather than
term deposits to provide more flexibility to deal with the
uncertainties arising from COVID-19.
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NOTE 20: STATUTORY REPORTING TIMEFRAME
Section 156(3)(a) of the Crown Entities Act 2004 requires an audit report to be issued no later than the close of
31 December 2021. The Oil Pollution Fund was unable to comply with this obligation due to an auditor shortage in
New Zealand and the consequential effects of COVID-19, including lockdowns, on the availability of Audit New Zealand
to perform the audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2021
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand
Oil Pollution fund (the Fund). The Auditor-General has
appointed me, Matthew Geddes, using the staff and
resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of
the financial statements of the Fund on his behalf.

Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section
of our report.

Opinion

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.

We have audited the financial statements of the Fund
on pages 125 to 141, that comprise the statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement
of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year ended on that date and the notes to the financial
statements that include accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
In our opinion the financial statements of the Fund on pages
125 to 141:
• present fairly, in all material respects:

– its financial position as at 30 June 2021; and
– its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended; and
• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in

New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity
Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.
Our audit was completed on 25 January 2022. This is the
date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we
draw attention to the impact of Covid-19 on the Fund. In
addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and
our responsibilities relating to the financial statements,
we comment on other information, and we explain
our independence.

Emphasis of matter – Impact of
Covid-19
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the
disclosures about the impact of Covid-19 on the Fund
as set out in the basis of preparation section on page
128, and notes 17 and 18 on pages 139 to 140 to the
financial statements.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the
financial statements
The Board is responsible on behalf of the Fund for preparing
financial statements that are fairly presented and that
comply with generally accepted accounting practice in
New Zealand.
The Board is responsible for such internal control as it
determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is
responsible on behalf of the Fund for assessing the Fund’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting, unless there is an intention to liquidate the
Fund or to cease operations, or there is no realistic
alternative but to do so.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime
Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act 2004 and the
Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the
audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
ut is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance
with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts
or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error.
Misstatements are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
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influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
For the budget information reported in the financial
statements, our procedures were limited to checking
that the information agreed to the Fund’s statement of
performance expectations.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the
electronic publication of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s
Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
Also:
• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement

of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant

to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control.
• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Board.

Other Information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included on pages
1 to 19, 22 to 23, 68 to 80, 121 to 124 and 145 to 156,
but does not include the financial statements, and our
auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of audit
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing
so, we consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s
Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence
requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1:
International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners
issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or
interests in, the Fund.

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the

going concern basis of accounting by the Board and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Matthew Geddes
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and

content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Board regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.
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APPENDIX 2

Maritime NZ and
Rescue Coordination
Centre NZ additional
financial information
The financial statements of Maritime NZ consolidate the activities of the Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand with
Maritime NZ’s regulatory and compliance activities. This appendix provides additional financial information that does not form
part of Maritime NZ’s audited accounts, to give readers more detail about the cost of operating Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand.
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Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
for the year ended 30 June 2021
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

2

19,533

25,177

14,671

23,127

18,872

32,384

6,046

4,657

5,801

82

200

231

48,788

48,906

53,087

3

35,902

33,538

30,994

12,13

2,114

2,384

1,883

REVENUE
Crown
Maritime levy
Other revenue

2

Interest revenue
Total revenue
EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Capital charge

4

616

740

739

Finance costs

5

101

72

72

Other expenses

6

16,124

17,961

14,708

Total expenses

54,857

54,695

48,396

Surplus/(deficit)

(6,069)

(5,789)

4,691

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE
Gain on property revaluations
Total comprehensive revenue and expense
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–
(6,069)

–
(5,789)

–
4,691
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RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND

GROUP

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

9,277

8,363

8,683

28,810

33,540

23,354

–

–

–

23,127

18,872

32,384

252

119

201

6,298

4,776

6,002

31

76

60

113

276

291

9,560

8,558

8,944

58,348

57,464

62,031

2,945

3,188

2,904

38,847

36,726

33,898

407

571

402

2,521

2,955

2,285

468

478

501

1,084

1,218

1,240

–

–

–

101

72

72

5,560

4,288

4,353

21,684

22,249

19,061

9,380

8,525

8,160

64,237

63,220

56,556

180

33

784

(5,889)

(5,756)

–

–

–

180

33

784
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ACTUAL
2021
$000

–
(5,889)

BUDGET
2021
$000

–
(5,756)

ACTUAL
2020
$000

5,475

–
5,475
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Maritime NZ and Rescue Coordination Centre NZ
Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2021
MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

NOTES

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

7

4,997

1,685

3,857

Receivables

8

3,521

2,700

4,052

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

Investments

9

2,000

2,460

7,500

599

580

621

Prepayments
Inventories

11

Total current assets

136

150

133

11,253

7,575

16,163

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

Property, plant and equipment

12

5,568

5,469

5,887

Intangible assets

13

5,333

6,454

5,225

Total non-current assets

10,901

11,923

11,112

Total assets

22,154

19,498

27,275

3,337

3,500

2,565

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables

14

Borrowings

15

299

284

296

Employee entitlements

16

3,196

2,000

2,754

Provisions

17

34

–

23

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

6,866

5,784

5,638

Total current liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Borrowings

15

905

961

1,204

Provisions

17

172

130

153

Derivative financial instruments

10

–

–

–

1,077

1,091

1,357

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

7,943

6,875

6,995

14,211

12,623

20,280

EQUITY
Contributed Capital

19

12,320

12,320

12,320

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

19

600

(988)

6,669

Property revaluation reserves

19

Total equity
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1,291

1,291

1,291

14,211

12,623

20,280
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RESCUE COORDINATION CENTRE NEW ZEALAND

GROUP

ACTUAL
2021
$000

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

ACTUAL
2021
$00

BUDGET
2021
$000

ACTUAL
2020
$000

1,481

1,863

1,480

6,478

3,548

5,337

984

50

80

4,505

2,750

4,132

–

–

39

–

–

39

2,250

2,300

2,150

4,250

4,760

9,650

58

20

65

657

600

686

–

–

–

136

150

133

4,773

4,233

3,814

16,026

11,808

19,977

–

–

107

–

–

107

5,295

5,299

5,607

10,863

10,768

11,494

325

563

306

5,658

7,017

5,531

5,620

5,862

6,020

16,521

17,785

17,132

10,393

10,095

9,834

32,547

29,593

37,109

165

257

192

3,502

3,757

2,757

–

–

–

299

284

296

325

200

280

3,521

2,200

3,034
23

–

–

–

34

–

4

–

–

4

–

–

494

457

472

7,360

6,241

6,110

–

–

–

905

961

1,204
153

–

–

–

172

130

92

–

–

92

–

–

92

–

–

1,169

1,091

1,357

586

457

472

8,529

7,332

7,467

9,807

9,638

9,362

24,018

22,261

29,642

13,453

13,586

13,188

25,773

25,956

25,508

(3,646)

(3,948)

(3,826)

(3,046)

(4,986)

2,843

–

–

–

1,291

1,291

1,291

9,807

9,638

9,362

24,018

22,261

29,642
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APPENDIX 3

Governance and
accountability
The Minister of Transport is responsible
to Parliament for overseeing and
managing the Crown’s interests in
Maritime NZ.

Executive Team

The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s Board to set the
direction of the entity, achieve the Government’s desired
results as set out in the Maritime Transport Act 1994 (MTA)
and other legislation and policy, and manage any maritime
safety and security risks on behalf of the Crown.

• Nigel Clifford, Safety and Response Systems

Members act in accordance with applicable statutory
requirements (for example, the MTA and Crown Entities Act
2004), and in the interests of the role and functions
of maritime safety and security.

Board function
Maritime NZ’s Board is made up of five to seven members
appointed by the Governor-General on the recommendation
of the Minister of Transport. The Board appoints the Director
of Maritime NZ, who has independent statutory powers
under the MTA.
The Board is responsible and accountable for the
management and strategic direction of Maritime NZ.

Accountability
The responsible Ministers provide Maritime NZ with an
annual letter outlining their expectations. This guides the
development of the Statement of Intent and Statement
of Performance Expectations both of which are tabled
in Parliament.
The Statement of Intent and Statement of Performance
Expectations set out what Maritime NZ intends to deliver
and are the primary sources from which Parliament and
Ministers are able to hold Maritime NZ to account.
The Minister’s formal line of accountability with Maritime NZ
is through the Board. The Board selects, appoints and
monitors the performance of the Director of Maritime NZ,
Kirstie Hewlett. The Director of Maritime NZ is responsible
to the Board for the efficient and effective running of
Maritime NZ.
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The Executive Team comprises the Chief Executive and
Director of Maritime NZ and Deputy Directors and deputy
Chief Executives from the seven business groups:
• Peter Brunt, Regulatory Systems Design

• Kenny Crawford, Maritime Systems Assurance
• Sharyn Forsyth, Communication Stakeholder Engagement
• Anne Greenwood, People Capability
• Harry Hawthorn, Compliance Systems Delivery
• Andrew Saunderson, Organisational Strategy and Systems.

Delegations
Maritime NZ operates a financial delegation’s policy that
allows individuals to carry out their role and function.
The policy provides a check and balance, to ensure
transactions that are of an exceptional nature, or are
deemed to exceed a level of risk, are first approved by
someone with the appropriate expertise, authority and
experience.
The Board delegates levels of authority to the Director
of Maritime NZ and Maritime NZ managers.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee (a sub-committee of the
Board) comprises all Board members.
The Committee has the authority to make recommendations
only. The objectives of the Committee are to ensure:
• the robustness of risk management systems and practices
• the independence and adequacy of the internal audit

functions
• compliance with regulations, standards and best-practice

guidelines.

Risk management
The Board is responsible for ensuring Maritime NZ has a
comprehensive risk register, which identifies all significant
risks, corresponding mitigation actions and the regular
monitoring of these mitigations.

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

Internal audit
The Audit and Risk Committee establishes a risk-based
internal audit programme each year, covering the main
functions and services of Maritime NZ. The programme also
includes the flexibility to schedule reviews of areas of interest
to the Director and the Committee as the need arises.
Internal audit services are provided either internally
or through contracted providers.

Legislative compliance and ethics
Maritime NZ is guided by its codes of conduct and the
Public Service Commissioner’s Standards of Integrity
and Conduct. Board members are required to complete
a declaration of interests on appointment, and whenever
changes occur during their term.
A schedule of Board members’ interests is reviewed at
every Board meeting.
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APPENDIX 4

Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix captures information about its overall response capability across five key
elements. The capability of each element is assessed, on a six-monthly basis, against a range of criteria to determine an
overall rating. Assessments are reported to Maritime NZ’s Audit and Risk Committee. Maritime NZ is striving to sustain
overall response capability as amber or higher over the term of the Statement of Intent and beyond.
Overall, Maritime NZ Response Capability Matrix in 2020/21 had an amber status. The individual elements (Maritime
Incident Response, Search and Rescue; Marine Pollution Response Service; and Security) each had a green ratings.
These ratings, including trends, are discussed under Impact 6 (for more see pages 52). Of note, the Response Capability
Matrix has recently been updated as per the 2021–2025 Statement of Intent.
MARITIME INCIDENT RESPONSE TEAM

MARINE POLLUTION RESPONSE SERVICE

Capable of responding fully to a maritime incident:

Capable of responding to a national oil spill:

•

National exercise held every four years

•

Regional and national responders fully trained to meet risk

•

Responders fully trained to identified competencies

•

•

Minimum of four exercises undertaken each year

Minimum number of industry, regional and national exercises
undertaken

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) fully implemented.

•

Equipment stockpiles fit for role

•

Regulatory obligations met.

Able to respond to a maritime incident but lacking in
specific areas of competency:

Able to respond to a national oil spill but lacking in
some areas:

•

National exercise being developed, planning and coordination
under way for exercise

•

Responder capability competencies identified and appropriate
training being developed

•

Responder competencies identified and appropriate training
being developed

•

Industry, regional and national exercises being developed,
planning and coordination under way for exercise

•

High priority training completed with some responders

•

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) partially
implemented.

Equipment stockpiles maintained but some shortfalls in
equipment holdings against capability plan

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

58

Not capable of effectively responding to a
maritime incident:

Not capable of effectively responding to a national oil spill:

•

No national exercises held

•

Responder capability limited in numbers and competency

•

Responder competencies not identified therefore no training
in place

•

Regional exercises not meeting criteria. No industry or national
exercises undertaken or planned

•

Rena recommendations (where appropriate) not implemented.

•

Major deficiencies in equipment, hampering response capability.

152

MARITIME NEW ZEALAND

SEARCH AND RESCUE

SECURITY

RESPONSE COORDINATION

Fully capable of responding efficiently
and effectively to all search and rescue
incidents in the New Zealand Search
and Rescue Region (NZSRR):

Fully capable of responding to a
maritime security incident:

Full integration of response
components:

•

National SAR plan in place

•

Standard Operating Procedures in place

•

Memoranda of understanding with
national SAR resource providers and SAR
agreements with relevant nations in place

•

Tested plans in place for appropriate
augmentation of SAR capability for large
scale operations.

Capable of responding efficiently and
effectively to most SAR incidents in
the NZSRR:

•

Maritime NZ fully connected to the
New Zealand intelligence community

•

Maritime NZ fully connected to the NZ
emergency response community

•

Full response capability in accordance
with Maritime Security Plan

•

•

Regulatory obligations met.

Maritime NZ has a comprehensive
response capability in accordance with
Maritime Emergency Response Plan

•

All regulatory obligations met.

Able to respond to a maritime security
incident, but lacking in specific areas:

•

Sufficient staff to run Operations Room
24/7 year round

•

Maritime NZ has limited connectivity to
New Zealand intelligence community

•

Insufficient staff to undertake full range of
support tasks

•

Reduced response capability

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

•

Plans and procedures for mass rescue
and large scale events not fully developed
and implemented.

Not capable of responding efficiently
and effectively to most incidents in
the NZSRR:

Not capable of responding:

Able to respond to a maritime
emergency response Incident, but
lacking coordination in specific areas:
•

Maritime NZ has limited connectivity
to New Zealand emergency response
community

•

Overall response capability limited to
some degree

•

Regulatory obligations partially met.

Response capability not aligned:

•

Insufficient staff to run Operations Room
24/7 year round

•

Maritime NZ has no connection to the
New Zealand intelligence community

•

Maritime NZ response functions are
siloed, not connected or well coordinated

•

Inadequate stakeholder engagement and
liaison leads to a failure in coordination of
incidents

•

Ineffective response capability

•

Ineffective response capability

•

Regulatory obligations not met.

•

Regulatory obligations not met.

•

Insufficient funding to sustain operations
and operational support activity.
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Glossary
Kuputaka

Enforceable undertaking
An enforceable undertaking (EU) is
an agreement between Maritime NZ
and a duty holder. It is entered into
voluntarily by the duty holder following
a breach (including an alleged breach)
of the Health and Safety at Work Act
2015 and, once in place, is legally
binding. It is generally used as an
alternative to prosecution.
The agreement details the actions the
duty holder will undertake to respond
to the contravention. These actions
are expected to:
• support progressively higher

standards of work health and safety
for the benefit of the workers and/
or work and/or workplace, the wider
industry or sector, and community
• remedy the harm caused to any

victim(s).

Equipment stockpiles
The equipment used to respond to
an oil spill is stored and maintained
at Maritime NZ’s Marine Pollution
Response Service warehouse in Te
Atatu, Auckland. Over 20 equipment
stockpiles are also located around
the country. The amount and type of
equipment available in each location
is based on the anticipated risk and
size of a spill. For example, regions
with major oil terminals have larger
stockpiles and specialist equipment.

Government Regulatory
Practice Initiative
This network of central and local
government regulatory agencies was
established to lead and contribute
to regulatory practice initiatives.
The Government Regulatory Practice
Initiative (G-Reg) works on actions that
improve leadership, culture, regulatory
practice and workforce capability in
regulatory organisations and systems.
G-Reg offers courses, workshops and
conferences. The Core Knowledge
qualification (a Level 3 New Zealand
Qualifications Authority-approved
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qualification) is the first on the
regulatory learning pathway
devised by the G-Reg initiative.
This qualification is compulsory for all
Maritime NZ staff.

Health and Safety at Work Act
2015
The Health and Safety at Work Act
2015 is New Zealand’s workplace
health and safety law. It introduced
new responsibilities for managing the
work-related risks that could cause
serious injury, illness or even death.
Maritime NZ administers the Act and
associated regulations for work on
board ships and where ships are
places of work.

International Association of
Marine Aids to Navigation and
Lighthouse Authorities

and around port communities. It also
focuses on the impacts of emissions
from shipping activities on climate
change and ozone layer depletion.
New Zealand is expected to accede
to Annex VI in early 2022.

International Maritime
Organization
The IMO is a specialised agency of the
United Nations and is responsible for
measures to improve the safety and
security of international shipping and
to prevent pollution from ships. It is
also involved in legal matters, including
liability and compensation issues and
the facilitation of international maritime
traffic. It currently has 174 member
states.

International Ship and Port
Facility Security Code

The International Association of Marine
Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse
Authorities (IALA), previously
known as International Association
of Lighthouse Authorities, is an
international organisation founded in
1957 to collect and provide nautical
expertise and advice. IALA brings
together representatives of the aids
to navigation services of about 80
countries for technical coordination,
information sharing, and coordination
of improvements to aids to navigation
throughout the world.

The International Ship and Port
Security (ISPS) Code is an
amendment to the Safety of Life
at Sea Convention (1974/1988) on
minimum security arrangements
for ships, ports and government
agencies. It prescribes responsibilities
to governments, shipping companies,
shipboard personnel, and port and
facility personnel to detect security
threats and take preventative
measures against security incidents
affecting ships or port facilities used
in international trade.

International Convention for
the Prevention of Pollution from
Ships and MARPOL Annex VI

Marine Pollution Response
Service

The International Convention for the
Prevention of Pollution from Ships
(MARPOL) is the main international
convention aimed at the prevention
of pollution from ships caused by
operational or accidental causes.
It was adopted at the International
Maritime Organization (IMO) in 1973.
MARPOL Annex VI is the part of the
IMO Marine Pollution Convention that
seeks to address the impact of air
pollution from shipping activities on
human health and environments in

The Marine Pollution Response
Service leads oil spill response in
New Zealand. It works to minimise the
impact of oil pollution by: responding
to regional marine-based oil spills;
training other people on how to
respond, such as regional council
and industry representatives; running
practice exercises; keeping equipment
on hand; maintaining a national oil spill
contingency plan.

Maritime Incident Response
Team
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The Maritime Incident Response Team
is a Wellington-based team of advisors
who are mobilised at the onset of a
major maritime incident. The team
provides strategic advice and support
to the Director of Maritime NZ and
monitors, oversees and intervenes,
as appropriate, on the Director’s
behalf. The team may be mobilised
on Maritime NZ premises or at the
National Crisis Management Centre.

Maritime Operations Centre
The Maritime Operations Centre
(MOC) is responsible for maintaining
radio services for New Zealand’s
coastal waters and the South Pacific.
As well as providing around-the-clock
monitoring of VHF and HF distress
channels, MOC has trained radio
operators who keep a 24-hour
watch of all the stations in the radio
network. The operators will respond
to distress calls, handle trip reports
and broadcast safety information.
Maritime NZ also broadcasts safety
information, such as meteorological,
navigational and ionospheric
prediction warnings.

Maritime Operator Safety
System
The Maritime Operator Safety System
(MOSS) is one of New Zealand’s
primary regulatory frameworks for
enabling safe people and operations.
New operators require a Maritime
Transport Operator Certificate to enter
their operation into MOSS. MOSS
audits are undertaken to assess
performance against the MOSS
framework.

Maritime Security Act 2004
The Maritime Security Act 2004 and
its associated regulations bring the
requirements of the ISPS Code into
legislation. The Act makes Maritime NZ
responsible for ensuring the provisions
of the ISPS Code are complied with by:
• international trading ports in

New Zealand
• commercial freight and passenger

vessels visiting New Zealand.
New Zealand expects all ports and
vessels that operate under the ISPS
Code to maintain international best
practice with regard to maritime
security.

Maritime Transport Act 1994
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The maritime and marine protection
rules are statutory instruments
(or secondary legislation) made
by the Minister of Transport under
the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
Maritime rules relate to the safety
of ships and people. The rules
prescribe requirements for ship
design, construction, equipment,
crewing, operation and tonnage
measurement, and for the carriage of
passengers and cargo. Many of the
standards are based on international
ship safety conventions. Marine
protection rules aim to prevent the
disposal of waste and marine pollution
from ships. Marine protection rules
implement international conventions
and standards. These rules regulate:
• dumping of waste at sea
• oil spill contingency plans
• controls in relation to harmful

substances.

MNZ@Work project
MNZ@Work is a project to further
develop, reimagine and reset our
vision for how we work, and then
develop the strategies for people, the
workplace and technology to make
this happen for Maritime NZ and staff,
using a collaborative and consultative
approach.

New Zealand Safer Boating
Forum
The New Zealand Safer Boating
Forum (formerly the National Pleasure
Boat Safety Forum) is a formal
network representing a cross-section
of national and regional government
agencies, local body groups,
organisations and the marine industry,
involved in promoting recreational
boating safety in New Zealand.

New Zealand search and
rescue region
The New Zealand search and rescue
region is the region covered by the
New Zealand Distress and Radio
Safety Service, which includes
12.5 percent of the Earth’s ocean
surface. It extends from the middle
of the Tasman Sea to the mid-Pacific
Ocean, and from Antarctica to south
of the equator. New Zealand’s search
and rescue region covers over 37
million square kilometres of ocean and
relatively small, isolated land masses
extending from latitude 5 degrees

south to the Antarctic continent and
bounded by the 163E and 131W
meridians of longitude.

Notified events and
serious harm
A notified event is defined as an
incident, accident or mishap that
involves a New Zealand ship or a ship
in New Zealand waters, including
complaints, concerns or allegations of
illegal or unsafe behaviour. These must
be reported to Maritime NZ under
section 31 of the Maritime Transport
Act 1994.
Under the Act, an incident means any
occurrence, other than an accident,
that is associated with the operation
of a vessel and affects or could affect
the safety of operation.
An accident event is when a person
is seriously harmed on a vessel or
because of a vessel, a vessel suffers
serious damage that affects the safety
of the vessel or requires major repair,
or the vessel sinks, capsizes, strands
or suffers a major fire. The seriousness
of harm suffered by the person is
categorised according to WorkSafe NZ’s
criteria of notifiable events.

Oil spill response
A group of oil spill responders
who receive specialist training to
enable them to perform essential
functions during a Tier 3 response.
During a response, members of the
National Response Team make up
the core Incident Response Team,
supplemented by oil spill responders
who have received basic training. The
National Response Team is maintained
through Tier 3 training and exercising
and has more than 100 members. Oil
spill responses are categorised by tier:
• Tier 1 oil spills are responded

to and resolved by the operator
• Tier 2 oil spills are generally those

beyond the capability of the
operator acting alone and the
response is led and resolved by
the local regional council
• Tier 3 oil spills are generally more

complex, of longer duration and
impact, and beyond the response
capability of the regional council
or operator. Tier 3 response is
nationally led and coordinated by
Maritime NZ.
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Pacific Maritime Safety
Programme
The Pacific Maritime Safety
Programme (PMSP) is a New Zealand
Aid-funded programme, administered
by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and
Trade and delivered by Maritime NZ.
The overall aim of PMSP is for a
Pacific maritime transport that is
safe, environmentally friendly and
meets international requirements.

Papa Pounamu
Papa Pounamu was established in
2017, to bring together diversity and
inclusion practices across the public
service and to support public service
chief executives to meet their diversity
and inclusion obligations and goals.
Papa Pounamu has five mandatory
focus areas designed to help the
public service create fair, diverse and
inclusive workplaces reflective of the
communities they serve. Agencies are
expected to make as much positive
progress as possible and report on
progress and achievements through
the Annual Report.

Polar Code
The International Code for Ships
Operating in Polar Waters, or Polar
Code, is an international regime
adopted by the IMO in 2014. The
Polar Code sets out regulations for
shipping in the Polar regions, principally
relating to ice navigation and ship
design. Since 2017, New Zealand has
led efforts at the IMO to extend the
mandatory safety measures in the
Polar Code to fishing vessels and other
ships that are not regulated under the
International Convention for the Safety
of Life at Sea (SOLAS); an approach
known as Polar Code Phase II.

Port and Harbour Marine
Safety Code
The New Zealand Port and Harbour
Marine Safety Code provides national
best practice guidance to port
operators and councils to manage
the safety of marine activities in their
ports and harbours, including the
prevention of injury to people, loss
of life and damage to the marine
environment (including property).
The voluntary code was adopted by
regional councils, Maritime NZ and
port operators.
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Port State Control
New Zealand is a signatory to the Tokyo
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
along with other Port State Control
(PSC) regimes in the Asia–Pacific
region. The purpose of the Tokyo MOU
is to eliminate substandard shipping so
as to promote maritime safety, protect
the marine environment and safeguard
working and living conditions on board
ships. Maritime NZ’s PSC programme
actively contributes to this through
inspections of foreign ships coming to
New Zealand ports and by monitoring
compliance with requirements set down
in international conventions and law.

Reform of 40 series rules
Reform of the 40 series rules is a
significant regulatory stewardship
project in the maritime sector. These
rules set design, construction and
equipment standards for New Zealand
domestic commercial ships. Safety
at sea relies to a significant extent
on the integrity of ship construction
and equipment.

Tokyo Memorandum
of Understanding
The Tokyo MOU is one of the most
active regional PSC organisations in
the world. It consists of 21 member
authorities in the Asia–Pacific region.
The Tokyo MOU’s main objective is
to establish an effective PSC regime
in the Asia–Pacific region. It does this
through cooperation of its members
and harmonisation of their activities,
to eliminate substandard shipping so
as to promote maritime safety, protect
the marine environment and safeguard
working and living conditions on board
ships.

Transport Outcomes
Framework
The Transport Outcomes Framework,
developed by the Ministry of Transport,
gives direction to the transport
system on the contribution it makes
to achieving broader social and
economic outcomes.

Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand
The Rescue Coordination Centre
New Zealand (RCCNZ) is responsible
for coordinating:
• all major maritime and aviation

search and rescue missions within
New Zealand’s search and rescue
region
• land-based missions arising from

someone activating a distress
beacon.
RCCNZ also helps with other rescues,
where required, 24 hours a day.

Seafarers Welfare Board
for New Zealand
The Seafarers Welfare Board for
New Zealand is an incorporated
society and registered New Zealand
charity that coordinates the work
of the Mission to Seafarers,
Apostleship of the Sea, and
Sailors Society (New Zealand) in
New Zealand. It liaises with several
other organisations involved in
similar work or that are interested in
seafarers’ welfare. One of its main
objectives is to foster ways and
means of caring for seafarers.
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